

# Non-equilibrium dynamics of many body quantum systems

Loïc Henriet

# ► To cite this version:

Loïc Henriet. Non-equilibrium dynamics of many body quantum systems. Quantum Physics [quant-ph]. Université Paris Saclay (COmUE), 2016. English. NNT: 2016SACLX036. tel-01525432

# HAL Id: tel-01525432 https://pastel.hal.science/tel-01525432v1

Submitted on 20 May 2017

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





NNT: 2016SACLX036

# Thèse de doctorat de l'Université Paris-Saclay préparée Ecole Polytechnique

Ecole doctorale n°564 PIF Physique de l'Ile-de-France Spécialité de doctorat : Physique

par

# Loïc Henriet

# Dynamique hors équilibre de systèmes quantiques à N-corps.

Thèse présentée et soutenue à Palaiseau, le 8 septembre 2016.

Composition du Jury :

| М.   | Benoît Douçot            | Directeur de recherche<br>UPMC                         | (Président du jury)   |
|------|--------------------------|--|-----------------------|
| М.   | Jonathan Keeling         | Professeur<br>University of Saint Andrews              | (Rapporteur)          |
| М.   | WILHELM ZWERGER          | Professeur<br>TU München                               | (Rapporteur)          |
| М    | Philippe Lecheminant     | Directeur de recherche<br>Université de Cergy-Pontoise | (Examinateur)         |
| М.   | LAURENT SANCHEZ-PALENCIA | Directeur de recherche<br>Ecole Polytechnique          | (Examinateur)         |
| Mme. | Karyn Le Hur             | Directeur de recherche<br>Ecole Polytechnique          | (Directrice de thèse) |
| М.   | Marco Schiró             | Chargé de recherche                                    | (Membre invité)       |

#### Remerciements

Je remercie tout d'abord les rapporteurs, professeurs J. Keeling et W. Zwerger, d'avoir accepté de lire et de porter un oeil critique sur mon manuscrit. Je tiens aussi à remercier les autres membres du jury d'avoir accepté d'assister à ma soutenance.

La plus grande reconnaissance va à Karyn Le Hur, qui a constamment suivi avec soin mon parcours de thèse. Ses idées toujours excellentes ont su guider mon effort, et sont à l'origine de beaucoup de ce qui est présenté dans ce manuscrit. Merci pour la confiance qu'elle m'a accordée.

Merci à tous les membres du Centre de Physique Théorique pour leur accueil et leur gentillesse. Je remercie particulièrement mon parrain Christoph Kopper pour sa gentillesse et sa disponibilité, ainsi que Bernard Pire qui nous avait soutenu Lucien et moi lors de notre tentative de mise en place d'un séminaire pour les doctorants et post-doctorants du laboratoire. Un grand merci à Fadila, Florence, Jeannine, Malika ainsi qu'à Danh, David, et Jean-Luc pour leur aide. J'aimerais aussi souligner ma reconnaissance envers l'Ecole Polytechnique, et j'en profite aussi pour remercier tous les professeurs qui ont influencé mon parcours et m'ont poussé à poursuivre en thèse.

Merci à Peter Orth et Zoran Ristivojevic pour leur aide précieuse au début de ma thèse et leurs conseils pour aborder un problème scientifique. Leur contribution au développement de l'approche stochastique présentée dans ce manuscrit est à souligner particulièrement. Il est aussi important de mentionner que cette technique a été élaborée suivant les idées d'Adilet Imambekov, que je n'ai pas eu le plaisir de connaître. J'ai aussi eu l'opportunité de pouvoir travailler en collaboration avec Andrew Jordan et je le remercie pour sa gentillesse et ses idées éclairantes. J'ai aussi beaucoup apprécié travailler avec Guillaume Roux et Marco Schiró, et les remercie pour cette chance. Je salue aussi Guang-wei Deng et le remercie pour le dialogue que nous avons pu lier entre thóriciens et expérimentateurs lors de notre collaboration. Ces années de thèse m'ont aussi permis d'intéragir avec de nombreux groupes de recherche et je tiens à remercier les universités de Bâle, Cologne, Heifei, Orsay, Princeton, Stony Brook, Ulm, ainsi que l'Ecole Normale Supérieure, le CEA-Saclay et l'ICFO –et plus particulièrement Christoph Bruder, Darrick Chang, Sebastian Diehl, Jean-Noël Fuchs, Guo-Ping Guo, Susana Huelga, Christophe Mora, Olivier Parcollet, Frédéric Piéchon, Dominik Schneble, Pascal Simon, et Hakan Türeci. Je remercie aussi les organisateurs de l'école Physique mésoscopique au Québec et du GdR CNRS à Aussois, l'Institut Canadien de Recheche Avancée, et les organisateurs de *Qlight 2016* en Crête.

Sur un plan plus personnel, je remercie Camille, Michele, et Marco pour les discussions que j'ai pu avoir avec eux. Merci à tous les anciens et actuels membres du groupe: Peter, Zoran, Alex, Tianhan, Loïc, Kirill, et Antonio avec qui j'ai eu le plaisir de collaborer pendant son stage de master.

Merci à tous mes amis, et à ma famille.

4

À Cécile,

# Contents

|                               | Int | roduct | ion  | 11 |
|-------------------------------|-----|--------|--|----|
| 1                             | Spi | n-Bose | on models  | 13 |
| I Rabi model and applications |     |        | model and applications   | 13 |
|                               |     | I.1    | Rabi Hamiltonian in cavity quantum electrodynamics               | 14 |
|                               |     |        | I.1.a Charges in a box   | 14 |
|                               |     |        | I.1.b Cavity Quantum electrodynamics setup                       | 14 |
|                               |     |        | I.1.c Weak-coupling regime and Jaynes-Cummings physics           | 16 |
|                               |     | I.2    | Rabi Hamiltonian in circuit quantum electrodynamics              |    |
|                               |     |        | I.2.a Artificial atom: the Cooper pair box                       | 18 |
|                               |     |        | I.2.b Cavity: The superconducting resonator                      | 19 |
|                               |     |        | I.2.c Strong coupling regime beyond the RWA                      | 21 |
|                               |     | I.3    | Many-body physics in large circuits                              | 23 |
|                               |     |        | I.3.a Arrays of cavities   | 24 |
|                               |     |        | I.3.b Driven-dissipative problem                                 | 24 |
|                               |     |        | I.3.c Mean field quantum phase transition in the adiabatic       |    |
|                               |     |        | $\operatorname{regime}$  | 26 |
|                               | II  | Ohmi   | c spinboson model  | 28 |
|                               |     | II.1   | Modelling of dissipation   | 29 |
|                               |     | II.2   | Quantum phase transition and relation with Kondo model           | 29 |
|                               |     |        | II.2.a Polaron ansatz and quantum phase transition               | 29 |
|                               |     |        | II.2.b Relation with Kondo model                                 | 31 |
|                               |     | II.3   | Circuit quantum electrodynamics: semi-infinite transmission line | 33 |
|                               |     | II.4   | Spinboson model in a cold-atomic setup                           | 34 |
|                               |     | II.5   | Non-equilibrium dynamics and NIBA equation                       | 37 |
| <b>2</b>                      | SSI | E equa | tion and applications  | 39 |
|                               | Ι   | SSE 1  | Equation in the case of one spin                                 | 40 |
|                               |     | I.1    | Feynman-Vernon influence functional                              | 42 |
|                               |     | I.2    | "Blips" and "Sojourns"   | 44 |
|                               |     | I.3    | Stochastic unravelling   | 47 |
|                               | II  | Prope  | erties of the SSE equation                                       | 48 |
|                               |     | II.1   | Non-unitarity and trace preservation                             | 49 |
|                               |     | II.2   | Dynamical sign problem   | 49 |
|                               |     | II.3   | Formulation in terms of a Stochastic Master equation             | 50 |

#### CONTENTS

|        |   | II.4 NIBA from the SSE .  |  | 0   |
|--------|---|---|--|---|
|        |   | II.5 Relation to other metho  | $ds \dots \dots$   | 1   |
|        | III Application : dynamics in the quantum Rabi model            |   |  | 1   |
|        |   | III.1 Strong coupling regime  | 5  | 2   |
|        |   | III.1.a From the Jay  | nes-Cummings regime to the adiabatic   |   |
|        |   | regime  |  | 2   |
|        |   | III.2 Drive and photon losses   | 5  | 2   |
|        |   | III.2.a Polariton $\pi$ -pu   | llse $\ldots \ldots 53$   | 3   |
|        | IV  | Application: dynamics in the o  | hmic spinboson model   | 5   |
|        |   | IV.1 Free dynamics and com  | parison with Bethe Ansatz results 50   | 6   |
|        |   | IV.2 Coherent-incoherent cro  | ssover around $\alpha = 1/2$   | 6   |
|        |   | IV.3 Landau-Zener transition  | ns   | 8   |
|        |   | IV.4 Mean field Landau Zene   | er transitions in a dissipative spin array 5   | 8   |
|        |   | IV.4.a Mean-field app   | proximation in the SSE framework 55  | 8   |
|        |   | IV.4.b LZ transitions   | : Array  | 1   |
| 9      | D   | noming of two coupled going   | in an abmia anvironment  | 5   |
| J      | T   | Extension of the SSE framework  | the two gring 6  | 5   |
|        | 1<br>TT   | Nonoquilibrium dynamics and   | quantum phase transition in the dimor  | 0   |
|        | 11  | model   |  | 0   |
|        | TTT   | Synchronization   |  | 1   |
|        | 111   | III 1 First mochanism   | 7  | 4<br>5  |
|        |   | III.2 Second mechanism  | 7  | 7   |
|        |   | III.2 Second meenamism  |  | '   |
|        | 4 Dissipative topological transition                            |   |  |   |
| 4      | $\mathbf{Dis}$  | ssipative topological transition  | n 8  | 1   |
| 4      | Dis:<br>I   | ssipative topological transition<br>Topology of a spin $1/2$  | n 83   | <b>1</b><br>1   |
| 4      | Dis:<br>I   | Topology of a spin 1/2<br>I.1 Chern number and Ber  | n 83<br>8<br>ry curvature 8  | <b>1</b><br>1<br>2  |
| 4      | Dis:<br>I   | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologic  | n 83<br>y curvature 83<br>al properties of condensed matter systems 85<br>a  | 1<br>1<br>2<br>3  |
| 4      | Dis:<br>I   | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environment   | n 83<br>y curvature 88<br>al properties of condensed matter systems 88<br>nent 88 | $     \begin{array}{c}       1 \\       1 \\       2 \\       3 \\       4     \end{array} $  |
| 4      | Dis:<br>I<br>II   | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach to   | n83848585al properties of condensed matter systems85nent8585the transition85   | 1<br>1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>4  |
| 4      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III  | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environeShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolExperimental protocol   | n     83   | $     1 \\     1 \\     2 \\     3 \\     4 \\     4 \\     6 \\     $  |
| 4      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV                                    | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolDissipative Spin dynamics and   | n81  | $     1 \\     1 \\     2 \\     3 \\     4 \\     4 \\     6 \\     9 \\     0 $   |
| 4      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV                                    | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicalI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolDissipative Spin dynamics andIV.1Results for spin dynamical   | n       83   | $1 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 4 \\ 6 \\ 9 \\ 9 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 4 \\ 6 \\ 9 \\ 9 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 4 \\ 6 \\ 9 \\ 9 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1$  |
| 4      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV                                    | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicalI.3Coupling to an environmentShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolDissipative Spin dynamics andIV.1Results for spin dynamicIV.2Radiative cascade of ph   | n83  | $1 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 4 \\ 6 \\ 9 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 2$   |
| 4      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV<br>V                               | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2Image: Image: Image | n     83   | 11234469912   |
| 4      | Diss<br>I<br>III<br>IV<br>V<br>VI                               | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2Image: Topology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolImage: TopologicIV.1Results for spin dynamicsIV.2Radiative cascade of phToulouse point and critical befEntanglement entropy and effe   | n       83   | 112344699124  |
| 4      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV<br>V<br>VI<br>Hyl                  | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolExperimental protocolIV.1Results for spin dynamicsIV.2Radiative cascade of phToulouse point and critical befEntanglement entropy and effer  | n       83   | 1123446991247   |
| 4      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV<br>V<br>VI<br>Hył                  | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolExperimental protocolIV.1Results for spin dynamicsIV.2Radiative cascade of phToulouse point and critical belEntanglement entropy and efferbrid electron-photon systemNanoengine from quantum vac  | n       83   | 11234469912478  |
| 4<br>5 | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV<br>V<br>VI<br>I<br><b>Hył</b><br>I | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2Image: Topology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolImage: Topology of a spin dynamicsDissipative Spin dynamics andIV.1Results for spin dynamicIV.2Radiative cascade of phToulouse point and critical belyEntanglement entropy and efferbrid electron-photon systemNanoengine from quantum vacI.1AnalysisAnalysisImage: Topological transition   | n81  | 112344699124 789  |
| 4      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV<br>V<br>VI<br><b>Hyl</b><br>I      | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2Topology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolDissipative Spin dynamics andIV.1Results for spin dynamicIV.2Radiative cascade of phToulouse point and critical berEntanglement entropy and efferPorid electron-photon systemNanoengine from quantum vacI.1AnalysisI.2Rectified current   | n       83   | 112344699124<br>7891  |
| 4      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV<br>V<br>VI<br><b>Hyl</b><br>I      | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolExperimental protocolIV.1Results for spin dynamicsIV.2Radiative cascade of phToulouse point and critical befEntanglement entropy and efferbrid electron-photon systemNanoengine from quantum vacI.1AnalysisI.2Rectified currentI.2.aCoupling to an  | n       83   | 112344699124 78911  |
| 4      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV<br>V<br>VI<br>Hyt<br>I             | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolDissipative Spin dynamics andIV.1Results for spin dynamicIV.2Radiative cascade of phToulouse point and critical belieEntanglement entropy and effectbrid electron-photon systemNanoengine from quantum vacI.1AnalysisI.2Rectified currentI.2.aCoupling to anI.2.bCoupling to a  | n       83   | <b>1</b> 12344699124<br><b>7</b> 89114  |
| 5      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV<br>V<br>VI<br>I<br><b>Hyl</b>      | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2Image: Topology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BerrI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolImage: Topology of a spin dynamics andIV.1Results for spin dynamics andIV.2Radiative cascade of phToulouse point and critical beliesEntanglement entropy and effectbrid electron-photon systemNanoengine from quantum vacI.1AnalysisI.2Rectified currentI.2.aCoupling to anI.2.bCoupling to aI.3Heat engine characteris  | n       83   | <b>1</b><br>1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>6<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br><b>7</b><br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br><b>7</b><br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>8<br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>8<br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1 |
| 5      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV<br>V<br>VI<br>I<br><b>Hy</b> ł     | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environmShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolInterventionDissipative Spin dynamics andIV.1Results for spin dynamicIV.2Radiative cascade of phToulouse point and critical belieEntanglement entropy and effectbrid electron-photon systemNanoengine from quantum vacI.1AnalysisI.2Rectified currentI.2.aCoupling to anI.2.bCoupling to anI.3Heat engine characterisI.4Conclusion and discussi   | n       83   | <b>1</b><br>1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>4<br>6<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br><b>7</b><br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>4<br>6<br>9<br>9<br>1<br>2<br>4<br>7<br>8<br>9<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1  |
| 5      | Diss<br>I<br>II<br>III<br>IV<br>V<br>VI<br><b>Hyt</b><br>I      | ssipative topological transitionTopology of a spin 1/2I.1Chern number and BernI.2Relation with topologicI.3Coupling to an environShifted oscillators approach toExperimental protocolDissipative Spin dynamics andIV.1Results for spin dynamicIV.2Radiative cascade of phToulouse point and critical belyEntanglement entropy and effectbrid electron-photon systemNanoengine from quantum vacI.1AnalysisI.2Rectified currentI.2.bCoupling to aI.3Heat engine characterisI.4Conclusion and discussiExperimental evidence of SU(4)   | n       83   | <b>1</b> 1 2 3 4 4 6 9 9 9 1 2 4 <b>7</b> 8 9 9 1 1 4 6 8 0   |

8

|    |                       | II.1       SU(4) Kondo physics in a DQD device       1         II.2       Light-matter coupling and Input-Output theory       1         II.3       Experimental results at the charge degeneracy point A: Phase and Amplitude of Reflected Microwave Signal       1         II.4       Interpretation of the experimentals measurements       1         II.5       DC electron transport       1         II.6       Evolution of the microwave response with temperature       1 | .10<br>113<br>115<br>116<br>119<br>121 |
|----|-----------------------|--|--|
|    | Con                   | clusion and perspectives 1   | 23                                     |
| Aj | ppen                  | dices  |  |
| Α  | Der<br>I<br>II        | <b>ivation of the Feynman Vernon influence functional</b> $1$ Path integral representation of the propagators $P$ and $Q$ $1$ Stationary trajectories with Lagrange equations $1$  | <b>27</b><br>128<br>130                |
| В  | Alte                  | ernate derivation of Feynman-Vernon influence functional 1   | 33                                     |
| С  | Blip<br>I<br>II       | ps and Sojourns decomposition       1         Diagonal elements of the spin density matrix       1         I.1       Contributions $J_{k,k,f,f}$ 1         I.2       Contributions $J_{k,\bar{k},f,f}$ 1         Off-diagonal elements of the spin density matrix       1  | <b>35</b><br>135<br>135<br>136<br>136  |
| D  | San<br>I<br>II<br>III | appling of stochastic variables and convergence       1         Fourier series decomposition       1         Definition of the stochastic fields in relation with autoregressive processes       1         Cutoffs and control parameters in the SSE framework       1   | <b>39</b><br>139<br>141<br>141         |
| Ε  | Add<br>I<br>II        | ditional developments on Blips and Sojourns re-writing       1         Expressions of $\mathcal{M}_1^p$ and $\mathcal{M}_2^p$ 1         Scaling regime       1   | <b>43</b><br>143<br>144                |
| F  | Nor<br>I<br>II        | <b>n-adiabatic response and topology</b><br>Chern number and evolution of $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$ with $\theta$   | <b>47</b><br>147<br>147                |
| G  | Oth                   | her heat engine setup 1  | 49                                     |

CONTENTS

10

### Introduction

Modern experimental platforms now allow to control and monitor interacting quantum systems in a precise manner. Motivated by quantum information purposes, these platforms are also of great interest to explore many-body quantum physics. The unprecedented control over the system's parameters permits indeed to devise and tune desired Hamiltonians. This ability to emulate complex many-body Hamiltonian motivates the development of precise theoretical predictions to better understand the physical phenomena underlying the system's dynamics. Most experimental setups also involve periodic pumping of energy into the system, as well as dissipative effects, fostering the development of specific theoretical tools to tackle the dynamics in outof-equilibrium conditions.

In Chapter I we introduce the class of Spin-Boson models and focus in particular on the Rabi model, the ohmic spinboson model, and their lattice versions. The Rabi model considers a two-level system coupled to a quantized harmonic oscillator and describes the simplest interaction between matter and light. Its lattice version describing a set of interacting light-matter systems opens the door to many-body physics with light. The ohmic spinboson model was first introduced to describe dissipative effects on a two-level system. In this description dissipation is modelled by a bath of quantized harmonic oscillators, and many-body effects of the bath notably induce a dissipative quantum phase transition at large spin-bath coupling (see "Many-Body Quantum Electrodynamics Networks: Non-Equilibrium Condensed Matter Physics with Light").

In Chapter II, we derive a Stochastic Schrödinger Equation (SSE) describing the time evolution of the spin-reduced density matrix for Spin-boson problems. We test this framework and recover known results for the dynamics of the Rabi model (see "Quantum dynamics of the driven and dissipative Rabi model") and the ohmic spinboson model. We also compare the SSE approach to other known methods and present the limitations related to the SSE.

In Chapter III, we extend the applicability of the SSE to the case of two spins coupled to a common ohmic bosonic environment. We investigate the dissipative quantum phase transition induced by the bath, and study the quenched dynamics in both phases. We also focus on bath-induced synchronization effects between two spins with different frequencies (see "Quantum sweeps, synchronization, and Kibble-Zurek physics in dissipative quantum spin systems"). In Chapter IV, we study the influence of an ohmic environment on the topological properties of a two-level system measured with a dynamical protocol. We show in particular that the bath induces a dissipative topological transition at strong coupling, and we investigate the properties of this transition.

In Chapter V, we focus on hybrid devices coupling quantum dots and lead electronic degrees of freedom to light. We first introduce and study theoretically a nano heat-engine setup consisting of a quantum dot coupled to fermionic (electronic) leads and different Left/Right bosonic environments (see "Electrical Current from Quantum Vacuum Fluctuations in Nano-Engines"). We show how zero-point quantum fluctuations stemming from bosonic environments permit the rectification of the current. Then we present and interpert the results of a recent experiment studying a double quantum dot setup coupled to a resonator. We establish a link between the light measurements and the formation of a SU(4) Kondo bound state at low temperatures (see "A Quantum Electrodynamics Kondo Circuit: Probing Orbital and Spin Entanglement").

#### Publication list:

- "Quantum dynamics of the driven and dissipative Rabi model", L. Henriet, Z. Ristivojevic, P.P. Orth, K. Le Hur, Physical Review A **90** (2), 023820 (2014).
- "Electrical current from quantum vacuum fluctuations in nanoengines", L. Henriet, A. N. Jordan, K. Le Hur, Physical Review B **92** (12), 125306 (2015).
- "Quantum sweeps, synchronization, and Kibble-Zurek physics in dissipative quantum spin systems", L. Henriet, K. L. Hur, Physical Review B **93** (6), 064411 (2016).
- "Many-Body Quantum Electrodynamics Networks: Non-Equilibrium Condensed Matter Physics with Light", K. Le Hur, L. Henriet, A. Petrescu, K. Plekhanov, G. Roux, M. Schiró, Comptes Rendus Physique, 17 (8), 808-835 (2016).
- "A Quantum Electrodynamics Kondo Circuit: Probing Orbital and Spin Entanglement", G.-W. Deng, L. Henriet, D. Wei, S.-X. Li, H.-O. Li, G. Cao, M. Xiao, G.-C. Guo, M. Schiró, K. Le Hur, G.-P. Guo, arXiv preprint arXiv:1509.06141 (2015).

# CHAPTER 1

## Spin-Boson models

In this chapter, we will intoduce the Rabi model and the ohmic Spinboson model as paradigmatic models to describe respectively light-matter interaction and decoherence. We will put a particular emphasis on the investigation of many-body physics phenomena related to these models. In the Rabi case, this notably includes the possible realization of arrays of interacting light-matter elements, giving access to exotic phases where light behaves as a quantum fluid. In the ohmic spinboson case, manybody effects play naturally an important role and trigger a dissipative quantum phase transition at large coupling. Realizing dissipative arrays may allow to facilitate the investigation of this transition.

### I Rabi model and applications

The Rabi model had been originally introduced to describe the effect of a magnetic field on an atom possessing a nuclear spin [1, 2]. Nowadays, this model is applied to a variety of quantum systems in relation with strong light-matter interaction. It follows indeed naturally from the general description of a set of spinless point charges interacting with the quantized electromagnetic field. The Rabi model turns out then to be a paradigmatic model to describe cavity quantum electrodynamics experiments (cavity QED), in which an atom is placed inside a microwave or optical cavity. The introduction of cavity QED experiments and the derivation of the Rabi model in this context will be exposed in section I.1, following the general description provided in Refs. [3, 4].

In Sec. I.2, we focus on the description of so-called circuit quantum electrodynamics experiments (circuit QED), describing the interaction of an artificial atom made of superconducting materials with microwave photons. These systems permits to reproduce the physics of the Rabi model on chip, with a very large light-matter coupling. Recent experimental progress in this field allows now to envision the creation of larger circuits composed of a large number of coupled light-matter elements, which are of particular interest to investigate many-body phenomena with light.

#### I.1 Rabi Hamiltonian in cavity quantum electrodynamics

#### I.1.a Charges in a box

We consider a set of charges placed inside a three dimensional box of typical length L. The Hamiltonian describing these charges in interaction with the electromagnetic field reads in the Coulomb gauge [3]  $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_{kin} + \mathcal{H}_r + V_{coul}$ , with

$$\mathcal{H}_{kin} = \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\left[\mathbf{p}_{\alpha} - q_{\alpha} \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha})\right]^2}{2m_{\alpha}}$$
(1.1)

$$\mathcal{H}_r = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \sum_{n=1,2} \hbar \omega_{\mathbf{k}} a_{\mathbf{k},n}^{\dagger} a_{\mathbf{k},n}.$$
 (1.2)

In Eq. (1.2),  $\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}$  and  $\mathbf{p}_{\alpha}$  are the position and momentum operators of the particle  $\alpha$  with charge  $q_{\alpha}$  and mass  $m_{\alpha}$ . The vector potential  $\mathbf{A}(r_{\alpha})$  is described by a set of bosonic operators  $a_{\mathbf{k},n}^{\dagger}$  and  $a_{\mathbf{k},n}$  corresponding respectively to the creation and the annihilation of a photon in the mode  $\mathbf{k}$  with energy  $\hbar\omega_{\mathbf{k}}$  and polarization  $n \in (1,2)$ .

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}) = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \sum_{n=1,2} \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{2\epsilon_0 \omega_{\mathbf{k}} L^3}} \left( a_{\mathbf{k},n} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}} + a_{\mathbf{k},n}^{\dagger} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}} \right) \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k},n}, \tag{1.3}$$

The frequencies  $\omega_{\mathbf{k},n}$  are quantized in relation with the boundary conditions imposed by the box, and the vectors  $\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k},n}$  correspond to the two possible polarizations for the transverse vector potential. The kinetic term  $\mathcal{H}_{kin}$  in Eq. (1.2) will describe the interaction between the charges and the electromagnetic field through the vector potential. We remark from Eq. (1.3) that the vector potential grows as the size of the box we consider decreases. In the case of a small box the vector potential exists only as a superposition of a discrete set of modes. This interesting case led to the the design of cavity quantum electrodynamics experiments, where an atom placed inside a cavity interacts resonantly with the confined electromagnetic field.

#### I.1.b Cavity Quantum electrodynamics setup

In a typical cavity QED setup, the atom is chosen such that the transition energy  $\Delta$  between a reference state  $|g\rangle$  and an excited state  $|e\rangle$  is close to the energy  $\hbar\omega_0$  of one of the first modes of the confined light, in the microwave [5] or optical regime [6]. The joint evolution of the light-matter system inside the cavity will result from this resonant interaction, and the effect of higher harmonics will be neglected. The wavelength corresponding to the resonant mode under consideration is much greater than the atomic length-scale, so that one can safely replace the kinetic term  $\mathcal{H}_{kin}$  in Eq. (1.2) by

$$\mathcal{H}_{kin} = \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\left[\mathbf{p}_{\alpha} - q_{\alpha} \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{0})\right]^2}{2m_{\alpha}},\tag{1.4}$$

where we define  $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{0}$  as the position of the atomic center of mass. This simplification is known as the long-wavelength approximation. Expanding Eq. (1.4) then leads to a sum of three terms,

$$\mathcal{H}_{kin} = \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\mathbf{p}_{\alpha}^2}{2m_{\alpha}} - \left(\sum_{\alpha} \frac{q_{\alpha}\mathbf{p}_{\alpha}}{2m_{\alpha}}\right) \cdot \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{0}) + \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\left[q_{\alpha}\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{0})\right]^2}{2m_{\alpha}}.$$
 (1.5)

In most cavity-QED experiments, the last term on the right hand side of Eq. (1.5) can be neglected due to the smallness of the electromagnetic field [4]. The atom-field coupling is captured by the second term of Eq. (1.5) which can be understood better in terms of the dipole of the atom. Following Ref. [7], we write

$$\frac{\mathbf{p}_{\alpha}}{m} = \frac{i}{\hbar} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{at}, \mathbf{r}_{\alpha} \right], \tag{1.6}$$

where  $H_{at}$  would be the Hamiltonian describing the atom without its interaction with the electromagnetic field. Introducing the dipole operator

$$\mathbf{d} = \sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} \mathbf{r}_{\alpha},\tag{1.7}$$

one can then write

$$\mathcal{H}_{kin} = \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\mathbf{p}_{\alpha}^2}{2m_{\alpha}} - \frac{i}{2\hbar} \left[ \mathcal{H}_{at}, \mathbf{d} \right] \cdot \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{0}) + \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\left[ q_{\alpha} \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{0}) \right]^2}{2m_{\alpha}}.$$
 (1.8)

As stated previously, the atomic degree of freedom can be effectively described by a two-level system composed of the states  $|g\rangle$  and  $|e\rangle$ . The dipole operator is off-diagonal in this basis, as the atom is neutral. We call  $\mathbf{d} = \langle e|\mathbf{d}|g\rangle$  the dipole matrix element between the two atomic states and we reach the Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\Delta}{2} & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{\Delta}{2} \end{pmatrix} - i \sum_{n} \frac{\Delta}{2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\epsilon_0 \hbar \omega_0 L^3}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & d_n\\ -d_n^* & 0 \end{pmatrix} (a_n + a_n^{\dagger}) + \sum_{n} \hbar \omega_0 a_n^{\dagger} a_n.$$
(1.9)

Considering only one light polarization and after a rotation in the atomic subspace, we reach the Rabi Hamiltonian,

$$\mathcal{H}_{Rabi} = \frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma^z + \frac{g}{2}\sigma^x(a+a^{\dagger}) + \hbar\omega_0\left(a^{\dagger}a + \frac{1}{2}\right)$$
(1.10)

where the light-matter coupling strength g reads

$$g = \frac{d\Delta}{\sqrt{2\epsilon_0 \hbar \omega_0 L^3}}.$$
(1.11)

In Eq. (1.10),  $\sigma^x$  and  $\sigma^z$  belong to the set of Pauli matrices,

$$\sigma^{x} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \sigma^{y} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \sigma^{z} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.12)

#### I.1.c Weak-coupling regime and Jaynes-Cummings physics

The typical value of the light matter coupling in 3D optical [6] or microwave [5] cavity QED setups is of the order of  $g/(\hbar\omega_0) \sim 10^{-7}$ . In this range of parameters and for low detuning  $|\Delta - \hbar\omega_0|/(\hbar\omega_0) \ll 1$ , Eq. (1.10) can be simplified further with the application of the rotating wave approximation (RWA). This approximation consists in neglecting the counter-rotating terms,  $(\sigma^+a^\dagger + h.c.)$  where  $\sigma^{\pm} = (\sigma^x \pm i\sigma^y)/2$ , which do not conserve the number of excitations. This ensures a continuous U(1) symmetry and an associated conserved quantity, the polariton number  $N = a^\dagger a + \sigma^+ \sigma^-$  (which counts the total number of excitations, as the sum of light and matter excitations). The resulting Hamiltonian is the Jaynes-Cummings Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{JC}$  [8],

$$\mathcal{H}_{JC} = \frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma^{z} + \frac{g}{2}\left(\sigma^{+}a + \sigma^{-}a^{\dagger}\right) + \hbar\omega_{0}\left(a^{\dagger}a + \frac{1}{2}\right).$$
(1.13)

The Jaynes-Cummings Hamiltonian is easily diagonalized in the so-called dressed basis [8]. The ground state of the system consists of the two-level system in its lower state and vacuum for the photons, while the excited eigenstates  $|n\pm\rangle$  are pairs of combined light-matter excitations (polaritons) characterized by their polariton number. One has  $N|n_{\pm}\rangle = n|n_{\pm}\rangle$ . These eigenstates form the well-known structure of the anharmonic JC ladder (Fig. 1.1). More precisely, the light-matter eigenstates satisfy (with n > 0):

$$|g\rangle = |\downarrow_z, 0\rangle \tag{1.14}$$

$$|n+\rangle = \alpha_n |\uparrow_z, n-1\rangle + \beta_n |\downarrow_z, n\rangle$$
(1.15)

$$|n-\rangle = -\beta_n |\uparrow_z, n-1\rangle + \alpha_n |\downarrow_z, n\rangle, \qquad (1.16)$$

where  $|\downarrow_z\rangle$  and  $|\uparrow_z\rangle$  are the two eigenstates of  $\sigma^z$  with eigenvalues -1 and +1. The corresponding energies are:

$$E_{|g\rangle} = \frac{\delta}{2} \tag{1.17}$$

$$E_{|n+\rangle} = n\hbar\omega_0 + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\delta^2 + ng^2} \tag{1.18}$$

$$E_{|n-\rangle} = n\hbar\omega_0 - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\delta^2 + ng^2}.$$
(1.19)

We have  $\alpha_n = \sqrt{[A(n) - \delta]/2A(n)}$ ,  $\beta_n = \sqrt{[A(n) + \delta]/2A(n)}$ ,  $A(n) = \sqrt{ng^2 + \delta^2}$ and  $\delta = \hbar\omega_0 - \Delta$ . Let us consider the case of an atom initially excited in an empty cavity. Such a state is characterized by a wavefunction  $|\psi\rangle$ , which verifies  $|\psi(t_0)\rangle = |\uparrow_z, 0\rangle = \alpha_1 |1+\rangle - \beta_1 |1-\rangle$ , where  $t_0$  is the initial time. There is initially one excitation in the system, which will be conserved during the dynamics. As the initial state is a superposition of the first two polaritons, we will observe an oscillation phenomenon in terms of the atomic and photonic observables  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$  and  $\langle a^{\dagger}a \rangle$ . There is a periodic exchange of energy between the atom and the field, a phenomenon called Rabi oscillations.



Figure 1.1: Jaynes-Cummings polariton ladder for  $g/\omega_0 = 0.2$ , and evolution of the energy eigenstates of the Rabi model when approaching the strong coupling limit with  $g/(\hbar\omega_0)$  (we take  $\hbar = 1$  for the label of the axis). The energy spacing between the two lowest energy states decreases as  $e^{-g^2/(\hbar\omega_0)^2}$ .

We have seen that the Rabi model may be used to describe the interaction of the electromagnetic field with electronic energy levels in atoms. Recent progress in nanotechnology and electrical engineering have allowed to transpose this description of light-matter interaction from atomic physics to mesoscopic physics, with the development of the field of circuit quantum electrodynamics. In these setups, optical photons are replaced by microwave photons, while an association of superconducting elements effectively play the role of the atom. One important advantage of this class of devices is that they allow a great control over the system parameters, and one can reach higher values of the light-matter coupling  $g/(\hbar\omega_0)$ , opening the way to light-matter physics beyond the rotating wave approximation. These systems are moreover promising candidate to realize arrays of interacting light and matter elements, which would be useful both for quantum computation purposes and to simulate desired Hamiltonians. Let us now focus on how the Rabi model effectively describes the physical degrees of freedom of microwave light interacting with superconducting qubits

#### I.2 Rabi Hamiltonian in circuit quantum electrodynamics

Superconductivity is a striking phenomenon occuring in certain materials below a characteristic temperature, notably associated with zero electric resistance and magnetic flux expulsion. It results from the condensation of pairs of electrons [9] (named Cooper pairs) into a common ground state below a certain temperature. In the superconducting regime, a nanoscale portion of a superconducting material can be described by a mesoscopic wavefunction with quantized energy levels, providing an "artificial atom" of typical micrometer size. One key ingredient to describe effectively the physics of electronic levels in an atom is to provide a non-linear element (typically a Josepshon junction), so that the energy difference between successive energy levels is not the same. Several types of artificial atoms/qubits have been proposed in the past few years and we will focus on the example of the Cooper pair box [10]. We will focus on the setup proposed in Ref. [11] where the role of the cavity is played by a section of a superconducting transmission line, acting like a resonator. Other superconducting circuits known as flux [12] or phase qubits [13] provide equivalent systems.

#### I.2.a Artificial atom: the Cooper pair box

The Cooper pair box, shown in Fig. (1.2), is a nanoscale superconducting circuit which was introduced in Ref. [10]. A mesoscopic superconducting island is connected on one side to a superconducting electron reservoir through a Josephson junction with energy  $E_J$  and capacitance  $C_J$ , while the other end is connected to the gate voltage source through a capacitance  $C_g$ . In the superconducting regime, one can consider that all electrons in the island are paired. The superconductor can then be described by a single degree of freedom: the number n of excess Cooper pairs. Using the natural basis associated with this observable one can write the Hamiltonian of the system as a sum of electrostatic and Josephson terms  $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_{el} + \mathcal{H}_J$ , with

$$\mathcal{H}_{el} = E_C \sum_{n} (n - n_g)^2 |n\rangle \langle n| \tag{1.20}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_J = \frac{E_J}{2} \sum_n \left( |n\rangle \langle n+1| + |n+1\rangle \langle n| \right).$$
(1.21)

 $E_C = (2e)^2/2(C_J + C_g)$  is the Coulomb energy of an extra Cooper pair on the island and  $n_g = C_g V_g/(2e)$  is the dimensionless gate voltage. This Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  leads to particularly simple behavior in the charge regime when the electrostatic energy dominates over the Josephson coupling.



Figure 1.2: Cooper pair box.

When  $n_g$  is a half-integer, the electromagnetic energies of the two states with  $\lfloor n_g \rfloor$  and  $\lfloor n_g + 1 \rfloor$  Cooper pairs are equal (where  $\lfloor a \rfloor$  denotes the integer part of a).

#### I. RABI MODEL AND APPLICATIONS

The Josephson tunneling mixes these two states and opens up a gap in the spectrum (see Fig. 1.3). All other charge states have a much higher energy and will be neglected in the following. Near these degeneracy points, the Cooper pair box can be described as an effective two level system. Let us consider for clarity that the dimen-



Figure 1.3:  $E_{el}(n, n_g)/E_C$  as a function of  $n_g$  for n = 0 (dashed magenta), n = 1 (dashed red), n = 2 (dashed yellow) and n = 3 (dashed green). The blue and black lines show the eigenvalues of the total Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{CPB}$  (in units of  $E_C$ ) as a function of  $n_g$ . Here  $E_J = E_C/10$ .

sionless gate voltage  $n_g$  is close to 1/2, and we restrict the dynamics of the system to the two states with either 0 or 1 excess Cooper pairs. In this basis, one can write  $\mathcal{H}_{CPB} = E_J \frac{\sigma^x}{2} - E_C (1 - 2n_g) \frac{\sigma^z}{2}$  up to a constant term, where  $\sigma^x = |0\rangle\langle 1| + |1\rangle\langle 0|$ and  $\sigma^z = |0\rangle\langle 0| - |1\rangle\langle 1|$ .

The effective field along the z-direction can be controlled dynamically by the gate voltage  $V_g$ . A magnetic control of the field along the x-direction is also possible if one replaces the Josephson junction by a pair of junctions in parallel, each with energy  $E_J/2$  (see [11]). In this case the transverse field becomes  $E_J \cos(\pi \phi/\phi_0)$ , where  $\phi$  is the magnetic flux in the loop formed by the two junctions and  $\phi_0 = h/2e$  is the flux quantum.

#### I.2.b Cavity: The superconducting resonator

The circuit-equivalent of the cavity consists in a section of a superconducting transmission line represented in Fig. 1.4. In the setup of Ref. [11], the artificial atom is directly placed at the center of the transmission line. The gate voltage acquires then a quantum part v, stemming from the fluctuations of the electromagnetic field inside the transmission line. The electromagnetic Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{el}$  in Eq. (1.21) is replaced



Figure 1.4: Schematic and circuit representation of a superconducting circuit quantum electrodynamics setup. A Cooper pair box with two Josephson elements in parallel (in green) is placed inside a 1D transmission line resonator (in blue) consisting of a superconducting coplanar waveguide. Figure from Ref. [11].

by

$$\mathcal{H}_{el} = E_C \sum_n \left( n - n_g^{dc} - \frac{C_g v}{2e} \right)^2 |n\rangle \langle n|, \qquad (1.22)$$

where  $n_g^{dc}$  represents the direct current part of the gate voltage. When  $n_g^{dc}$  is close to 1/2, the restriction to the two relevant states with either 0 or 1 excess Cooper pairs gives

$$\mathcal{H}_{el} = -E_C (1 - 2n_g^{dc}) \frac{\sigma^z}{2} + e \frac{C_g}{C_J + C_g} v \frac{\sigma^z}{2} + E_C \left(\frac{C_g v}{2e}\right)^2.$$
(1.23)

The second term on the right hand side of Eq. (1.23) couples the two-level system and the electromagnetic field in the transmission line. For a finite length L (and a large quality factor), the transmission line acts as a resonator with resonant frequencies. To show this, we model the transmission line as an infinite series of inductors (see Fig. 1.4), where each node is capacitively coupled to the ground (see Fig. 1.4). The system is then well described by the charge and flux operators at node n,  $Q_n$  and  $\phi_n$ (see [14]). These operators obey canonical commutation relations  $[\phi_n, Q_n] = i\hbar \delta_{m,n}$ .

The Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{TL}$  of the isolated transmission line reads in the continuum limit

$$\mathcal{H}_{TL} = \int_{-L/2}^{L/2} dx \left( \frac{Q^2}{2c} + \frac{(\nabla \phi)^2}{l} \right),$$
(1.24)

where l and c are the inductance and capacitance per unit length. The charge neutrality imposes that Q have anti-nodes at the boundaries  $x = \pm L/2$ . Diagonalization leads to [11],

$$\mathcal{H}_{TL} = \sum_{p=1}^{\infty} \left[ \omega_{2p} \left( \hbar a_{2p}^{\dagger} a_{2p} + 1/2 \right) + \hbar \omega_{2p-1} \left( a_{2p-1}^{\dagger} a_{2p-1} + 1/2 \right) \right], \quad (1.25)$$

where  $\omega_j = j\pi/(L\sqrt{lc})$ . Even modes have voltage anti-nodes at x = 0, while odd modes have voltage nodes at x = 0, so that only the even modes participate to the voltage v coupled to the Cooper pair box at x = 0. If the energy of the mode p = 2is close to  $E_J$ , one can neglect the modes of higher energy (note that the last term on the right hand side of Eq. 1.23 renormalizes  $\omega_2$ ). After a  $\pi/2$  rotation in the spin space, we recover the Rabi Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{Rabi}$  from Eq. (1.10) for  $n_g = 1/2$ , with the identification:

$$\omega_0 = \omega_2 \tag{1.26}$$

$$\Delta = E_J \tag{1.27}$$

$$g = e \frac{C_g}{C_J + C_g} \sqrt{\frac{\hbar\omega_2}{cL}}.$$
(1.28)

These 1D circuit-QED systems allow to reach larger values of light matter coupling  $g/(\hbar\omega)$  compared to their 3D cavity analogues [11] and constitutes one the most promising architecture for quantum computation.

#### I.2.c Strong coupling regime beyond the RWA

Light-matter coupling in these circuit QED experiments can reach  $g/(\hbar\omega_0) \simeq 10^{-1}$ [15]. In this regime, the rotating wave approximation breaks down and one must take into account the presence of the counter-rotating terms ( $\sigma_+ a^{\dagger} + \sigma_- a$ ). The effect of such terms can be understood in perturbation theory, and they give rise to a shift of the resonance frequency between the atom and photon, leading to an additional negative detuning in the energies plap (1.18) and (1.19)

$$\delta \to \delta - g^2 / \left[ 2(\hbar\omega_0 + \Delta) \right], \tag{1.29}$$

when  $\Delta < (\hbar\omega_0)$  (the levels repel each other). This so-called Bloch-Siegert shift [16] has been observed in Ref. [15].

Another solvable limit, relevant to the strong coupling analysis of the Rabi model, is the so-called adiabatic regime [17, 18] or "quasi-degenerate limit" [19–21]. This regime corresponds to a highly detuned system  $\Delta/(\hbar\omega_0) \ll 1$  with arbitrary large light-matter coupling. One can visualize such a limit as a set of two displaced oscillator wells (characterized by the value of  $\sigma^x$ ), whose degeneracy is lifted by the field along the z-direction (see Fig. 1.5). At  $\Delta = 0$ , one can diagonalize separately the bosonic Hamiltonian, for the two values of  $\sigma^x$ , by looking for eigenstates  $|\phi_{\pm}\rangle$  with eigenenergies  $E_{\pm}$ :

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hbar\omega_0 a^{\dagger} a \pm \frac{g}{2} (a + a^{\dagger}) \end{bmatrix} |\phi_{\pm}\rangle = E_{\pm} |\phi_{\pm}\rangle.$$

$$\Rightarrow \left[ \left( a^{\dagger} \pm \frac{g}{2\omega_0} \right) \left( a \pm \frac{g}{2\omega_0} \right) \right] |\phi_{\pm}\rangle = \left[ \frac{E_{\pm}}{\hbar\omega_0} + \left( \frac{g}{2\omega_0} \right)^2 \right] |\phi_{\pm}\rangle. \tag{1.30}$$

The operator on the left-hand side of Equation (1.30) can be re-expressed as  $D(\mp g/2\omega_0)a^{\dagger}aD^{\dagger}(\mp g/2\omega_0)$ , where  $D(\nu) = \exp[\nu(a^{\dagger} - a)]$  is a displacement operator [22]. This permits to find that eigenstates  $|\phi_{\pm}\rangle$  correspond to displaced number states

$$|\phi_{\pm,N}\rangle = e^{\mp \frac{g}{2\omega_0}(a^{\dagger} - a)}|N\rangle \equiv |N_{\pm}\rangle, \qquad (1.31)$$

$$E_{\pm,N} = \hbar\omega_0 \left[ N - \left(\frac{g}{2\omega_0}\right)^2 \right].$$
(1.32)

In Eq. (1.31),  $|N\rangle$  is a standard number state. The case N = 0 corresponds to well-known coherent states.

The lowest order adiabatic approximation consists in considering that the term  $\Delta/2\sigma^z$  only couples states in opposite wells with the same number of excitations. The Hamiltonian can then be diagonalized as the number of displaced photons is a conserved quantity. A system initially prepared in a displaced state of one well would undergo coherent and complete oscillations between this state and its symmetric counterpart in the other well. The frequency of oscillations only depends on the overlap between these two states, and one can show that, starting from the N-th displaced state of one well, this frequency is  $\Omega = \Delta e^{-g^2/2(\hbar\omega_0)^2} L_N[g/(\hbar\omega_0)]$ , where  $L_N$  is the N-th Laguerre Polynomial [18].

In these first two sections, we have explored two solvable limits of the Rabi model:

- The Jaynes-Cummings regime corresponds to the limit  $g/(\hbar\omega_0) \ll 1$  where the RWA holds. The corresponding Hamiltonian (1.13) can be diagonalized in terms of mixed light-matter excitations named polaritons.
- The adiabatic regime corresponds to the limit  $\Delta/(\hbar\omega_0) \ll 1$ . In this regime, the Hamiltonian can be diagonalized in terms of superpositions of displaced number states.

Between these two clear limits one can use standard numerical methods, which allow to explore the time-evolution of dynamical quantities. Recently, analytical solutions of the quantum Rabi model have been explored in Refs. [23–26], based on the underlying discrete  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  (parity) symmetry. Some dynamical properties of the model have notably been addressed [27] thanks to this exact solvability. The link between the exact solvability and integrability of the Rabi model with related models such as the Dicke [28] model have also been studied [29]. Dicke model, which is the N spins version of the Rabi model, is notably known to exhibit a superradiant quantum

22



Figure 1.5: Two displaced wells characterized by the value of  $\sigma^x$ . This correspond to the limiting case  $\Delta = 0$ . At first order in  $\Delta/(\hbar\omega_0)$ , one can consider that the term in  $\sigma^z$  mixes only states corresponding to the same number of excitations of each well. The energy splitting resulting from this term will be proportional to  $\Delta$  and to the overlap  $\langle N_-|N_+\rangle = e^{-g^2/2(\hbar\omega_0)^2}L_N[g/(\hbar\omega_0)]$ .

phase transition in the limit  $N \to \infty$  [30]. By contrast to the Dicke model, the isolated quantum Rabi model does not exhibit a superradiant quantum phase transition when increasing the value of  $g/(\hbar\omega_0)$ . This is illustrated on the left side of Fig. 1.1 where we see that the ground state and the first excited state do not cross when one increases the coupling  $g/(\hbar\omega_0)$ , somehow illustrating the stability of an atom interacting with a quantum field<sup>1</sup>. This must be contrasted by what would be predicted by the Jaynes-Cummings model, for which crossings occur when  $g/(\hbar\omega_0)$  increases, leading to unphysical polariton-like ground state.

#### I.3 Many-body physics in large circuits

In the past few years experimental progress was accomplished towards the realization of large arrays of circuit QED elements, where two neighbouring cavities i and j can be coupled using a capacitive or Josephson of the form  $J(a_i + a_i^{\dagger})(a_j + a_j^{\dagger})$ . Assuming that the coupling J between cavities is much smaller than the internal frequencies of the cavities, the coupling turns into an effective hopping term from one cavity to the neighboring ones. These architectures provide a robust architecture for solidstate quantum computation because of the unprecedented control over the system parameters and the low loss level. From a different viewpoint, they open a new way to explore many-body quantum systems in a precise and controllable manner.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ It is however important to note that the Rabi ground state contains a non-trivial photonic component at large coupling.

#### I.3.a Arrays of cavities

From this perspective, one model that has been investigated a lot theoretically in the literature is the Jaynes-Cummings lattice model, which takes the form [31–33]:

$$\mathcal{H}_{array} = \sum_{i} \mathcal{H}_{JC}^{i} - J \sum_{\langle i;j \rangle} \left( a_{i}^{\dagger} a_{j} + a_{j}^{\dagger} a_{i} \right) - \mu_{eff} \sum_{i} \left( a_{i}^{\dagger} a_{i} + \sigma_{i}^{+} \sigma_{i}^{-} \right), \qquad (1.33)$$

where  $\mathcal{H}_{JC}^i$  describes the Jaynes-Cummings Hamiltonian in each cavity, introduced in Eq. (1.13), and the summation is over nearest neighbors. This model has attracted some attention, for example, in the light of realizing analogues of Mott insulators with polaritons [34–37]. More precisely, one observes two competing effects in these arrays. For large values of J, formally the system would tend to form a wave delocalized over the full lattice, by analogy to a polariton superfluid [38], whereas for very small values of J, the photon blockade in each cavity will play some role. Theoretical works [34–37, 39], have focused on solving the phase diagram at equilibrium in the presence of a tunable chemical potential  $\mu_{eff}$ .

For  $\mu_{eff} = 0$ , the ground state at small J would correspond to the vacuum in each cavity. By changing  $\mu_{eff}$  and keeping J small, one could eventually turn the vacuum in each cavity into a polariton state. Simple energetic arguments predict that this change would occur when  $E_{|1-\rangle} - \mu_{eff} = E_{|g\rangle}$ . This result can be made more formal by using a mean-field theory and a strong-coupling expansion [34–37]. In the atomic limit where J is small, one then predicts the analogue of Mott-insulating incompressible phases, as observed in ultra-cold atoms [40], where it costs a finite energy to change the polariton number [32, 34, 41] (see Fig. 1.6). By increasing the hopping J, one can build an equivalent of the  $\psi^4$  theory, where  $\psi \sim \langle a_i \rangle$ , in order to describe the second-order quantum phase transition between the Mott region of polaritons and the superfluid limit [35].

#### I.3.b Driven-dissipative problem

Despite its great theoretical interest, this model is not readily implementable because no tunable chemical potential exists for photons. Similar to ultra-cold atoms [42, 43], it seems important to be able to engineer an effective chemical potential to develop further quantum simulation proposals and observe these Mott phase analogues. In Ref. [44], Hafezi and co-workers proposed to simulate an effective chemical potential for photons from a parametric coupling with a bath of the form  $\lambda \cos(\omega_p t) H_{SB}$  where  $H_{SB} = \sum_j (a_j + a_j^{\dagger}) B_j$  where  $B_j$  is a bath operator. Considerable attention has been turned at a general level towards describing both driven and dissipative cavity arrays in order to realize novel steady states.

In realistic experimental conditions, photon leakage out of the system must indeed be taken into account. Each cavity is exposed to the vaccuum noise of the surrounding environment, and energy can leak out from the system. This effect can be addressed in a microscopic manner by considering a coupling of the inner photonic modes to

#### I. RABI MODEL AND APPLICATIONS

an infinite number of external bosonic modes, so that one must add to the system Hamiltonian the term (within a rotating-wave approximation) [45]:

$$\sum_{q} \hbar \omega_{q} l_{q}^{\dagger} l_{q} - i \sum_{q} \left[ f_{q} a_{i}^{\dagger} l_{q} + f_{q}^{*} a_{i} l_{q}^{\dagger} \right], \qquad (1.34)$$

where  $l_q^{\dagger}(l_q)$  is the creation (annihilation) operator of an external boson of frequency  $\omega_q$ . The use of the Heisenberg equations of motion in the Markov approximation, which assumes that the coupling strength  $f = \sqrt{|f_q|}$  and the density of state  $\rho = \sum_q \delta(\omega - \omega_q)$  are constant, allows to write the effect of the environment as a imaginary component  $\Gamma = 2\pi f^2 \rho$  for the photon frequency [45, 46].

In these conditions the system will eventually reach the ground state after a typical time of the order  $1/\Gamma$ . To compensate this relaxation mechanism and access non-trivial states of matter, energy is often pumped into the system through the intermediary of an external time-dependent coherent drive on the cavity i [47, 48], of the form  $V_i(t)(a_i + a_i^{\dagger})$ . One important point would then be to understand how the interplay of drive and dissipation could play the role, or replace, the chemical potential  $\mu_{eff}$  in Eq. (1.33).

Let us study the effect of this driving term on the non-dissipative Jaynes-Cummings model (1.35).

$$\mathcal{H}_{JC}^{d} = \mathcal{H}_{JC} + \frac{V_0}{2} (ae^{i\omega_d t} + a^{\dagger}e^{-i\omega_d t}).$$
(1.35)

We can get rid of the time-dependent part of the Hamiltonian through a unitary transformation  $|\tilde{\psi}\rangle = U(t)|\psi\rangle$  with  $U(t) = \exp\left[i\omega_d(a^{\dagger}a + \sigma_+\sigma_-)t\right]$ . The evolution of  $|\tilde{\psi}\rangle$  is governed by the time-independent Hamiltonian  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{sys}^{RWA}$ :

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{sys}^{RWA} = \frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma^z + \tilde{\omega}_0 a^{\dagger}a + \frac{g}{2}(\sigma_+ a + \sigma_- a^{\dagger}) + \frac{V_0}{2}(a + a^{\dagger}), \qquad (1.36)$$

where  $\tilde{\Delta} = \Delta - \omega_d$  and  $\tilde{\omega}_0 = \omega_0 - \omega_d$ .  $\tilde{H}$  is the sum of a JC Hamiltonian with renormalized energies  $\tilde{\Delta}$  and  $\tilde{\omega}_0$ , and a time independent driving term. It is convenient to express the last term of Eq. (1.36) in the dressed basis  $\mathcal{B} = \{|g\rangle, |1, -\rangle, |1, +\rangle, |2, -\rangle, |2+\rangle, ...\}$ of the coupled system [49]

$$a + a^{\dagger} = \beta_{1}|1, +\rangle\langle g| + \alpha_{1}|1, -\rangle\langle g|$$
  
+ 
$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[\sqrt{n+1}\beta_{n}\beta_{n+1} + \sqrt{n}\alpha_{n}\alpha_{n+1}\right]|n+1, +\rangle\langle n, +|$$
  
+ 
$$\left[\sqrt{n}\beta_{n}\beta_{n+1} + \sqrt{n+1}\alpha_{n}\alpha_{n+1}\right]|n+1, -\rangle\langle n, -|$$
  
+ 
$$\left[\sqrt{n+1}\alpha_{n+1}\beta_{n} - \sqrt{n}\alpha_{n}\beta_{n+1}\right]|n+1, -\rangle\langle n, +|$$
  
+ 
$$\left[\sqrt{n+1}\beta_{n+1}\alpha_{n} - \sqrt{n}\alpha_{n+1}\beta_{n}\right]|n+1, +\rangle\langle n, -|$$
  
+ h.c.. (1.37)

Driving the cavity induces transition between the dressed states, and changes the number N of excitations by  $\pm 1$ . As can be seen in Fig. (1.1), the Jaynes Cummings ladder is composed of two subladders of 'minus' and 'plus' polaritons. Eq. (1.37) illustrates the fact that the coupling between states of the same sub-ladder is stronger than the coupling between states which belong to different sub-ladders.

The interplay of drive, dissipation, and lattice effects make difficult the realization of an effective chemical potential  $\mu_{eff}$ , motivating the development of numerical schemes allowing to tackle the real-time dynamics of such driven dissipative models. One may mention the development of a nonequilibrium extension of stochastic meanfield theory in Ref. [50], applicable to problems of coupled cavities with rather general forms of driving and dissipation.

#### I.3.c Mean field quantum phase transition in the adiabatic regime

Alternatively, one could take advantage of the physical properties of the strong coupling regime to reach non-trivial phases with finite photon density. We have indeed remarked in Sec. I.2.c that low energy states of the adiabatic regime correspond to a superposition of displaced number states for the photons. The non-triviality of the photon ground state results more generally from the presence of counter-rotating terms in the Hamiltonian. M. Schiró and coworkers followed this promising route in Refs. [51, 52] where they studied the effect of counter rotating terms on the ground state properties of Hamiltonian (1.33) without chemical potential. Interestingly, these counter-rotating terms drive the system accross a  $Z_2$  parity breaking quantum phase transition, associated with the disparition of the multiple Mott lobes associated with Hamiltonian (1.33). We illustrate the mean-field transition exposed in [51, 52], for which the low energy theory in the adiabatic regime corresponds to a transverse field anisotropic Ising model . We focus on the following Hamiltonian,

$$\mathcal{H} = \sum_{j} H_{Rabi}^{j} - \sum_{\langle i,j \rangle} J(a_i + a_i^{\dagger})(a_j + a_j^{\dagger}), \qquad (1.38)$$

(1.39)

with  $H_{Rabi}^{j}$  given by Eq. (1.10). We keep the general capacitive coupling of the form  $(a_{i} + a_{i}^{\dagger})(a_{j} + a_{j}^{\dagger})$ , which is valid for  $J/\omega_{0}$  not too small. We consider that each site has z neighbours and study the adiabatic regime characterized by  $\Delta/(\hbar\omega_{0}) \ll 1$  (see Sec. I.2.c and references therein). We follow Refs. [51,52] and decouple photon hopping at a mean field level,  $(a_{i} + a_{i}^{\dagger})(a_{j} + a_{j}^{\dagger}) = \langle a_{i} + a_{i}^{\dagger} \rangle \langle a_{j} + a_{j}^{\dagger} \rangle + \langle a_{i} + a_{i}^{\dagger} \rangle \langle a_{j} + a_{j}^{\dagger} \rangle - \langle a_{i} + a_{i}^{\dagger} \rangle \langle a_{j} + a_{j}^{\dagger} \rangle$ , which is exact in the limit  $z \to \infty$ . We are then left with the mean-field Hamiltonian,

$$\mathcal{H}_{MF}^{j} = \frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma_{j}^{z} + \left(\frac{g}{2}\sigma_{j}^{x} + J\psi\right)\left(a_{j} + a_{j}^{\dagger}\right) + \hbar\omega_{0}a_{j}^{\dagger}a_{j},\tag{1.40}$$

where  $\psi = z \langle a + a^{\dagger} \rangle$ .

#### I. RABI MODEL AND APPLICATIONS

Studying the adiabatic regime characterized by  $\Delta/(\hbar\omega_0) \ll 1$  allows now to precisely describe the phase transition. One can visualize the mean-field system as two displaced oscillator wells (characterized by the value of  $\sigma^x$  and  $\psi$ ). This permits to find that eigenstates  $|\phi_{\pm}(\psi)\rangle$ ,

$$|\phi_{\pm,N}(\psi)\rangle = e^{\left(\mp \frac{g}{2\hbar\omega_0} + \frac{J\psi}{\hbar\omega_0}\right)(a^{\dagger} - a)}|N\rangle \equiv |N_{\pm}\rangle, \qquad (1.41)$$

$$E_{\pm,N} = \hbar\omega_0 \left[ N - \left( \pm \frac{g}{2\hbar\omega_0} - \frac{J\psi}{\hbar\omega_0} \right)^2 \right].$$
(1.42)

As in Sec. I.2.c, we consider that the term  $\Delta/2\sigma^z$  only couples states in opposite wells with the same number of excitations, which is the lowest order of the adiabatic approximation. For all  $\psi$ , the minimal energy corresponds to (up to a constant term),

$$\langle \mathcal{H}_{MF}^{j} \rangle_{min}(\psi) = -\hbar\omega_{0} \left[ \left( \frac{g}{2\hbar\omega_{0}} \right)^{2} + \left( \frac{J\psi}{\hbar\omega_{0}} \right)^{2} \right] - \left[ \Delta^{2}e^{-\frac{g^{2}}{2(\hbar\omega_{0})^{2}}} + \frac{g^{2}}{(\hbar\omega_{0})^{2}}J^{2}\psi^{2} \right]^{1/2}.$$
(1.43)

Minimization of  $J\psi^2 + \langle \mathcal{H}_{MF}^j \rangle_{min}(\psi)$  with respect to  $\psi$  allows to determine the transition line of the mean-field transition (see Fig. 1.6). One finds a critical line

$$J_c\left(\frac{g}{\hbar\omega_0}\right) = \frac{\Delta \exp\left[-\frac{g^2}{2(\hbar\omega_0)^2}\right]}{\frac{\Delta \exp\left[-\frac{g^2}{2(\hbar\omega_0)^2}\right]}{\hbar\omega_0} + 2\left(\frac{g}{\hbar\omega_0}\right)^2}.$$
(1.44)

The order parameter  $\psi$  is equal to zero below  $J_c$  and we find for  $J > J_c$ 

$$|\psi| = \alpha (J - J_c)^{1/2} \tag{1.45}$$

with

$$\alpha = \frac{\left\{2\left(\frac{g}{\hbar\omega_0}\right)^2 J + \Delta \exp\left[-\frac{g^2}{2(\hbar\omega_0)^2}\right] \left(1 - \frac{J}{\hbar\omega_0}\right)\right\}^2}{2\frac{g}{\hbar\omega_0} J \left(1 - \frac{J}{\hbar\omega_0}\right) \left\{\frac{\Delta \exp\left[-\frac{g^2}{2(\hbar\omega_0)^2}\right]}{\hbar\omega_0} + 2\left(\frac{g}{\hbar\omega_0}\right)^2\right\}^{1/2}}.$$
(1.46)

This analysis was formulated in Refs. [51, 52] in terms of an effective transverse field anisotropic Ising model, where the Ising operators refer to the adiabatic states exposed above. The critical hopping  $J_c$  at large  $g/(\hbar\omega_0)$  is exponentially small, because the transverse field is renormalized by a Franck-Condon like exponential factor while the exchange not. In Ref. [53], the authors considered the effect of photon losses on the phase boundary. Interestingly, photon losses favours the disordered trivial phase and the phase boundary shows a tip structure above which the critical coupling  $J_c$ grows with  $g/(\hbar\omega_0)$ . A similar effect happens in the opposite limit at large  $J/(\hbar\omega_0)$ 



Figure 1.6: Left: Mean-field phase boundary of the Jaynes-Cummings lattice model as a function of effective chemical potential  $(\mu_{eff} - \hbar\omega_0)$  (we take  $\hbar = 1$  for the axis label) and atom-resonator detuning  $\delta/g$ . Figure from Ref. [35]. Right: Transition line for  $\Delta/\omega_0 = 0.1$  in the case of the Rabi-Hubbard lattice. It reproduces the results of Ref. [51,52].

and small  $g/(\hbar\omega_0)$ .

We have seen in this section that circuit QED setup permits to emulate quantum many-body physics with light. In the same perspective, recent interest have turned to the realization of quantum impurity models, describing discrete local quantum degrees of freedom coupled to continuous baths of excitations. They were originally introduced for the description of magnetic impurities in metals. These models are also relevant for describing transport through quantum dots coupled to metallic leads. Some models of this kind are not integrable and necessitate complex many-body techniques understand their properties. Upon variation of a control parameter, such models may exhibit a quantum phase transition where order is destroyed only by quantum fluctuations. One paradigmatic model of this kind is the spinboson model, initially introduced to describe dissipation.

### II Ohmic spinboson model

Quantum mechanical problems of interest involving a (effective) two-level system are widespread in physics and chemistry. We have seen above the example of the Rabi Hamiltonian, describing transitions between two energy levels of an atom. Other examples include the description of a nucleus of spin 1/2 (with applications in NMR), or the inversion resonance of the ammonia molecule. Such two-level systems can be described by an Hamiltonian of the form,

$$\mathcal{H}_{TLS} = \frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma^x + \frac{\epsilon}{2}\sigma^z, \qquad (1.47)$$

where  $\epsilon$  denotes the energy difference between the two levels and  $\Delta$  is the tunneling amplitude between these states.

#### **II.1** Modelling of dissipation

In many cases of interest, the description of the system solely in terms of a two-level system is inaccurate. In practise for a real experiment, the two-level system indeed interacts with its surrounding environment through a term of the form  $\sum_{\nu \in \{x,y,z\}} \sigma^{\nu} \Omega_{\nu}$ , where  $\Omega_{\nu}$  for  $\nu \in \{x, y, z\}$  are environment operators. In the following we will focus on cases where the coupling is non-zero only along one direction, let us say the z-direction. Provided that the coupling to the environment is sufficiently weak, it is relevant to describe it as a set of harmonic oscillators with a coupling linear in the oscillator coordinates [54, 55]. In the following and for the remaining of the manuscript, we will take the convention  $\hbar = 1$ . We reach the spinboson Hamiltonian,

$$\mathcal{H}_{SB} = \frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma^x + \frac{\epsilon}{2}\sigma^z + \sigma^z \sum_k \frac{\lambda_k}{2}(b_k + b_k^{\dagger}) + \sum_k \omega_k \left(b_k^{\dagger}b_k + \frac{1}{2}\right), \qquad (1.48)$$

where  $b_k$   $(b_k^{\dagger})$  is the annihilation (creation) operator of a boson in mode k with frequency  $\omega_k$ . The spin-bath interaction is fully characterized by the spectral function  $J(\omega) = \pi \sum_k \lambda_k^2 \delta(\omega - \omega_k)$ . We will assume that J is a smooth function of  $\omega$ , of the form

$$J(\omega) = 2\pi\alpha\omega^{s}\omega_{c}^{1-s}\exp\left(-\frac{\omega}{\omega_{c}}\right),$$
(1.49)

where  $\omega_c$  is a high frequency cutoff such that  $\Delta \ll \omega_c$  and the dimensionless parameter  $\alpha$  quantifies the strength of the coupling. A case of particular interest corresponds to the so-called ohmic coupling which corresponds to s = 1.

#### **II.2** Quantum phase transition and relation with Kondo model

The interaction with the bath plays an important role and affects both the equilibrium and the dynamical properties of the system. In this section, we focus on the ohmic spinboson model and investigate how the interaction with the bath triggers at high coupling a quantum phase transition from a delocalized to a localized phase, in relation to Kondo physics.

#### II.2.a Polaron ansatz and quantum phase transition

To understand better spin-bath effects, let us start by considering the limit  $\epsilon = \Delta = 0$ . The model reduces then to a set of harmonic oscillators with finite displacements, exactly as considered in Sec. I.2.c. When  $\Delta \neq 0$ , the high frequency modes of the bath ( $\omega_k \gg \Delta$ ) could be treated in the adiabatic approximation fashion developed in Sec. I.2.c. For low frequency modes ( $\omega_k \leq \Delta$ ), the situation is however different and the term  $\Delta/2\sigma^x$  cannot be treated in a perturbative manner. We therefore follow Ref. [56] (and references therein) and use a multi-mode coherent state ansatz for the ground state wavefunction,

$$|\psi_{var}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left[|\uparrow_z\rangle|f\rangle - |\downarrow_z\rangle| - f\rangle\rangle\right],\tag{1.50}$$

where  $|f\rangle = \exp\left[-\sum_{k} f_k(b_k^{\dagger} - b_k)\right] |0\rangle$  ( $|0\rangle$  corresponds to the vacuum for all the oscillators). With this ansatz we do not specify the amplitude with which a given mode is displaced *ab initio*, but these coefficients are determined by minimizing the mean energy of the system,

$$\langle \psi_{var} | \mathcal{H}_{SB} | \psi_{var} \rangle = -\frac{\Delta}{2} \exp\left[-2\sum_{k} f_{k}^{2}\right] + \sum_{k} \omega_{k} f_{k}^{2} - \sum_{k} \lambda_{k} f_{k}.$$
 (1.51)

We then minimize the variational energy  $\partial_{f_k} \langle \psi_{var} | \mathcal{H}_{SB} | \psi_{var} \rangle = 0$  and find the selfconsistent displacements

$$f_k = \frac{\lambda_k/2}{\omega_k + \Delta \exp\left[-2\sum_k f_k^2\right]}.$$
(1.52)

We recover the adiabatic displacement  $\lambda_k/(2\omega_k)$  for bath modes k such as  $\hbar\omega_k \gg \Delta$ . On the other hand, the displacement tends to zero for low frequency modes if  $\Delta > 0$ .

Bath states now "dress" the spin states, which leads to a renormalization of the tunneling element  $\Delta$ . Let us estimate this renormalized element  $\Delta_r$ .

$$\Delta_r = \Delta \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2\hbar} \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{J(\omega)}{(\omega + \Delta_r/\hbar)^2}\right]$$
  
$$\Rightarrow \Delta_r \simeq \Delta \exp\left[-\alpha \int_{\Delta_r}^{\omega_c} \frac{d\omega}{\omega}\right]$$
(1.53)

$$\Rightarrow \Delta_r \simeq \Delta \left(\frac{\Delta}{\hbar\omega_c}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}}.$$
(1.54)

We see in particular that  $\Delta_r \to 0$  when  $\alpha \to 1$ , indicating that the bath may forbid tunneling between spin states at sufficiently high coupling. The effect of the bath is then to polarize entirely the spins, by analogy to a ferromagnetic phase. The spin gets trapped in one of the states  $|\uparrow_z\rangle$  or  $|\downarrow_z\rangle$ .

This result sheds light on the mechanism at the origin of the dissipative quantum phase transition induced by the bath, which has been seen directly by applying the Numerical Renormalization Group (NRG) [57–59]. The procedure involves the rewriting of the partition function using a kink gas representation [58], mapping the problem on an Ising chain with long range  $1/r^2$  interactions. More precisely, the

#### II. OHMIC SPINBOSON MODEL

partition function at inverse temperature  $\beta$  reads at  $\epsilon = 0$ 

$$Z = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\Delta}{2}\right)^{2m} \int_{0}^{\beta} ds_{2m} \int_{0}^{s_{2m}} ds_{2m-1} \dots \int_{0}^{s_{2}} ds_{1} \mathcal{F}_{m}\left[\{s_{j}\}\right].$$
(1.55)

 $\mathcal{F}_m$  carries the environment influences in the form of "kink" (or charge) interactions

$$\mathcal{F}_m[\{s_j\}] = \exp\left\{\sum_{j=2}^{2m} \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} W(s_j - s_i)\right\},\tag{1.56}$$

with in the scaling limit  $\Delta/\omega_c \ll 1$ ,

$$W(\tau) = 2\alpha \ln \frac{\beta \omega_c}{\pi} \sin \left(\frac{\pi \tau}{\beta}\right)$$

This representation allows to derive valid RG equations following Ref. [60], which are equivalent to the ones derived earlier in the case of the anisotropic Kondo model by Anderson Yuval and Hamann [61] and describe a Kosterlitz-Thouless transition. It is also important to note that expression (1.54) for the renormalized tunneling element can also be found using an adiabatic renormalization procedure, developped in Refs. [62, 63].

#### II.2.b Relation with Kondo model

The dominant contribution to the electrical resistivity in metals comes from the scattering of the conduction electrons with lattice vibrations. This scattering grows with temperature as more and more lattice vibrations are excited. This results in a monotonical increase of electrical resistivity with temperature in most metals. A residual temperature-independent resistivity due to the scattering of the electrons with defects may subsist in the very low temperature range.

A resistance minimum as a function of temperature was however observed in a gold sample in 1934 [64]. The solution to this problem was formulated by Jun Kondo in 1964 [65], when he described how certain scattering processes from magnetic impurities could give rise to a resistivity contribution increasing at low temperatures. We present here the *anisotropic*<sup>1</sup> Kondo model, which describes the exchange interaction between a band of non-interacting conduction electrons with one magnetic impurity. The quantum impurity is represented by a spin 1/2 and it is coupled to the condution electrons by an antiferromagnetic exchange coupling. The corresponding Hamiltonian

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The anisotropy is essential to formulate the link with the ohmic spinboson model

 $\mathcal{H}_K$  is

$$\mathcal{H}_{K} = v_{F} \sum_{k,\sigma} k c_{k,\sigma}^{\dagger} c_{k,\sigma} + \frac{J_{\perp}}{2} \sum_{k,k'} \left( c_{k\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{k\downarrow} S^{-} + c_{k\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{k'\uparrow} S^{+} \right) + \frac{J_{z}}{4} S^{z} \sum_{k,k'} \left( c_{k\uparrow}^{\dagger} c_{k'\uparrow} - c_{k\downarrow}^{\dagger} c_{k'\downarrow} \right), \qquad (1.58)$$

where  $c_{k\sigma}$  ( $c_{k\sigma}^{\dagger}$ ) is the annihilation (creation) operator of a conduction electron in mode k with spin  $\sigma$ . We assume a constant density of states  $\rho = (2\pi v_F)^{-1}$ , where  $v_F$  is the Fermi velocity. The term in  $J_z$  describes scattering of the electrons in which the spin is conserved while the term in  $J_{\perp}$  describes spin-flip scattering. The equivalence between the two models can be shown through the kink gas representation [57–61,63,66], as the partition function for the anisotropic Kondo model reads

$$Z_{K} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left( \frac{-\rho J_{\perp} \cos^{2} \delta_{e}}{2\tau_{c}} \right)^{2m} \int_{0}^{\beta - \tau_{c}} ds_{2m} \int_{0}^{s_{2m} - \tau_{c}} ds_{2m-1} \dots \int_{0}^{s_{2} - \tau_{c}} ds_{1}$$
$$\times \exp\left\{ 2\left(1 + \frac{2\delta_{e}}{\pi}\right)^{2} \sum_{j>k=1}^{2m} \ln\left[\frac{\beta}{\pi\tau_{c}} \sin\left(\frac{\pi(s_{j} - s_{k})}{\beta}\right)\right] \right\}.$$
(1.59)

where  $\tau_c = 1/\omega_c$  and  $\delta_e = \tan^{-1}(-\pi\rho J_z/4)$ . We have a correspondence between Eq. (1.56) and Eq. (1.59) in the scaling regime, with the identification

$$\omega J_{\perp} \to \Delta/\omega_c$$
 (1.60)

$$(1+2\delta_e/\pi)^2 \to \alpha. \tag{1.61}$$

It follows that the localized-delocalized quantum phase transition in the ohmic spin-boson model is equivalent to the ferromagnetic-antiferromagnetic transition in the anistropic Kondo model. The relationship between the ohmic spinboson model and the anisotropic Kondo model is due to the fact that the low-energy electron-hole excitations have a bosonic character and can be interpreted in terms of density fluctuations [62]. The equivalence between these two models notably led to the original understanding of the localization phenomenon in the ohmic spinboson model [67,68]. The equivalence between these two models can also be shown through bosonization [69].

The Kondo effect can be considered as an example of asymptotic freedom, i.e., the coupling of electrons and spin becomes weak at high temperatures or high energies. In this respect, it embodies a paradigmatic model of quantum many-body physics and represents the "hydrogen atom" of this field. Being able to engineer either the Kondo model or the ohmic spinboson model in a controllable manner would then provide a new perspective on these effects. We will come back in more details on related Kondo models in quantum dots in Chapter V.

#### II.3 Circuit quantum electrodynamics: semi-infinite transmission line

Some proposals have focused on the implementation of the ohmic spinboson model in circuit QED setups. Let us consider the artificial atom introduced in I.2.a. As shown in Refs. [70, 71], the coupling of the circuit to an external resistive environment naturally takes the form of Eq. (4.8) with an ohmic spectral density (1.49). It is possible to show this by modelling the resistive environment of the circuit by a semi-infinite transmission line, as shown in Fig.  $1.7^1$ .



Figure 1.7: Left panel: Circuit of the noisy Cooper pair box. The crosses indicate Josephson junctions. Right panel: Transmission line modelling of the resistive impedance.

The Hamiltonian of the transmission line can be diagonalized as in I.2.b (See Refs. [70, 71] for a detailed derivation), and one recovers Eq. (4.8) with an ohmic spectral function with the identification

$$\Delta = E_J \tag{1.62}$$

$$\alpha = \frac{R}{R_K} \tag{1.63}$$

$$\omega_c = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L_0 C_0}},\tag{1.64}$$

where  $R_q = h/e^2$  is the resistance quantum. The spectrum is dense, as only one boundary condition holds in this semi-infinite case. The artificial atom is then coupled to a continuum of modes, with a dense spectrum at low frequencies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For convenience, we take the capacitance of the transmission line to match with the effective capacitance of the mesoscopic structure  $1/C_0 = 1/C_J + 1/C_g$ . The Ohmic resistance  $R = \sqrt{L_0/C_0}$  can be then adjusted by controlling the inductance  $L_0$ .

Circuit QED setups may provide new ways to measure many-body effects. One way to experimentally measure the Kondo energy would be to have access to the renormalized parameter  $\Delta_r$ , for example through the observation of Rabi oscillations. Alternatively, the Kondo energy can be directly measured based on the resonant propagation of a photon inside the transmission line, as shown in Ref. [72, 73]. This proposal involves a periodic driving of the system, which can be treated through the input-output theory [74]. In the underdamped limit, the analysis of the microwave signal reveals a manybody Kondo resonance in the elastic power of a transmitted photon.

#### II.4 Spinboson model in a cold-atomic setup

The ohmic spinboson model can also be realized with cold atomic setup, as proposed in Refs. [75]. This proposal rely on the use of cold bosons with two different ground states a and b, trapped by two types of potentials (see Fig. 1.8).

- A rather shallow potential traps atoms in state *a*. At sufficiently low temperatures, these atoms will form a Bose-Einstein Condensate (BEC).
- A highly confining potential traps atoms in state b. This latter potential can be produced for example by a deep optical lattice, which would be only seen by atoms in this state b (see Refs. [76,77] for details about the realization of such a state-selective potential). Only a discrete set of states are allowed for the atoms in state b which are trapped in the highly confining potential, forming an atomic quantum dot.



Figure 1.8: Atomic quantum dot coupled to a superfluid atomic reservoir. The Boseliquid of atoms in state a is confined in a shallow trap  $V_a(x)$ . The atom in state textitb is localized in tightly confining potential  $V_b(x)$ . Atoms are coupled via a Raman transition. A large onsite interaction  $U_{bb} > 0$  allows only a single atom in the dot. Figure adapted from Ref. [75]

#### II. OHMIC SPINBOSON MODEL

The description of the collision interactions between the atoms can be done using a pseudopotential description and introducing effective coupling parameters  $g_{\alpha\beta}$  between states  $\alpha$  and  $\beta \in \{a, b\}$ . The collisional interaction may result in a strong repulsion for atoms in state b. Low energy states of the quantum dot can be coupled to the condensate reservoir by Raman transitions. Altogether, the Hamiltonian describing the system  $\mathcal{H}_{sys}$  can be written,

$$\mathcal{H}_{sys} = \left(-\delta_0 + g_{ab} \int dx |\psi_b(x)|^2 \rho_a(x)\right) b^{\dagger} b + \frac{U_{bb}}{2} b^{\dagger} b^{\dagger} b b$$
$$+ \int dx \Omega \left(\Psi_a(x) \psi_b(x) b^{\dagger} + h.c.\right) + \mathcal{H}_a, \tag{1.65}$$

where  $\Psi_a(x)$  is the annihilation operator for an atom a at point x, and  $\rho_a(x) = \Psi_a^{\dagger}(x)\Psi_a(x)$  is the associated density operator. b annihilates a boson in the atomic quantum dot, with the wavefunction  $\psi_b^{\dagger}(x)$ .  $\delta_0$  is the Raman detuning. The term proportional to  $g_{ab}$  describes collisional interactions between the atoms on the dot and the reservoir.  $U_{bb}$  quantifies the on-site repulsion between different b atoms on the dot. The last term describes the laser-induced coupling between the two types.

The low-energies excitations of the BEC consist of linear dispersion phonons with linear dispersion  $\omega = v_s |q|$ , where  $v_s$  is the sound velocity and q is the momentum of the excitation. For a large number of atoms in the condensate, one can then consider that the atoms b are coupled to a coherent matter wave described in terms of a quantum hydrodynamic Hamiltonian which reads a zero temperature

$$\mathcal{H}_a = \frac{1}{2} \int dx \left( \frac{1}{m} \rho_a |\phi|^2(x) + \frac{m v_s}{\rho_a} \Pi^2(x) \right), \tag{1.66}$$

where  $\rho_a(x) = \rho_a + \Pi(x)$ . The phase  $\phi$  is canonically conjugated to  $\Pi$ . Hamiltonian (1.66) can be diagonalized with the introduction of standard phonon operators, leading to  $\mathcal{H}_a = v_s \sum_q |q| b_q^{\dagger} b_q$ . In the limit of large on-site repulsion  $U_{bb} \gg \Delta$ , we can restrict the dynamics to the two lowest energy levels on the atomic quantum dot. After a unitary transformation  $S = \exp[-i\sigma^z \phi(0)/2]$ , we reach

$$\mathcal{H}_{sys} = -\frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma^x + \sum_q \omega_q b_q^{\dagger} b_q + \left(-\delta + \sum_q \lambda_q (b_q + b_q^{\dagger})\right) \frac{\sigma^z}{2}, \qquad (1.67)$$

where the coupling coefficients  $\lambda_q$  read

$$\lambda_q = \left[\frac{m|q|v_s^3}{2V\rho_a}\right]^{1/2} \left(\frac{g_{ab}\rho_a}{mv_s^2} - 1\right).$$
(1.68)

The dispersion relation above permits the realization on an ohmic spectral function. As shown in Ref. [78], one could extend this proposal to an optical lattice and consider
a lattice of well-separated tightly confining trapping potentials, so that atoms in state b cannot hop from one site to the other. Following the same lines as for the one-site case, the interaction with the common bath of harmonic excitations leads to the following Hamiltonian,

$$\mathcal{H}_{SB}^{M} = \frac{\Delta}{2} \sum_{p=1}^{M} \sigma_{p}^{x} - \sum_{j \neq p} K_{|j-p|} \sigma_{j}^{z} \sigma_{p}^{z} + \sum_{p=1}^{M} \sum_{k} \lambda_{k} e^{ikx_{p}} \left( b_{-k}^{\dagger} + b_{k} \right) \frac{\sigma_{p}^{z}}{2} + \sum_{k} \omega_{k} b_{k}^{\dagger} b_{k}.$$

$$(1.69)$$

where M denotes the number of sites of the lattice. Eq. (1.69) constitutes the M spin version of the ohmic spinboson model.  $K_{|j-p|}$  notably depends on the characteristics of the bath and vanishes for  $g_{aa} = 2g_{ab}$  [78]. Let us now see what are the additional effects induced by the coupling to a common bath in this multi-spin case with respect to the single-mode case. This can be studied by applying an unitary transformation  $\tilde{H} = V^{-1}HV$  on the Hamiltonian (1.69), with  $V = \exp\left\{\frac{1}{2}\sum_{k}\sum_{j=1}^{M}\sigma_{j}^{z}e^{ikx_{j}}\frac{\lambda_{k}}{\omega_{k}}(b_{k}-b_{-k}^{\dagger})\right\}$ . The transformed Hamiltonian reads:

$$\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_{SB}^{M} = \sum_{j=1}^{M} \frac{\Delta}{2} \left( \sigma_{j}^{+} e^{i\Omega_{j}} + \sigma_{j}^{-} e^{-i\Omega_{j}} \right) - \sum_{j \neq p} K_{|j-p|}^{\prime} \sigma_{j}^{z} \sigma_{p}^{z} + \sum_{k} \omega_{k} b_{k}^{\dagger} b_{k}, \qquad (1.70)$$

where  $\Omega_j = i \sum_k \frac{\lambda_k}{\omega_k} e^{ikx_j} (b_k - b^{\dagger}_{-k})$  and

$$K'_{|j-p|} = K_{|j-p|} + \frac{\alpha\omega_c}{2} \frac{1}{1 + \frac{\omega_c^2(x_j - x_p)^2}{v^2}}.$$
(1.71)

Note that we recover the renormalization of the tunneling element induced by the bath in this polaron-transformed rewriting. As can be seen from Eq. (1.70) the excitation of spin j indeed comes with a simultaneous polarization of the neighboring bath into a coherent state  $|\Omega_j\rangle = e^{i\Omega_j}|0\rangle$ . The tunneling energy is thus renormalized due to this boson-dependent phase. On top of this effects, the bath also engenders in this multi-spin case a strong Ising-type *ferromagnetic* interaction  $K'_{|j-p|}$  between the spins j and p, which is mediated by an exchange of bosonic excitations at low wave vectors, as demonstrated in Ref. [78]. We saw in Sec. II.2.a that the critical value  $\alpha_c$  of the coupling is  $\alpha_c = 1$ . Due to the strong ferromagnetic interaction between the spins induced by the bath, this critical value decreases with the number M of sites, as confirmed in Refs. [79–81].

We also note that the ohmic spinboson model can be realized in systems of trapped ions, as exposed for example in Ref. [82]. Environment effects in relation with dissipative critical behaviour have also been studied in the transport properties of quantum dot systems of carbon nanotubes coupled to resistive environments [83], emulating tunnel coupled Luttinger liquids [84]. A prediction of this latter model is the existence of resonance peaks of perfect conductance which narrows when temperature decreases; which translates to environmental conductance suppression in the case of tunneling with dissipation [85] (see also Refs. [86–89] which explore the link between Luttinger liquid physics). We note related experimental progress studying the backaction of the environment on the conductance in a tunable GaAs/Ga(Al)As Quantum Point Contact setup [90].

#### II.5 Non-equilibrium dynamics and NIBA equation

Several methods were devised to tackle the spin dynamics in the spinboson model. Among them, the well-known Non-Interacting Blip Approximation (NIBA) allows to reach analytical results in the scaling regime characterized by  $0 \le \alpha \le 1/2$  and  $\Delta/\omega_c \ll 1$ . The derivation of NIBA was originally done in Ref. [62] using a path integral formalism, that we will present in the next chapter. Interestingly, the NIBA equations can also be derived by using a weak-coupling decoupling over Hamiltonian after a unitary transformation as shown in Ref. [91].

Let us focus on the non-equilibrium dynamics for one spin initially in the pure state  $|\uparrow_z\rangle$ , coupled to a bath at equilibrium at zero temperature at time  $t_0$ . We compute the Heisenberg equations of motion for the spin operators  $\sigma^z$ ,  $\sigma_+$  and  $\sigma_-$  after having performed the one-spin version of the unitary transformation introduced in the previous subsection. Replacing the equations obtained for the transverse elements in the one obtained for  $\sigma^z$ , we reach

$$\dot{\sigma^z}(t) = -\frac{\Delta^2}{2} \int_{t_0}^t ds \sigma^z(s) \left[ e^{i\Omega(t)} e^{-i\Omega(s)} + e^{-i\Omega(t)} e^{+i\Omega(s)} \right].$$
(1.72)

As  $\sigma^z$  commutes with the unitary transformation, one can equally compute its evolution in the two frames. To recover equations of NIBA derived in Ref. [62], Dekker decoupled spin and bath expectation values and assumed that the time evolution of the bath operators was governed by the free bath Hamiltonian [91]. This leads to

$$\langle \dot{\sigma^z}(t) \rangle + \int_{t_0}^t ds f(t-s) \langle \sigma^z(s) \rangle = 0, \qquad (1.73)$$

where

$$f(t) = \Delta^2 \cos\left[\frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{J(\omega)}{\omega^2} \sin \omega t\right] \exp\left[-\frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{J(\omega)}{\omega^2} \left(1 - \cos \omega t\right)\right].$$
(1.74)

Eq. (1.73) can then be solved exactly using Laplace transformation. One finds that  $\langle \dot{\sigma}^z(t) \rangle$  is the sum of a coherent term  $p_{coh}(t)$  and an incoherent term  $p_{inc}(t)$  where

$$p_{coh}(t) = \frac{1}{1-\alpha} e^{-\gamma t} cos \Gamma t.$$
(1.75)

The oscillation frequency and the decay rate are characterized by  $\Gamma/\gamma = \cot[\pi \alpha/(2 - 2\alpha)]$  while the incoherent behavior dominates the long-time dynamics as it behaves as  $(\Delta_r t)^{2-2\alpha}$ . This incoherent behavior is considered to be an incorrect prediction of NIBA [63].

In this chapter, we introduced the Rabi model and the Spinboson model, and their relevance for modern experimental techniques. We have also seen the need to develop new techniques to tackle the non-equilibirum dynamics in these problems. A particular case of interest related to the Rabi case consists in the development of a numerical/theoretical framework which would allow to take into account drive and dissipation effects. For the spinboson model, the free dynamics at strong coupling is already a challenge<sup>1</sup>.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ An overview of the different techniques will be provided below

# CHAPTER 2

## SSE equation and applications

In this chapter, we introduce the stochastic Schrödinger equation applicable to Spinboson models. We consider first a spin 1/2 interacting with a bosonic bath, described by the Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma^x + \sigma^z \sum_k \frac{\lambda_k}{2} (b_k + b_k^{\dagger}) + \sum_k \omega_k b_k^{\dagger} b_k.$$
(2.1)

The coupling between the spin and the bosonic bath is characterized by the spectral function<sup>2</sup>  $J(\omega) = \pi \sum_{k} \lambda_{k}^{2} \delta(\omega - \omega_{k})$ .

In the case of a continuous spectral function, computing the spin dynamics is generally a challenging task and a very large number of different methods were devised to this end. At very weak coupling, Markovian master equations permits to capture qualitatively relaxation and dephasing effects [50,92]. At higher spin-bath coupling, the influence of the environment on the dynamics becomes more subtle and memory effects have to be taken into account.

As Hamiltonian (2.1) is quadratic in terms of bosonic operators, one can integrate out exactly these degrees of freedom in a path integral approach. This technique was pioneered by Feynman and Vernon [93], and constitutes the starting point of the well-controlled Non Interacting Blip Approximation (NIBA) [62,63] and extensions to it [94–97]. Despite great success in the delocalized phase for  $\alpha < 1/2$ , this approximation is for example unable to describe the quantum phase transition occuring in the ohmic case (see Sec. II.2).

Numerous analytical and numerical methods were built from the Feynman-Vernon influence functional and the "Blip" and "Sojourn" development at the origin of NIBA. This includes stochastic Liouville equations [98–101], Non-Markovian master equations [102, 103], real-time Path Integral Monte Carlo methods [104–107], Quasi-Adiabatic Propagator Path Integral techniques [108, 109] and the Stochastic Schrödinger Equa-

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ We will keep the discussion general in this section and will not specify a particular form for J.

tion under consideration.

Different approaches following a different path were also devised to tackle the realtime dynamics in this problem, with for example quantum jumps approaches on the wavefunction (or stochastic wavefunction approaches) [110–112]. More recently, various Numerical Renormalization Group (NRG) techniques [88,113–121], or Multilayer multiconfiguration time dependent Hartree method [122] were also developped.

We present here the details of the Stochastic Schrödinger Equation method, following our Ref. [123], and we will try to highlight the links with the other methods/approaches mentionned above along the derivation.

## I SSE Equation in the case of one spin

A state of the system is described by a wavefunction  $|\psi\rangle$ , which belongs to the Hilbert space  $\epsilon = \epsilon_S \otimes \epsilon_B$ , which is the tensor product of spin and bath spaces  $\epsilon_S$  and  $\epsilon_B$ . This mixed spin-boson system is conveniently described in terms of density operators, or density matrices. Considering our quantum system, there is a unique operator  $\rho$  such that

$$\langle A \rangle = \operatorname{tr}\left(\rho A\right),\tag{2.2}$$

for all observable operator A. This operator  $\rho$  is called the density operator, or density matrix, of the system. We are mainly interested in the dynamics of the spin observables, and the effect of the bath on their dynamics. It is then convenient to define reduced density operators  $\rho_{\mathcal{S}}$  and  $\rho_{\mathcal{B}}$  as partial traces of the total density matrix

$$\rho_{\mathcal{S}} = \operatorname{tr}_{\epsilon_{\mathcal{B}}}\left(\rho\right),\tag{2.3}$$

$$\rho_{\mathcal{B}} = \operatorname{tr}_{\epsilon_{\mathcal{S}}}\left(\rho\right). \tag{2.4}$$

We are interested in the time-evolution of the spin-reduced density matrix  $\rho_{\mathcal{S}}(t)$  for  $t \geq t_0$ , where  $t_0$  denotes the initial time. We assume factorizing initial conditions  $\rho(t_0) = \rho_B(t_0) \otimes \rho_S(t_0)$ , with the bath in a thermal state at inverse temperature  $\beta$ . Under these assumptions, we can show the following result.

40

#### I. SSE EQUATION IN THE CASE OF ONE SPIN

Stochastic Schrödinger Equation for one spin

The elements of the spin-reduced density matrix at time  $t \ge t_0$  are given by

$$[\rho_S(t)]_{ij} = \overline{\langle \Sigma_{ij} | \Phi(t) \rangle}, \qquad (2.5)$$

where the overline denotes a stochastic average and  $|\Phi\rangle$  is the four-dimensional vector solution of the Stochastic Schrödinger-like differential equation (2.6),

$$i\partial_t |\Phi\rangle = V(t)|\Phi\rangle,$$
 (2.6)

with 
$$|\Phi(t_0)\rangle = ([\rho_S(t_0)]_{11} e^{k(t_0)}, [\rho_S(t_0)]_{12} e^{h(t_0)}, [\rho_S(t_0)]_{21} e^{-h(t_0)}, [\rho_S(t_0)]_{22} e^{-k(t_0)})^T$$
.

In Eq. (2.6), we have

$$V = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{-h+k} & -e^{h+k} & 0\\ e^{h-k} & 0 & 0 & -e^{h+k}\\ -e^{-h-k} & 0 & 0 & e^{-h+k}\\ 0 & -e^{-h-k} & e^{h-k} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.7)

 $\boldsymbol{h}$  and  $\boldsymbol{k}$  are two complex gaussian random fields with correlations

$$\overline{h(t)h(s)} = \frac{1}{\pi}Q_2(t-s) + l_1,$$
(2.8)

$$\overline{k(t)k(s)} = l_2, \tag{2.9}$$

$$\overline{h(t)k(s)} = \frac{i}{\pi}Q_1(t-s)\theta(t-s) + l_3, \qquad (2.10)$$

where  $l_j$  for  $j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$  are arbitrary complex constants and

$$Q_1(t) = \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{J(\omega)}{\omega^2} \sin \omega t, \qquad (2.11)$$

$$Q_2(t) = \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{J(\omega)}{\omega^2} \left(1 - \cos \omega t\right) \coth \frac{\beta \omega}{2}.$$
 (2.12)

Vectors  $\langle \Sigma_{ij} |$  read  $\langle \Sigma_{11} | = (e^{-k(t)}, 0, 0, 0); \langle \Sigma_{12} | = (0, e^{-h(t)}, 0, 0); \langle \Sigma_{21} | = (0, 0, e^{h(t)}, 0); \langle \Sigma_{22} | = (0, 0, 0, e^{k(t)}).$ 

The derivation of this result is based on different results related to Refs. [62, 63, 93, 123–125], which will be exposed below, and can be decomposed into three consecutive steps:

- Integration of the bosonic degrees of freedom in a path integral formalism [93]. This integration will induce spin-spin interactions, which are long range in time.
- Rewriting of the spin path in the language of "Blips" and "Sojourns", following the work of Ref. [62].
- Stochastic unravelling of the bath-induced spin-spin interaction: we decouple

this spin-spin interaction thanks to the introduction of stochastic degrees of freedom [98, 99, 123–125].

#### I.1 Feynman-Vernon influence functional

Hamiltonian (2.1) is quadratic in terms of bosonic operators, which enables us to carry out an exact integration of these degrees of freedom in a path integral approach. This operation typically generates additional spin-spin interactions in time, whose kernel depends on the spectral properties of the bath. This technique was originally introduced by Feynman and Vernon in Ref. [93] with an integration over extended coordinates of the harmonic oscillators (see also Ref. [63]). One can also derive the result using a coherent-state path integral description. This derivation is done in Appendix A, and we only reproduce the main steps here. Let  $\{|u\rangle\}$  be the basis of coherent states of  $\epsilon_B$ , and  $\{|\sigma_k\rangle\} = \{|\uparrow_z\rangle, |\downarrow_z\rangle\}$  the canonical basis associated with the z-axis of  $\epsilon_S$ . The starting point is to express the density matrix  $\rho_S$  in terms of the evolution operator of the whole system  $U(t, t_0)$ ,

$$\rho_S(t) = \operatorname{tr}_{\epsilon_{\mathcal{B}}} \left[ U(t, t_0) \rho(t_0) U^{\dagger}(t, t_0) \right].$$
(2.13)

We insert then resolutions of the identity in terms of coherent-state and spin projectors

$$\mathbb{I} = \sum_{k} \int d\mu(v) |v, \sigma_k\rangle \langle v, \sigma_k|, \qquad (2.14)$$

on both sides of  $\rho(t_0)$  in the expression (2.13). The coherent state measure is defined by

$$d\mu(u) = \frac{1}{\pi} du_x du_y e^{-|u|^2},$$
(2.15)

with  $u_x$  and  $u_y$  respectively the real and imaginary part of u. The main idea is then to re-express the forward and backward propagators in terms of integrals over bosonic fields and real-valued spin fields, following the standard path integration procedure. The resulting action of each propagator can be expressed<sup>1</sup> in terms of a time-integral of a Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}$  which has only linear and square dependence on the bosonic trajectories  $\psi_k$  and  $\psi_k^*$ . Each action can thus be evaluated in an exact manner by means of the stationary phase condition,

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{\psi}_k} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_k},\tag{2.16}$$

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{\psi}_{k}^{*}} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi_{k}^{*}},\tag{2.17}$$

with well-determined boundary conditions. A final integration over the endpoints of the trajectories give the final result that we summarize below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>up to terms coming from boundary conditions, see Appendix A

#### I. SSE EQUATION IN THE CASE OF ONE SPIN

At a given time  $t \ge t_0$  and for any  $|\sigma_f\rangle, |\sigma_{f'}\rangle \in \{|\sigma_1\rangle \equiv |\uparrow_z\rangle, |\sigma_2\rangle \equiv |\downarrow_z\rangle\}$ , the element of the spin-reduced density matrix between  $|\sigma_f\rangle$  and  $|\sigma_{f'}\rangle$  read

$$\langle \sigma_f | \rho_S(t) | \sigma_{f'} \rangle = \sum_{k,k'} [\rho_S(t_0)]_{k,k'} J_{k,k',f,f'},$$
 (2.18)

where  $J_{k,k',f,f'}$  takes the form

$$J_{k,k',f,f'} = \int \mathcal{D}[\Sigma] \mathcal{D}[\Sigma'] \mathcal{A}[\Sigma] \mathcal{A}^*[\Sigma'] \mathcal{F}[\Sigma,\Sigma'].$$
(2.19)

The integration in Eq. (2.19) runs over all constant by parts paths  $\Sigma$  and  $\Sigma'$  taking values in  $\{-1,1\}$  with endpoints verifying  $\sigma^z |\sigma_k\rangle = \Sigma(t_0) |\sigma_k\rangle$  and  $\sigma^z |\sigma_{k'}\rangle = \Sigma'(t_0) |\sigma_{k'}\rangle$ ,  $\sigma^z |\sigma_f\rangle = \Sigma(t) |\sigma_f\rangle$  and  $\sigma^z |\sigma_{f'}\rangle = \Sigma'(t) |\sigma_{f'}\rangle$ . The term  $\mathcal{A}[\Sigma]$  denotes the amplitude to follow one given path  $\Sigma$  in the sole presence of the spin Hamiltonian. The effect of the environment is fully contained in the so-called Feynman-Vernon influence functional  $\mathcal{F}[\Sigma, \Sigma']$  which reads [93] :

$$\mathcal{F}[\Sigma,\Sigma'] = e^{\left\{-\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{t_0}^t ds \int_{t_0}^s ds' \left[-iL_1(s-s')\frac{\Sigma(s)-\Sigma'(s)}{2}\frac{\Sigma(s')+\Sigma'(s')}{2} + L_2(s-s')\frac{\Sigma(s)-\Sigma'(s)}{2}\frac{\Sigma(s')-\Sigma'(s')}{2}\right]\right\}}.$$
(2.20)

The functions  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  read

$$L_1(t) = \int_0^\infty d\omega J(\omega) \sin \omega t,$$
  

$$L_2(t) = \int_0^\infty d\omega J(\omega) \cos \omega t \coth \frac{\beta \omega}{2}.$$
(2.21)

From Eq. (2.20), we see that the bosonic environment couples the symmetric and anti-symmetric spin paths

$$\eta(t) = \frac{1}{2} [\Sigma(t) + \Sigma'(t)], \qquad (2.22)$$

$$\xi(t) = \frac{1}{2} [\Sigma(t) - \Sigma'(t)], \qquad (2.23)$$

at different times. These variables take values in  $\{-1, 0, +1\}$  and are the equivalent of the classical and quantum variables in the Schwinger-Keldysh representation. We have then integrated out the bosonic degrees of freedom, which no longer appear in the expression of the spin dynamics, but the prize to pay is the introduction of a spin-spin interaction term which is not local in time. Dealing with such terms is difficult at a general level. The spin dynamics at a given time t depends on its state at previous times s < t: the dynamics is said to be non-Markovian. The effective action is reminiscent of the classical spin chains with long-range interaction, where time now replaces space. In particular for an ohmic spectral density given by (1.49),  $L_2(t) \propto 1/(\omega_c t)^2$  at long times. When integrated twice, we recover the characteristic ln behavior found by Anderson, Yuval and Hamman [61] when studying the Kondo problem (see II.2.b). Non-Markovian master equations [102, 103] can be derived from this Feynman-Vernon influence functional in the case of excitation number conserving interaction terms (of the form  $(\sigma_+ a + \sigma_- a^{\dagger})$ ), by integrating out the system variables trajectories. This point of view requires however to carry out the path integral using Grassman coherent states after a fermionization of the spin. An interesting open issue left for further work is to generalize this method in our case of spin-boson coupling with counter-rotating terms.

#### I.2 "Blips" and "Sojourns"

The next step is the rewriting of the spin path in the language of "Blips" and "Sojourns", following the seminal work of Ref. [62]. This technique is also well explained in Ref. [63].



Figure 2.1: Spin states.

The double path integral along  $\Sigma$  and  $\Sigma'$  in Eq. (2.19) can be viewed as a single path that visits the four states A (for which  $\eta = 1$  and  $\xi = 0$ ), B (for which  $\eta = 0$  and  $\xi = 1$ ), C (for which  $\eta = 0$  and  $\xi = -1$ ) and D (for which  $\eta = -1$  and  $\xi = 0$ ). States A and D correspond to the diagonal elements of the density matrix (also named 'sojourn' states) whereas B and C correspond to the off-diagonal ones (also called 'blip' states) [62, 63]. The four states are depicted in Fig. 2.1. As stated below Eq. (2.19), the initial state of these paths is characterized by the initial spin-reduced density matrix and the final state by  $|\sigma_f\rangle$  and  $|\sigma'_f\rangle$ .

A careful examination of  $J_{k,k',f,f'}$  in Eq. (2.18) is done in Ref. [62] and in Chapter "Two-state dynamics" of Ref. [63] in the general case, and presented in Appendix C. It is however instructive to examine some details of this blips and sojourns rewriting, and we present below the computation of  $\langle \uparrow_z | \rho_S(t) | \uparrow_z \rangle$  for a spin starting initially in the state  $\rho_S(t_0) = |\uparrow_z\rangle\langle\uparrow_z|$ .

In this case the sum in Eq. (2.18) reduces to a single term as k = k' = 1 from the initial condition and f = f' = 1 for the term we seek to compute. To compute the corresponding  $J_{1,1,1,1}$ , we have to consider all the double spin paths which start and end in the sojourn state A. One path of this type makes 2n transitions along the way at times  $t_i$ ,  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., 2n\}$  such that  $t_0 < t_1 < t_2 < ... < t_{2n}$ . We can write this spin



Figure 2.2: Spin path with initial and final state A -  $\eta(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{2n} \Upsilon_j \theta(t-t_j)$  in red;  $\xi(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{2n} \Xi_j \theta(t-t_j)$  in dashed blue.

path as  $\xi(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{2n} \Xi_j \theta(t-t_j)$  and  $\eta(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{2n} \Upsilon_j \theta(t-t_j)$  where the variables  $\Xi_i$  and  $\Upsilon_i$  take values in  $\{-1, 1\}$ . Such a path is illustrated in Fig. 2.2. The variables  $\Xi$  (in blue) describe the blip parts, and the variables  $\Upsilon$  (in red) on the other hand characterize the sojourn parts.

Using an explicit representation of the path measure (introduced in Eq. (A.13)),  $J_{1,1,1,1}$  is given by an exact series in the tunneling coupling  $\Delta^2$ :

$$\langle \uparrow_z | \rho_S(t) | \uparrow_z \rangle = J_{1,1,1,1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left( \frac{i\Delta}{2} \right)^{2n} \int_{t_0}^t dt_{2n} \dots \int_{t_0}^{t_2} dt_1 \sum_{\{\Xi_j\}, \{\Upsilon_j\}'} \mathcal{F}_n.$$
(2.24)

The prime in  $\{\Upsilon_j\}'$  in Eq. (2.24) indicates that the initial and final sojourn states are fixed according to the initial and final conditions  $\Upsilon_0 = \Upsilon_{2n} = 1$ .  $\mathcal{F}_n$  corresponds to the evaluation of  $\mathcal{F}[\Sigma, \Sigma']$  for a given path with 2n spin flips, introduced above. Given this path, we can evaluate Eq. (2.20). First we evaluate the contribution given by  $L_1$ .

$$\frac{i}{\pi} \int_{t_0}^t ds \int_{t_0}^s ds' L_1(s-s')\xi(s)\eta(s') = \frac{i}{\pi} \sum_{j>k=0}^n \xi_j \eta_k \int_{t_{2j-1}}^{t_{2j}} ds \int_{t_{2k}}^{t_{2k+1}} ds' L_1(s-s')$$

$$= \frac{i}{\pi} \sum_{j>k=0}^n \xi_j \eta_k [Q_1(t_{2j-1}-t_{2k}) + Q_1(t_{2j}-t_{2k+1}) - Q_1(t_{2j}-t_{2k}) - Q_1(t_{2j-1}-t_{2k+1})]$$

$$= \frac{i}{\pi} \sum_{j>k=0}^{2n} \Xi_j \Upsilon_k Q_1(t_j-t_k),$$
(2.25)

with  $Q_1$  the opposite of the second integral of  $L_1$  with  $Q_1(0) = 0$ . In Eq. (2.25), variables  $\xi_j = \Xi_{2j-1}$  and  $\eta_k = \Upsilon_{2k}$  denote the values of the *j*-th blip (starting from 1) and *k*-th sojourn (starting from 0). Then we evaluate the contribution given by  $L_2$ ,

which contains a self-interaction term,

$$-\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{t_0}^t ds \int_{t_0}^s ds' L_2(s-s')\xi(s)\xi(s') = -\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{j>k=0}^n \xi_j \xi_k \int_{t_{2j-1}}^{t_{2j}} ds \int_{t_{2k-1}}^{t_{2k}} ds' L_2(s-s') -\frac{1}{\pi} \xi_j \xi_j \int_{t_{2j-1}}^{t_{2j}} ds \int_{t_{2j-1}}^s ds' L_2(s-s') =\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{j>k=0}^{2n} \Xi_j \Xi_k Q_2(t_j-t_k), \qquad (2.26)$$

with  $Q_2$  the second integral of  $L_2$  with  $Q_2(0) = 0$ . This leads to [62]:

$$\mathcal{F}_{n} = \exp\left[\frac{i}{\pi} \sum_{k=0}^{2n-1} \sum_{j=k+1}^{2n} \Xi_{j} \Upsilon_{k} Q_{1}(t_{j} - t_{k})\right] \exp\left[\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k=1}^{2n-1} \sum_{j=k+1}^{2n} \Xi_{j} \Xi_{k} Q_{2}(t_{j} - t_{k})\right].$$
(2.27)

The functions  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$ , which describe the feedbacks of the dissipative environment, are directly obtained from the spectral function  $J(\omega)$ ,

$$Q_1(t) = \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{J(\omega)}{\omega^2} \sin \omega t, \qquad (2.28)$$

$$Q_2(t) = \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{J(\omega)}{\omega^2} \left(1 - \cos \omega t\right) \coth \frac{\beta \omega}{2}.$$
 (2.29)

From Eq. (2.27), we see that the first term couples the blips to all the previous sojourns, while the second one couples the blips to all the previous blips (including self-interaction). Blips and sojourns do not have symmetric effects: the index for the  $\Upsilon$  variables starts at 0 and ends at 2n - 1 whereas the index for the  $\Xi$  variables starts at 1 and ends at 2n. It is worth noting that the last sojourn does not contribute and the latest coupling period is the blip which lasts from  $t_{2n-1}$  to  $t_{2n}$ . We recall that we provide in Appendix C the general rewriting in this language to compute the other elements of the spin-reduced density matrix, for any initial condition.

Equations (2.27,2.28,2.29) constitute a more explicit rewriting of Eq. (2.20), but we are still left with long range spin-spin interaction induced by the bath. Such terms can be evaluated in certain cases by analytical methods. For example, the authors of Ref. [62] developped the so-called Non-Interacting-Blip-Approximation (NIBA) to tackle the dynamics of spinboson models. This approximation is notably justified in the Ohmic case at weak coupling and/or large temperatures. It assumes that the time spent by the system in the states B and C (blips) is very small compared to the time spent in states A and D. Consequently, the interblips correlations of Eq. (2.27) have little effect on the dynamics and may be ignored. In this limit, analytical results may be obtained (see [62, 63]). Real-time path-integral simulation techniques combining Monte Carlo sampling over the quantum fluctuations  $\Xi$  with an exact treatment of the quasi-classical degrees of freedom  $\Upsilon$  were also developed from Eq. (2.27) [104–107].

Here, we follow a different path and use additional stochastic degrees of freedom to unravel the spin-spin interactions.

#### I.3 Stochastic unravelling

To decouple the spin-spin interaction(s) in time, we use Gaussian stochastic decoupling (or Hubbard-Stratonovitch transformation in function space). Some efforts in this direction were done previously in Refs. [98–100] and we shall come back to these results at the end of the present subsection. This stochastic unravelling of the influence functional will allow us to write the dynamics of the spin-reduced density matrix as a solution of a stochastic differential equation [123–125].

We focus again on the computation of  $\langle \uparrow_z | \rho_S(t) | \uparrow_z \rangle$  for a spin starting initially in the state  $| \uparrow_z \rangle$ . Let *h* and *k* be two complex gaussian random fields which verify [123]

$$\overline{h(t)h(s)} = \frac{1}{\pi}Q_2(t-s) + l_1, \qquad (2.30)$$

$$\overline{k(t)k(s)} = l_2, \tag{2.31}$$

$$\overline{h(t)k(s)} = \frac{i}{\pi}Q_1(t-s)\theta(t-s) + l_3.$$
(2.32)

The overline denotes statistical average,  $\theta(.)$  is the Heaviside step function and  $l_1$ ,  $l_2$  and  $l_3$  are arbitrary complex constants. Making use of the identity  $\overline{\exp(X)} = \exp(\overline{X^2}/2)$ , Eq. (2.27) can then be reexpressed as:

$$\mathcal{F}_n = \overline{\prod_{j=1}^{2n} \exp\left[h(t_j)\Xi_j + k(t_{j-1})\Upsilon_{j-1}\right]}.$$
(2.33)

The complex constants  $l_p$  do not contribute to the average because  $\sum_{k=0}^{2n-1} \Upsilon_k = \sum_{j=1}^{2n} \Xi_j = 0$ . This step was done in Refs. [124, 125] with the introduction of one stochastic field (which is valid in a certain limit, as we will see later), and with two fields in Ref. [123]. The summation over blips and sojourn variables  $\{\Xi_j\}$  and  $\{\Upsilon_j\}$  can be incorporated by considering a product of matrices of the form

$$V = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{-h+k} & -e^{h+k} & 0\\ e^{h-k} & 0 & 0 & -e^{h+k}\\ -e^{-h-k} & 0 & 0 & e^{-h+k}\\ 0 & -e^{-h-k} & e^{h-k} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
 (2.34)

in the four dimensional vector space of states {A, B, C, D}. This rewriting was originally introduced in Ref. [126]. Then, the computation of diagonal elements of the we

get

$$\langle \uparrow_z | \rho_S(t) | \uparrow_z \rangle = \overline{\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{i\Delta}{2}\right)^{2n} \int_{t_0}^t dt_{2n} \dots \int_{t_0}^{t_2} dt_1 \prod_{j=1}^{2n} V(t_j)}.$$
 (2.35)

We remark that Eq. (2.35) has the form of a time-ordered exponential, averaged over stochastic variables, so that we finally have:

$$\langle \uparrow_z | \rho_S(t) | \uparrow_z \rangle = \overline{\langle \Phi_f | \Phi(t) \rangle}, \qquad (2.36)$$

where  $\langle \Phi_f | = (e^{-k(t_{2n})}, 0, 0, 0)$  and  $|\Phi\rangle$  is the solution of the Stochastic Schrödinger Equation (SSE),

$$i\partial_t |\Phi\rangle = V(t)|\Phi\rangle \tag{2.37}$$

with initial condition  $|\Phi_i\rangle = (e^{k(t_0)}, 0, 0, 0)^T$ .

The vector  $|\Phi(t)\rangle$  represents the double spin state which characterizes the spin density matrix. The vectors  $|\Phi_i\rangle$  and  $|\Phi_f\rangle$  are related to the initial and final conditions of the paths. As spin paths start and end in the sojourn state A, only the first component of these vectors is non-zero. The choice of the phases is linked to the asymmetry between blips and sojourns (see Eq. (2.27)). The contribution from the first sojourn is encoded in  $|\Phi_i\rangle$ , and we artificially suppress the contribution of the last sojourn via  $|\Phi_f\rangle$ . This final vector depends on an intermediate time, but we can notice that replacing  $(e^{-k(t_{2n})}, 0, 0, 0)$  by  $(e^{-k(t)}, 0, 0, 0)$  does not add any contribution on average. Generalization of the procedure to compute the other elements of the spin-reduced density matrix for an arbitrary spin initial state is straightforward, and leads to the general result presented at the beginning of the chapter.

The resolution protocol requires a large number of realizations of the fields h and k. For each realization, we solve the stochastic equation and the spin density matrix is obtained by averaging over the results of all the realizations. The authors of Refs. [98–100] used a similar stochastic decoupling directly on the expression (2.20), before the blip and sojourn rewriting. The stochastic processes relevant in this case obey correlation relations similar to Eqs. (2.30,2.31,2.32) where  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  replace  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$ . They reached an effective stochastic Liouville equation for the density matrix. This technique has notably been used to compute the dynamics for the Morse oscillator [101].

## II Properties of the SSE equation

We characterize some properties of the SSE equation and verify its relevance to describe the dynamics of an open quantum system.

#### **II.1** Non-unitarity and trace preservation

As they verify complex-valued correlations given by Eqs. (2.30-2.32), the stochastic fields h and k are complex numbers and have both a real and an imaginary part. Thus, the effective Hamiltonian V for the density matrix is not hermitian. As a consequence, the evolution is not unitary and the norm of the vector  $|\Phi\rangle$  (which gives the density matrix norm  $||\rho(t)|| = [1/2(1 + \langle \sigma^x(t) \rangle^2 + \langle \sigma^y(t) \rangle^2 + \langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle^2)]^{1/2}$  when averaged) is not conserved over time. This is not surprising for the description of an open system subject to decoherence. The time evolution may bring the system from a pure quantum state with  $||\rho|| = 1$  to a mixed state with  $||\rho|| < 1$ .

The trace of the density matrix at time t is given by  $\overline{e^{k(t)}\Phi_1(t) + e^{-k(t)}\Phi_4(t)}$ . One can verify from equations (2.34) and (2.37) that  $d\left\{\overline{e^{k(t)}\Phi_1(t) + e^{-k(t)}\Phi_4(t)}\right\} = 0$  for all t if  $\overline{dk(t)} = 0$  (or more simply in the discretized version of the process, if  $\overline{k_j - k_{j-1}} = 0$ ). In order to check that the SSE equation is trace-preserving on average, one needs to properly define the stochastic processes h and k. This is done in Appendix D, where we notably focus on the sampling procedure and present two options.

- It seems first natural to take advantage of the translational invariance of equations (2.30-2.32) and use Fourier series decomposition of the functions  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$ . Fourier sampling constitues our first option and was already introduced in Refs. [124, 125].
- The will to give a precise definition of the stochastic processes *h* and *k* lead to a description in relation with Autoregressive models frequently used in statistics and signal processing. This constitutes our second sampling method.

We find that the SSE is indeed trace preserving on average, but the trace is however not constant for each realization, exluding then the interpretation of each trajectory in terms of a real physical process.

#### **II.2** Dynamical sign problem

The non-unitarity of the SSE equation may lead to convergence problems when increasing the spin-environment coupling. The presence of a non-zero real part in the expression of the stochastic fields engenders generally an exponential slowing down of the convergence when increasing spin-bath coupling. This is the well-known dynamical sign problem occuring for real-time numerical methods. The SSE is not an exception. In particular cases however, this dynamical sign problem can be dealt with. We will show below that the SSE method gives reliable results for:

- the Rabi model, even in the strong coupling regime  $g/\omega_0 \simeq 1$ .
- ohmic systems in the scaling limit characterized by  $0 < \alpha < 1/2$  and  $\Delta/\omega_c \ll 1$ .

Generalizing its use in other cases such as the sub-ohmic and super-ohmic spinboson model remains however an open question.

In the general case, one may try to minimize the real part of the fields in the sampling in order to improve convergence. In particular, the constants are chosen such that  $\overline{\mathcal{R}h}(t) = \overline{\mathcal{R}k}(t) = 0$ . It is however not possible to simultaneously reduce the variance of the real parts at will, as they are contrained by Eq. (2.31). In practice, we choose a naturally symetric allocation between the two fields h and k due to Fourier development.

#### **II.3** Formulation in terms of a Stochastic Master equation

The SSE equation (2.6) can be formulated in terms of spin jump operators dressed by stochastic fields, by analogy to standard master equations. Considering the matrix version of  $|\Phi\rangle$ 

$$\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_1 & \Phi_2 \\ \Phi_3 & \Phi_4 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{2.38}$$

we have more precisely

$$i\partial_t \Phi = \frac{\Delta}{2} \left( e^{h-k} \Phi \sigma_+ + e^{-h+k} \Phi \sigma_- - e^{h+k} \sigma_+ \Phi - e^{-h-k} \sigma_- \Phi \right).$$
(2.39)

The density matrix  $\rho$  is obtained from (2.39) after a stochastic averaging.

#### II.4 NIBA from the SSE

We can recover NIBA equation by considering from Eq. (2.6), using an independence hypothesis. The equation obtained with this derivation bears similarities with the one obtained in Sec. II.5. From Eq. (2.6), one can indeed reach the closed form

$$\partial_t \left[ \psi_1 - \psi_4 \right] = -\frac{\Delta^2}{2} \int_{t_0}^t ds \Big\{ \psi_1(s) \left[ e^{-h(t) - k(t) + h(s) - k(s)} + e^{h(t) - k(t) - h(s) - k(s)} \right] \\ - \psi_4(s) \left[ e^{-h(t) + k(t) + h(s) + k(s)} + e^{h(t) + k(t) - h(s) + k(s)} \right] \Big\}.$$
(2.40)

In this form, stochastic operators h and k play the role of the bath operators  $\Omega$  of Eq. (1.72). Taking the stochastic average with an independence hypothesis on the products appearing on the right hand side of (2.40) leads to NIBA equation (1.73). The independence hypothesis is equivalent to the decoupling in the expectation values used to derive NIBA with the Heisenberg equations of motion.

#### II.5 Relation to other methods

We show in Fig. 2.3 a table which aims to summarize the links that can be made between the SSE equations and other related methods based on the same grounds.



Figure 2.3: Relations to other methods.

# III Application : dynamics in the quantum Rabi model

We test this framework on the well-known Rabi model studied in Section I. We show that the SSE method gives reliable results in this simple case, even in the strong coupling regime where the RWA approximation breaks down. We use this simple example to illustrate that the SSE method also allows to take into account driving terms and particle losses in an exact manner. The Rabi model corresponds to a spectral function of the form

$$J(\omega) = \pi g^2 \delta(\omega - \omega_0). \tag{2.41}$$

#### **III.1** Strong coupling regime

Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{Rabi}$  defined in Eq. (1.10) is obtained from Eq. (2.1) by considering a coupling to one bosonic mode, after a  $\pi/2$  rotation of axis (Oy), generated by  $\exp(-i\pi/4\sigma^y)$ . The identification is complete provided that we change the sign in front of the transverse field  $(-\Delta \to \Delta)$ .

#### III.1.a From the Jaynes-Cummings regime to the adiabatic regime

As studied in detail in Ref. [123], the SSE gives correct results in the Jaynes-Cummings regime. Numerical results at higher coupling are also consistent with the analytical expression which quantify the effects of counter-rotating terms in perturbation theory, as can be seen on the left panel of Fig. 2.4. The presence of the counter-rotating terms in the quantum Rabi model gives rise at second order in perturbation theory to a shift of the resonance frequency between the atom and photon, leading to an additional negative detuning  $\overline{\delta} = -g^2/[2(\omega_0 + \Delta)]$  when  $\Delta < \omega_0$  [127]. In Fig. 2.4, we also show numerical results in the adiabatic regime presented in Sec. I.2.c, characterized by  $\Delta/\omega_0 \ll 1$ . Starting from the initial state  $|\uparrow_z\rangle \otimes |0\rangle$ , it is possible to compute the revival probability of this state, which reads  $p = \exp\left[-g^2/\omega_0^2|e^{-i\omega_0 t} - 1|^2\right]$  [128]. This evolution engenders periodic collapses and revivals of  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$ .

After this basic test, we use the single-mode case to introduce drive and dissipation in the SSE framework.

#### **III.2** Drive and photon losses

It is actually possible to consider both photon leakage out of the cavity and driving. Photon losses can be incorporated by considering an imaginary part to the photon frequency. This leads to a change in the coupling functions  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  [123].

The effect of a coherent semi-classical drive can be treated exactly by formally substituting  $\Sigma(t)$  by  $(\Sigma(t) + V(t))$  in the path integral approach. This is simply reflected by the appearance of a new coupling term. Assuming V(t) to be of the form  $V_0 \cos \omega_d t$  and beginning the procedure at time  $t_0$ , the functional  $F[\Sigma, \Sigma']$  is changed into  $F^d[\Sigma, \Sigma']$  which reads, for  $t \ge t_0$ :

$$F^{d}[\Sigma, \Sigma'] = e^{\left[2iV_{0}g\int_{t_{0}}^{t} ds\int_{t_{0}}^{s} ds' \sin \omega_{0}(s-s')\xi(s)\cos \omega_{d}s'\right]}F[\Sigma, \Sigma'].$$
 (2.42)

The new contribution can be taken into account exactly. For example, if  $\omega_d \neq \omega_0$ , one subtitutes  $h_d$  to h with

$$h_d(t) = h(t) + \frac{2iV_0g\omega_0}{\omega_d^2 - \omega_0^2} \left\{ \frac{\sin\left[\omega_0 t + (\omega_0 + \omega_d)t_0\right]}{\omega_0} + \frac{\sin\omega_d t}{\omega_d} \right\}.$$
 (2.43)



Figure 2.4: Left: (a) JC ladder of polaritons. (b) Absolute value of the Bloch-Siegert shift  $|\overline{\delta}|$  versus  $g/\omega_0$ , perturbation theory in red [127], and results from our method in blue (dots). (c) Example of dynamics of  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$  with the initial condition  $|\uparrow_z\rangle$ , which is a linear superposition of  $|1-\rangle$  and  $|1+\rangle$ , for quite strong couplings. Parameters are set to  $g/\omega_0 = 0.7$ ,  $\Delta/\omega_0 = 0.2$ . The Rabi solution from our method is shown in dashed blue; within the RWA, the JC solution would rather read  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle = 1 - 2g^2 \sin^2 \left(\sqrt{g^2 + \delta^2}t/2\right)/(g^2 + \delta^2)$  and is shown in red. Right: far detuned or adiabatic limit of the Rabi model:  $g/\omega_0$  from 0.7 (green) to 1.5 (yellow) and  $\Delta/\omega_0 = 0.05$ . The system is prepared in the initial state  $|\uparrow_z\rangle \otimes |0\rangle$  and the revival probability of the initial state can be computed exactly in this limit [128]. The positions of the maxima only depend on the cavity frequency  $\omega_0$ .

It is also possible to consider the drive term with a RWA-type approximation  $V_0/2 \left(ae^{i\omega_d t} + a^{\dagger}e^{-i\omega_d t}\right)$ , which only results for  $\omega_d \neq \omega_0$  in the replacement of  $2V_0g\omega_0/(\omega_d^2 - \omega_0^2)$  by  $V_0g/(\omega_d - \omega_0)$  in Eq. (2.43).

#### III.2.a Polariton $\pi$ -pulse

As an application, we present a driven protocol allowing to reach quantitatively a polariton state in the detuned regime  $\Delta < \omega_0$ . We set the drive frequency  $\omega_d$  to match exactly the energy difference between the ground state and the first polariton (which has a greater "atomic" component, due to the negative detuning). In the limit of infinitely small drive  $V_0/g \ll 1$  the dynamics shows complete semi-classical Bloch oscillations of frequency  $\alpha_1 V_0/2$  between these two levels; with  $\alpha_1 = [(A - \delta_r)/2A]^{1/2}$  and  $A = \sqrt{g^2 + \delta^2}$ . This is due to the anharmonicity of the Jaynes-Cummings ladder:  $E_{|1-\rangle} - E_{|g\rangle} \neq E_{|2-\rangle} - E_{|1-\rangle}$ . Driving with frequency  $\omega_d = E_{|1-\rangle} - E_{|g\rangle}$  triggers then predominantly one-photon excitations, resulting in the photon-blockade phenomenon (or polariton blockade). As the drive frequency does not match the energy difference between  $|1-\rangle$  and  $|2-\rangle$ , no additional excitations occur at low drive strength. This blockade is often quantified by the measure of the quantity  $g^{(2)}(\tau) = \langle a^{\dagger}(t)a^{\dagger}(t + \tau)a(t+\tau)a(t)\rangle/(\langle a^{\dagger}(t)a^{\dagger}(t+\tau)\rangle\langle a(t+\tau)a(t)\rangle)$ . For a classical field, one has  $g^{(2)}(0) \geq 1$  while  $g^{(2)}(0) < 1$  for a non-classical state (with in particular  $g^{(2)}(0) = 0$  for a single photon-state). However, the switch-off time  $t_s$  necessary to bring the system into the

state  $|1-\rangle$  with this weak drive protocol is typically longer than the decoherence time. This forbids then such an operation.



Figure 2.5: Left panel: Dynamics of the mean number of polaritons  $\langle N(t) \rangle$  in the weak-coupling g limit without dissipation. Parameters are  $g/\omega_0 = 0.02$ ,  $\Delta/\omega_0 = 0.9$  and  $V_0/\omega_0 = 0.1$ . From the ground state, the system is brought into a non-trivial polaritonic final state by driving the cavity. The black dashed line refers to the moment when the AC coherent drive is switched off. Inset: Standard deviation with the same parameters. Right panel: Dynamics of  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$ . The blue curve is the ideal dissipationless case. The dashed red curve is for  $\Gamma = 10^{-5}$  and the dotted green curve for  $5.10^{-4}$ .

One could then imagine to increase the strength of the drive. The price to pay for an increase of the drive strength is the interplay of the upper levels. The anharmonicity of the JC ladder makes it possible to quantitatively reach the first polariton beyond the linear response limit. We use both the anharmonicity of the JC ladder (resulting in "polariton blockade") and destructive interference for upper levels. The mean number of polaritons  $\langle N \rangle = \langle a^{\dagger} a \rangle + (\langle \sigma^z \rangle + 1)/2$  and the standard deviation associated with this observable is shown in Fig. (2.5)-left panel. We check this result with the SSE approach and study the influence of dissipation (see right panel of Fig. (2.5)). The order of magnitude of the time  $t_s$  at which we stop the drive enables us to minimize the effect of dissipation. At weak dissipation (essentially  $\Gamma \leq 10^{-4}$ ), we can see that it is possible to realize temporarily an almost pure polaritonic state on one cavity (it corresponds to an "atom"-like polariton). The protocol that we have presented here is an analog of a standard  $\pi$ -pulse in terms of polaritons. The more anharmonic the JC ladder, the more efficient it is. This is not surprising as this driving scheme becomes exactly a standard atomic  $\pi$  pulse in the infinitely detuned limit.

This protocol could be used simultaneously on all the site of a cavity array, to "implement" the system in a non-trivial polaritonic state. If the hopping between cavities is weak enough, its effect can be disregarded during the rather short time needed to bring each driven cavity in a non-trivial polariton state [129]. Dealing with the driven array problem at a general level remains however difficult, and no known protocols permits to explore precisely the expected out-of-equilibrium Mott physics. In this section, we have tested the SSE framework on the well-known Rabi model and its driven version. We showed that numerical convergence is ensured for the free dynamics during several periods, until quite large light-matter coupling  $g/\omega_0 \simeq 1$ . Above this threshold, the dynamical sign problem hampers numerical convergence, even in this simple case of one mode. The situation is even more problematic for continuous spectral functions associated with an infinite number of modes. In most cases, it is not possible to access the long-time dynamics with the SSE. There exists however situations for which we can overcome this dynamical sign problem, for example for the ohmic spinboson model in the scaling regime characterized by  $\Delta/\omega_c \ll 1$ and  $0 < \alpha < 1/2$ .

## IV Application: dynamics in the ohmic spinboson model

The ohmic spinboson model is actually the first model on which the SSE framework was tested, see Refs. [124, 125]. In the scaling regime, results presented in Sec. I simplify and one only needs one unique *purely imaginary* stochastic field h to access quantitatively the dynamics, as we show below, following Refs. [124, 125].

For an ohmic spectral density given by Eq. (1.49) with s = 1,  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  functions read at zero temperature,

$$Q_1(t) = \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{J(\omega)}{\omega^2} \sin \omega t = 2\pi \alpha \tan^{-1}(\omega_c t), \qquad (2.44)$$

$$Q_2(t) = \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{J(\omega)}{\omega^2} \left(1 - \cos \omega t\right) = \pi \alpha \log(1 + \omega_c^2 t^2).$$
(2.45)

We know from the analysis carried out in Chapter I that the characteristic spin-flip time  $t_s$  is given by  $t_s \sim 1/\Delta_r \geq 1/\Delta$  at finite  $\alpha$ . For times  $t \sim t_s$ , Eq. (2.44) then simplifies to  $Q_1(t) \simeq \pi^2 \alpha$ . A more refined analysis, carried out in Appendix D of Ref. [62], shows that this approximation is well controlled only for  $0 \leq \alpha < 1/2$ .

Eq. (2.27) is then changed to

$$\mathcal{F}_{n} = \exp\left[i\pi\alpha\sum_{k=0}^{2n-1}\sum_{j=k+1}^{2n}\Xi_{j}\Upsilon_{k}\right]\exp\left[\frac{1}{\pi}\sum_{k=1}^{2n-1}\sum_{j=k+1}^{2n}\Xi_{j}\Xi_{k}Q_{2}(t_{j}-t_{k})\right].$$
 (2.46)

We only need field h to decouple the interaction, and the summation over blips and sojourns in the first term of the right-hand side of Eq. (2.46) can be accounted for by considering for V the following matrix,

$$V = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{-h} & -e^{h} & 0\\ e^{i\pi\alpha}e^{h} & 0 & 0 & -e^{-i\pi\alpha}e^{h}\\ -e^{-i\pi\alpha}e^{-h} & 0 & 0 & e^{i\pi\alpha}e^{-h}\\ 0 & -e^{-h} & e^{h} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.47)

As was stated in Ref. [125], the Fourier coefficients of  $Q_2$  in Eq. (2.45) are all negative, leading naturally to a *purely imaginary* field h. Similarly, the second sampling procedure presented in Appendix D also leads to a *purely imaginary* field h. This simplification enabled the authors of Refs. [124, 125] to study quantitatively the free dynamics of the ohmic spinboson model in the scaling regime. We can refine this scaling regime simplification by writing  $Q_1(t) = \pi^2 \alpha + [Q_1(t) - \pi^2 \alpha]$ . We take into account the constant part as exposed above while the remaining part  $[Q_1(t) - \pi^2 \alpha]$  is decomposed into Fourier series and generates a field k.

#### **IV.1** Free dynamics and comparison with Bethe Ansatz results

We first study the dynamics of the Rabi-Spinboson model of Ref. [123] which describes the dynamics of the Rabi model with dissipation described microscopically,

$$\mathcal{H}_{R-SB} = \frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma^x + \sigma^z \sum_k \frac{\lambda_k}{2} (b_k + b_k^{\dagger}) + \sum_k \omega_k \left( b_k^{\dagger} b_k + \frac{1}{2} \right) + \sigma^z \frac{g}{2} (a + a^{\dagger}) + \omega_0 \left( a^{\dagger} a + \frac{1}{2} \right)$$
(2.48)

This Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_{R-SB}$  would correspond to a spectral function

$$J(\omega) = \pi g^2 \delta(\omega - \omega_0) + 2\pi \alpha \omega e^{-\frac{\omega}{\omega_c}}.$$
 (2.49)

After some damped Rabi oscillations, the system relaxes to a final state with  $\langle \sigma^x \rangle = 0$ , and  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$  which can be compared to Bethe Ansatz calculations [66, 70, 71, 130, 131]. Both the short time dynamics and the equilibrium properties are then accessible within the SSE framework.

We present now an additional analysis carried out close to the coherent-incoherent crossover zone (around  $\alpha = 1/2$ ).

#### IV.2 Coherent-incoherent crossover around $\alpha = 1/2$

We now focus on the same dynamical problem than in Chapter I Sec. II.5, i.e. the time evolution of  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$  from the initial state  $|\uparrow_z\rangle \otimes |0\rangle$  for the ohmic spinboson model. It is known that the NIBA predictions concerning the incoherent behaviour of  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$  are erroneous. By contrast, it is established that the time evolution of  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$  changes from a coherent oscillatory regime for  $\alpha < 1/2$  to a incoherent monotonically decaying regime for  $1/2 \leq \alpha < 1$ . The point  $\alpha = 1/2$ , also known as Toulouse point, is exactly solvable and one finds  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle = \exp[-\pi \Delta^2/2\omega_c(t-t_0)]$  [63].

Conformal Field Theory calculations [132] predicted a purely exponential decay for  $\alpha < 1/2$ , while corrections to NIBA [133] predicted a incoherent part of the form  $-2(1/2 - \alpha) \exp[-\Delta_r t/2]/[\Delta_r (t - t_0)]^{2(1-\alpha)}$ . Recent works [134, 135] have focused on this issue using real-time RG and functional RG techniques. For  $1/2 - \alpha \ll 1$  they



Figure 2.6: Dynamics of  $\langle \sigma^x \rangle$  with the initial condition  $|\uparrow\rangle$  which is a linear superposition of the first two polaritons (note the axis difference for the Rabi coupling). We consider  $g/\omega_0 = 0.01$ ,  $\Delta/\omega_0 = 0.97$ ,  $\omega_c/\omega_0 = 100$  and several values of  $\alpha$  until  $\alpha \approx 0.1$ . We observe a relaxation towards a non-trivial final state by increasing  $\alpha$  and the value of  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$  is in accordance with Bethe Ansatz calculations [66, 70, 71, 130, 131].

found in particular a result in agreement with the presence of an incoherent dynamics, as  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$  shows only a finite number of zeros.

We show in Fig. (2.7) results obtained with the SSE equation in this region. These



Figure 2.7: Coherent-to-incoherent crossover. Evolution of  $\ln |\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle|$ . The black curve corresponds to  $\alpha = 0.45$ , and the yellow curve corresponds to the Toulouse limit.

results would also suggest that  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$  only vanishes a finite number of times when approaching the  $\alpha = 1/2$  point. Obtaining reliable numerical results at long times is however difficult as one needs to reach a very high precision. As stated earlier, the case of two spins will be easier to investigate as the dissipative quantum phase transition occurs for a smaller value of  $\alpha$ . We will study the incoherent regime in more details for this particular case in Chapter 3.

#### IV.3 Landau-Zener transitions

In Ref. [125], the authors investigated the non-equilibrium behavior of the system system under a linear driving term  $\epsilon(t)/2\sigma^z$ , when the system is initially prepared in the ground state of the system. The linear passage, corresponding to  $\epsilon(t) = \epsilon_0 + v(t - t_0)$ with  $(v > 0), -\epsilon_0/\Delta \gg 1$ , is known as Landau-Zener problem. Landau [136], Zener [137], Stueckelberg [138] and Majorana [139] provided an analytical description of this problem in the case of an isolated two-level system subject to a linear sweep ( $\alpha = 0$ ). The survival probability  $p_{lz}$  that the spin remains in its initial state after the sweep, is fully determined by the velocity of the sweep v, and we have  $p_{lz} = \exp[-\pi\Delta^2/2v]$ . It was shown in Refs. [140, 141] that the presence of a gaussian dissipative bath does not affect the transition probability in the case of the Landau-Zener sweep for one single spin, as long as the coupling is along the z-direction. This result was confirmed numerically with the SSE approach in Refs. [125] and [124].

#### IV.4 Mean field Landau Zener transitions in a dissipative spin array

We complement this Landau-Zener study and consider now an array of M spins coupled to the same dissipative bath. We note recent progress concerning the dynamical study of dissipative spin arrays by coupling Matrix Product States and Operators techniques to quantum trajectories formalism [142,143]. In our case of the SSE, the problem is not directly tractable numerically and we treat the interactions between spins at a mean-field level. We will show in that case that the presence of a gaussian dissipative bath *does* affect the transition probability. This observation will be explained by the effect of the Ising-like interaction between spins, mediated by the bath. We will quantify this effect with the help of Kibble-Zurek mechanism. This study was done in our Ref. [144].

Let us first show how one can describe mean-field effects in the SSE formalism, to compute the spin dynamics for the multi spinboson problem described by the following Hamiltonian,

$$\mathcal{H}_{SB}^{M} = \frac{\Delta}{2} \sum_{p=1}^{M} \sigma_{p}^{x} + \sum_{p=1}^{M} \sum_{k} \lambda_{k} e^{ikx_{p}} \left( b_{-k}^{\dagger} + b_{k} \right) \frac{\sigma_{p}^{z}}{2} + \sum_{k} \omega_{k} b_{k}^{\dagger} b_{k}.$$
(2.50)

#### IV.4.a Mean-field approximation in the SSE framework

For clarity, we consider the case where all the spins initially in the state  $|\uparrow_z\rangle$  so that  $\rho_S(t_0) = \prod_{j=1}^M |\uparrow_{z,j}\rangle\langle\uparrow_{z,j}|$ , and we seek to compute elements  $\langle\sigma_f|\rho_S(t)|\sigma'_f\rangle$  at a given

time  $t \ge t_0$ , where we define the *M*-dimensional spin vector  $|\sigma\rangle = |\sigma_1, \sigma_2, ..., \sigma_M\rangle$ . The time-evolution of the spin reduced density matrix can be then re-expressed as,

$$\langle \sigma_f | \rho_S(t) | \sigma'_f \rangle = \int D\Sigma D\Sigma' \exp\left\{ i \left[ S_{\Sigma} - S_{\Sigma'} \right] \right\} \mathcal{F}_{[\Sigma, \Sigma']}.$$
 (2.51)

The integration runs over all *M*-dimensional constant by part paths  $\Sigma$  and  $\Sigma'$ such that  $\Sigma_j(t_0) = \Sigma'_j(t_0) = +1$  for all j and  $\sigma_j^z |\sigma_{j,f}\rangle = \Sigma_j(t) |\sigma_{j,f}\rangle$ ,  $\sigma_j'^z |\sigma'_{j,f}\rangle =$  $\Sigma'_j(t) |\sigma'_{j,f}\rangle$ .  $S_{\Sigma}$  denotes the free action to follow one given *M*-dimensional spin path without the environment. This free action contains the transverse field terms, and the Ising interaction terms. The effect of the environment is fully contained in the influence functional  $\mathcal{F}_{[\Sigma,\Sigma']}$ , which reads in this case:

$$\mathcal{F}_{[\Sigma,\Sigma']} = e^{\int_{t_0}^t ds \int_{t_0}^s ds' \sum_{i,j} \left\{ \frac{i\mathcal{L}_1(s-s',x_i-x_j)}{\pi} \xi_i(s)\eta_j(s') - \frac{i\mathcal{L}_2(s-s',x_i-x_j)}{\pi} \xi_i(s)\xi_j(s') \right\}} \mathcal{G}[\Sigma,\Sigma'], \quad (2.52)$$

with  $\xi_j(s) = [\Sigma_j(s) - \Sigma'_j(s)]/2$  and  $\eta_j(s) = [\Sigma_j(s) + \Sigma'_j(s)]/2$ . We have,

$$\mathcal{L}_1(t,x) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ L_1\left(t - \frac{x}{v_s}\right) + L_1\left(t + \frac{x}{v_s}\right) \right]$$
$$\mathcal{L}_2(t,x) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ L_2\left(t - \frac{x}{v_s}\right) + L_2\left(t + \frac{x}{v_s}\right) \right]. \tag{2.53}$$

The bosonic environment couples the symmetric and anti-symmetric spin paths  $\eta^p(t) = 1/2[\Sigma_p(t) + \Sigma'_p(t)]$  and  $\xi^p(t) = 1/2[\Sigma_p(t) - \Sigma'_p(t)]$  at different times and different lattice sites. In Fig. 2.8, we plot the space and time coupling functions  $\mathcal{L}_1$  (bottom left) and  $\mathcal{L}_2$  (bottom right). We see that the bosons induce a long-range interaction between spins. The maximal effect between two spins separated by a distance x occurs after a time  $x/v_s$ , due to the finite sound velocity  $v_s$  of the excitations.

The last term of Eq. (2.52) reads

$$\mathcal{G}[\sigma,\sigma'] = e^{i\frac{\mu}{2}\int_{t_0}^t ds \left[\sum_j \frac{\Sigma_j(s)}{2} e^{ikx_j}\right]^2 - \left[\sum_j \frac{\Sigma_j'(s)}{2} e^{ikx_j}\right]^2},$$
(2.54)

with  $\mu = 2/\pi \int_0^\infty J(\omega)/\omega$ . We recover that the bath is responsible for an *ferromagnetic* Ising-like interaction between the spins  $K'_{|j-p|} = 1/(2\pi) \int_0^\infty J(\omega)/\omega \cos[(x_i - x_j)/v_s]$ . We plot on the top panel of Fig. 2.8 the value of  $K'_{|j-p|}$  with respect to  $x\omega_c/v_s$ , where  $x = x_i - x_j$  is the distance between the two sites *i* and *j*.

The bath is responsible for two distinct types of interactions. The first one is a retarded interaction mediated by the bosonic excitations, which travel at the speed  $v_s$ . The second one is an instantaneous interaction K', which we already found thanks to the polaronic transformation in Eq. (1.70).

We now proceed to the mean-field decoupling. The spins are coupled through three different terms: the instantaneous direct Ising interaction of strength K, the instantaneous interaction mediated by the bath in  $\mathcal{G}$ , and the retarded interaction



Figure 2.8: Top: Evolution of the direct Ising interaction which is induced by the presence of the bath between two spins distant of x, as a function of  $x\omega_c/v_s$ . Bottom: Space-time dependency of the coupling functions  $\mathcal{L}_1$  (left) and  $\mathcal{L}_2$  (right). The bath induces a long-range interaction between spins.

mediated by the bath whose expression is given by the first term of the right hand side of Eq. (2.52). We will treat instantaneous spin-spin interactions at a mean field level, and in the limit  $\omega_c a/v_s \ll 1$ , where a is the lattice spacing, we see that the retarded interactions have no effect between different spins at a mean field level, since we have  $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \mathcal{L}_1(s, x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \mathcal{L}_2(s, x) = 0$ . In the following, we then neglect the retarded interaction between different spins, and only conserve the retarded self-interaction. Finally the propagation integral can be factorized in a product of individual matrix elements, so that it is possible to write:

$$\langle \sigma_{p,f} | \rho_{S,p}(t) | \sigma'_{p,f} \rangle = \int D\Sigma_p D\Sigma'_p A_p[\Sigma_p] A_p[\Sigma'_p]^* \mathcal{F}_p[\Sigma_p, \Sigma'_p] e^{-iK_r \int_{t_0}^t ds \left[ \Sigma_p(s) - \Sigma'_p(s) \right] \langle \sigma_p^z(s) \rangle}$$

$$\tag{2.55}$$

where  $\rho_{S,p}$  denotes the density matrix of spin p.  $A_p[\Sigma_p]$  denotes the amplitude to follow a given path for the spin p in the sole presence of the transverse field. We have  $K_r = 2\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} K'_j$ . The remaining term  $\mathcal{F}_p[\Sigma_p, \Sigma'_p]$  encapsulates the effect of the bosonic bath on the spin p,

$$\mathcal{F}_p[\Sigma_p, \Sigma_p'] = \exp\Big\{\int_{t_0}^t ds \int_{t_0}^s ds' \frac{i}{\pi} L_1(s-s')\xi^p(s)\eta^p(s') - \frac{1}{\pi} L_2(s-s')\xi^p(s)\xi^p(s')\Big\}.$$
(2.56)

#### IV. APPLICATION: DYNAMICS IN THE OHMIC SPINBOSON MODEL

We will drop the p index in the following, as all the sites are equivalent in the mean-field description. Following the same steps as for the one-spin case, we focus on the computation of  $\langle \uparrow_z | \rho_S(t) | \uparrow_z \rangle$  and reach the same expression than for one spin (see Eq. (2.27)), with the influence functional being

$$\mathcal{F}_{n} = \exp\left[\frac{i}{\pi} \sum_{k=0}^{2n-1} \sum_{j=k+1}^{2n} \Xi_{j} \Upsilon_{k} Q_{1}(t_{j} - t_{k})\right] \exp\left[\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k=1}^{2n-1} \sum_{j=k+1}^{2n} \Xi_{j} \Xi_{k} Q_{2}(t_{j} - t_{k})\right] \mathcal{Q}_{3}.$$
(2.57)

with

$$\mathcal{Q}_3 = \exp\left[-2iK_r \sum_{j=1}^{2n} \Xi_j \int_{t_0}^{t_j} ds \langle \sigma^z(s) \rangle\right].$$
(2.58)

We then reach for  $\langle \uparrow_z | \rho_S(t) | \uparrow_z \rangle$  the same expression as the one obtained in Eq. (2.36), with the same final vector and  $|\phi\rangle$  solution of the SSE (2.6), with the effective Hamiltonian given by (2.34) provided that we add to the stochastic field h the field  $h_I$  defined by  $h_I(t) = -2iK_r \int_{t_0}^t ds \langle \sigma^z(s) \rangle$ . We have then reached a self consistent equation, as  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$  enters in the expression of  $h_I(t)$ . The numerical procedure requires a larger number of realizations of the field h and k compared to the one-spin case. For each realization, we solve the stochastic equation and  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$  is obtained by averaging over the results. The effect of  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$  in  $h_I(t)$  is dynamically updated with the number of samplings.

We use this mean-field method to study the effect of a Landau-Zener sweep simultaneously applied to all the spins. It corresponds to adding a term of the form  $\sum_{i=1}^{M} \epsilon(t) \sigma_i^z/2$  with  $\epsilon(t) = \epsilon_0 + v(t-t_0)$  with  $(v > 0), -\epsilon_0/\Delta \gg 1$  to the Hamiltonian.

#### IV.4.b LZ transitions : Array

Let us first underline that this protocol is different from the dynamical transition of the quantum Ising model in transverse field with nearest neighbours interactions studied in the literature [145,146] (and references therein), where the driving parameter is the transverse field and which can be studied elegantly in k space. Here, we are interested in the dynamics of local spin variables at a mean field level. A rigorous description of the dynamics should involve all the energy levels of the system, and their respective avoided crossings. Our mean-field description greatly simplifies the problem and the interplay of all the levels is in fact reduced to a single avoided crossing governed by the local self-consistent Hamiltonian,

$$H_j = \frac{\Delta}{2}\sigma_j^x + \left[\frac{\epsilon(t)}{2} - K_r \langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle\right] \sigma_j^z + \sum_k \left[\lambda_k e^{ikx_j} \left(b_{-k}^{\dagger} + b_k\right) \frac{\sigma_j^z}{2} + \omega_k b_k^{\dagger} b_k\right]. \quad (2.59)$$

The presence of the Ising interaction  $K_r$  lead to a change in the final value of  $\langle \sigma^z(t \to \infty) \rangle$ . This effect can be described by a Kibble-Zurek argument [149, 150] in



Figure 2.9: Left: schematic interpretation of the Landau-Zener sweep for the array in the framework of the Kibble-Zurek mechanism. The line (AD) shows the evolution of the bare bias field with respect to time, while the broken line connecting points B and C represents the effective bias field. The lines are full during the adiabatic stages, and dashed during the frozen (non-adiabatic) period. Right: Fast sweep  $(v/\Delta^2 = 8)$  in the array, for different values of  $\alpha$  corresponding to  $K_r = 0$  (red curve),  $K_r = 2$  (green curve),  $K_r = 4$  (yellow curve),  $K_r = 6$  (blue curve),  $K_r = 8$  (magenta curve) and  $K_r =$ 10 (cyan curve). We have  $\omega_c = 100\Delta$ . Inset: the blue points show the values of  $\langle \sigma^z(t \to \infty) \rangle$ with respect to  $K_r/\Delta$ , corresponding to the parameters of the main plot. The green squares correspond to a direct Ising interaction of strength  $K_r$  between spins, without dissipative bath. Such a long-range ferromagnetic Ising interaction between spins can for example be the result of the Van der Waals interaction in Rydberg media [147,148]. The full (dashed) red line shows the expectation value of  $\langle \sigma^z(t \to \infty) \rangle$ with respect to  $K_r/\Delta$  ( $K_r/\Delta_r$ ) deduced from the Kibble-Zurek mechanism.

the case of rapid drive. The single site fast Landau-Zener transition can indeed be described thanks to the Kibble-Zurek mechanism, which predicts the production of topological defects in nonequilibrium phase transitions [146,151,152]. This description splits the dynamics into three consecutive stages: it is supposed to be adiabatic in the first place, then evolves in a non-adiabatic way near the transition point, and finally becomes adiabatic again. The impossibility of the order parameter to follow the change applied on the system provokes this non-adiabatic stage, where the dynamics is said to be "frozen". To determine the boundary between adiabatic and frozen stages, we follow the argument of Ref. [151], inspired by the equation proposed by Zurek in Ref. [150]. The inverse of the energy difference between ground and excited states defines a characteristic time scale  $\tau(t)$  for the system. Following Refs. [150, 151], the dynamics stops being adiabatic when this time scale matches the time  $t_c - t$ , when  $t_c$  is the crossing time defined by  $\epsilon(t_c) = 0$ . This argument leads to a characteristic energy scale [151]

$$\hat{\epsilon} = \Delta/\sqrt{2} \left\{ \left[ 1 + 16v^2/(\pi^2 \Delta^4) \right]^{1/2} - 1 \right\}^{1/2}, \qquad (2.60)$$

which sets the limit between adiabatic and frozen stages (see left panel of Fig. 2.9).

The effective field felt by one site is the sum of the bias field  $\epsilon(t)$  and the Ising interaction, and will be denoted  $\epsilon_{eff}(t)$ . The dynamics always enters in the frozen stage with  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle \simeq 1$ , so that we have  $\epsilon_{eff}(t) = \epsilon(t) - K_r$  during the first adiabatic stage. At the end of the frozen stage, the spin expectation value has changed, and the effective field becomes  $\epsilon_{eff}(t) = \epsilon(t) - K_r \langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$ . This leads to a change of the effective speed at which the frozen zone is crossed through, and ultimately of the transition probability. This can be seen on the left panel of Fig. 2.9, where we show the evolution of both the bare and the effective bias fields with respect to time. We can estimate the renormalization of the effective speed self-consistently thanks to basic geometrical considerations in the trapezoid (*ABCD*) of Fig. 2.9 (left panel). The effective crossing speed is given by

$$v_{eff} = \frac{\hat{\epsilon}(v) + \hat{\epsilon}(v_{eff})}{t_C(v_{eff}) - t_B}.$$
(2.61)

The denominator can be simplified by writing that  $t_C(v_{eff}) - t_B = [t_C(v_{eff}) - t_D] + (t_D - t_A) - (t_B - t_A)$ . We know that  $(t_D - t_A) = [\hat{\epsilon}(v) + \hat{\epsilon}(v_{eff})]/v$ , and  $[t_C(v_{eff}) - t_D] - (t_B - t_A)$  can be expressed as  $-K_r [1 - \langle \sigma^z(t_C, v_{eff}) \rangle]/v$ . Next we suppose that we can approximate  $\langle \sigma^z(t_C, v_{eff}) \rangle$  by  $\langle \sigma^z(t \to \infty) \rangle$ . Altogether, we get

$$\frac{v_{eff}}{v} = \frac{\hat{\epsilon}(v) + \hat{\epsilon}(v_{eff})}{\hat{\epsilon}(v) + \hat{\epsilon}(v_{eff}) - 2K_r \left[1 - p_{lz}(v_{eff})\right]}.$$
(2.62)

It allows us to know the variation of the effective speed  $v_{eff}$  at which the transition is crossed with respect to the Ising interaction  $K_r$ . The spin expectation value  $\langle \sigma^z(t \to \infty) \rangle$  is then estimated thanks to the Landau-Zener formula, and its evolution with respect to  $K_r$  is shown by the red curve in the inset of the right part of Fig. 2.9.

We plot on the right panel of Fig. 2.9 the dynamics obtained with the SSE. We see in the inset that, at small  $\alpha$ , the estimation of the final value of the spin variable thanks to Eq. (2.62) is correct. However, it breaks down when the dissipation strength is increased because the assumption  $\langle \sigma^z(t_C, v_{eff}) \rangle \simeq \langle \sigma^z(t \to \infty) \rangle$  used to derive  $v_{eff}$  is no longer correct. Relaxation processes occur after the crossing of the frozen zone which lower  $\langle \sigma^z(t \to \infty) \rangle$ . This can be seen on the behaviour of the curves obtained at large values of  $\alpha$  (the cyan curve for example), where the spin expectation value continues to go down during a rather long time after the crossing. The dotted red curve takes into account the renormalization of the tunneling frequency  $\Delta_r$  due to the presence of the bath. The bath is also known to affect the dynamical critical exponent z in similar situations [78], which may also contribute to the devitations observed.

In this Chapter, we introduced the SSE framework and applied it to the Rabi model and the ohmic spinboson model. In this latter case, the SSE is however unable to investigate the quantum phase transition occuring at  $\alpha \sim 1$ . As justified in Chapter 1, the critical coupling decreases with the number of spins coupled to the environment. In the next chapter, we extend the SSE to the case of two spins, which enables us to compute the non-equilibrium dynamics in both phases.

# CHAPTER 3

## Dynamics of two coupled spins in an ohmic environment

We focus in this chapter on a spin dimer coherently coupled to one common bath of harmonic oscillators:

$$\mathcal{H}_{dimer} = \frac{\Delta}{2} \sum_{p=1}^{2} \sigma_p^x + \sum_{p=1}^{M} \sum_k \lambda_k e^{ikx_p} \left( b_{-k}^{\dagger} + b_k \right) \frac{\sigma_p^z}{2} - K \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z + \sum_k \omega_k b_k^{\dagger} b_k. \quad (3.1)$$

We recall that this Hamiltonian can be devised in a cold atomic setup (see Chapter 1 Sec. II.4). Coupling two CPB to a common semi-infinite transmission line could also lead to the same Hamiltonian (see Chapter 1 Sec. II.3). We studied this system in our Ref. [144].

In this case of two spins, it is possible to reach an exact linear stochastic differential equation describing the dynamics of the  $(4 \times 4)$  spin reduced density matrix. The case of two spins is particularly interesting as the quantum phase transition from the unpolarized phase to the polarized phase occurs for a smaller value of  $\alpha$ , as justified after the polaron transformation (1.70). While the quantum phase transition was not accessible with the SSE method in the case of one spin ( $\alpha_c = 1$ ), it will be possible to investigate this regime for two spins ( $\alpha_c \simeq 0.2$ ), as shown in Sec. II. Synchronization effects are studied in Sec. III.

## I Extension of the SSE framework to two spins

For the derivation we neglect the spatial separation between sites and consider that the two spins are initially in the state  $|\uparrow_z\rangle$  so that  $\rho_S(t_0) = |\uparrow_z,\uparrow_z\rangle\langle\uparrow_z,\uparrow_z|$ . The time-evolution of a given element  $x = \langle \sigma_{1,f}, \sigma_{2,f} | \rho_S(t) | \sigma_{1,f'}, \sigma_{2,f'} \rangle$  of the spin reduced density matrix can be then re-expressed as,

$$x = \int \prod_{p=1}^{2} \left( D\Sigma_p D\Sigma'_p \right) \prod_{p=1}^{2} \left( \mathcal{A}[\Sigma_p] \mathcal{A}^*[\Sigma'_p] \right) \mathcal{F}[\Sigma_1, \Sigma_2, \Sigma'_1, \Sigma'_2] \\ \times \exp\left\{ i \int_{t_0}^t ds K\left[ \Sigma_1(s) \Sigma_2(s) - \Sigma'_1(s) \Sigma'_2(s) \right] \right\}.$$
(3.2)

The integration runs over all paths  $\Sigma_1$ ,  $\Sigma_2$ ,  $\Sigma'_1$  and  $\Sigma'_2$  such that  $\Sigma_1(t_0) = \Sigma_2(t_0) = \Sigma'_1(t_0) = \Sigma'_2(t_0) = +1$  and  $\sigma_p^z |\sigma_{p,f}\rangle = \Sigma_p(t) |\sigma_{p,f}\rangle$ ,  $\sigma_p^z |\sigma_{p,f'}\rangle = \Sigma'_p(t) |\sigma_{p,f'}\rangle$ . As in the one-spin case, the terms of the form  $\mathcal{A}[\Sigma_p]$  denote the amplitude to follow one given spin path  $\Sigma_p$  in the sole presence of the transverse field term acting on the spin p. The last term of the right hand side of Eq. (3.2) comes from the Ising interaction between the two spins. The influence functional  $f = \mathcal{F}[\Sigma_1, \Sigma_2, \Sigma'_1, \Sigma'_2]$  reads :

$$f = e^{-\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{t_0}^t ds \int_{t_0}^s ds' \sum_{i,j=1}^2 \left\{ -iL_1(s-s') \frac{\Sigma_i(s) - \Sigma_i'(s)}{2} \frac{\Sigma_j(s') + \Sigma_j'(s')}{2} + L_2(s-s') \frac{\Sigma_i(s) - \Sigma_i'(s)}{2} \frac{\Sigma_j(s') - \Sigma_j'(s')}{2} \right\}} \times \mathcal{G}[\Sigma_1, \Sigma_2, \Sigma_1', \Sigma_2'].$$
(3.3)

The additional term  $\mathcal{G}$  in Eq. (3.3) reads :

$$\mathcal{G}[\Sigma_1, \Sigma_2, \Sigma_1', \Sigma_2'] = \exp\left\{i\frac{\mu}{2}\int_{t_0}^t ds \left[\sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{\Sigma_j(s)}{2}\right]^2 - \left[\sum_{j=1}^2 \frac{\Sigma_j'(s)}{2}\right]^2\right\},\tag{3.4}$$

with  $\mu = 2/\pi \int_0^\infty J(\omega)/\omega = 4\alpha\omega_c$ . We recover in Eq. (3.4) that the bath renormalizes the direct Ising interaction between the spins. The term above is indeed similar to the one coming from the direct Ising interaction K (last term of the right hand side of Eq. (3.2)). In the following we gather these two contributions in a functional  $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}$ which reads

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}}[\Sigma_1, \Sigma_2, \Sigma_1', \Sigma_2'] = \exp\left\{i\int_{t_0}^t ds K_r\left[\Sigma_1(s)\Sigma_2(s) - \Sigma_1'(s)\Sigma_2'(s)\right]\right\},\tag{3.5}$$

with  $K_r = K + \alpha \omega_c$  the renormalized Ising interaction.

The paths introduced in Eq. (3.2) can be viewed as one single path that visits the sixteen states corresponding to the matrix elements of the spin-reduced densitymatrix. We will note  $\mathcal{E} = \{AA, AB, AC, AD, BA, BB, BC, BD, CA, CB, CC, CD, DA, DB, DC, DD\}$  the set of these states - the states A, B, C and D have been defined for one spin (see I.2). The four states AA, AD, DA and DD correspond to the diagonal elements of the canonical density matrix, while other states correspond to off-diagonal elements. Let us focus on the computation of  $\langle \uparrow_z, \uparrow_z | \rho_S(t) | \uparrow_z, \uparrow_z \rangle$ , corresponding to the probability to come back in the state  $|\uparrow_z, \uparrow_z\rangle$  at time t. Then, both the first and the second spin path make an even number of transitions along the way at times  $t_j^p$ ,  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., 2n_p\}$  for  $p \in \{1, 2\}$  such that  $t_0 < t_1^p < t_2^p < ... < t_{2n_p}^p < t$ . We can write



Figure 3.1: Spin path for the dimer problem- The upper part shows the spin path in terms of blips and sojourns for the first spin, while the lower part shows the spin path of the second spin.  $\eta^p(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{2n} \Upsilon_j^p \theta(t-t_j)$  in red;  $\xi^p(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{2n} \Xi_j^p \theta(t-t_j)$  in dashed blue. The system starts in the state AA, jumps to the state AB at  $s_1 = t_1^2$ , then to the state CB at  $s_2 = t_1^1$ . It finally ends in the state AA at t.

these spin paths as  $\xi^p(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{2n_p} \Xi_j^p \theta(t-t_j^p)$  and  $\eta^p(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{2n_p} \Upsilon_j^p \theta(t-t_j^p)$  where the variables  $\Xi_j^p$  and  $\Upsilon_j^p$  take values in  $\{-1,1\}$ . Such a path can be visualized in Fig. 3.1 as a couple of one-spin paths.

 $\langle \uparrow_z, \uparrow_z | \rho_S(t) | \uparrow_z, \uparrow_z \rangle$  is given by a series in  $\Delta^2$ :

$$\langle \uparrow_z, \uparrow_z | \rho_S(t) | \uparrow_z, \uparrow_z \rangle = \sum_{\substack{n_1, n_2 \\ \{\Xi_j^P\}, \{\Upsilon_j^P\}'}} \left(\frac{i\Delta}{2}\right)^{2N} \int_{s_0}^t ds_{2N} \dots \int_{s_0}^{s_2} ds_1 \mathcal{F}_{n_1, n_2}, \tag{3.6}$$

where  $N = n_1 + n_2$  and  $\{s_0, s_1, ..., s_{2(n_1+n_2)}\}$  is the ordered reunion of the two sequences  $\{t_j^1\}$  and  $\{t_j^2\}$ . The summation over  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  goes from 0 to infinity. The prime in  $\{\Upsilon_j^p\}'$  in Eq. (3.6) indicates that the initial and final states are fixed according to  $\Upsilon_0^1 = \Upsilon_0^2 = \Upsilon_{2n_1}^1 = \Upsilon_{2n_2}^2 = 1$ . The influence functional can be written explicitly in terms of  $\Xi_j^p$  and  $\Upsilon_j^p$  variables:

$$\mathcal{F}_{n_1,n_2} = \left(\prod_{p=1}^2 \mathcal{Q}_1^p \mathcal{Q}_2^p \mathcal{M}_1^p \mathcal{M}_2^p\right) \tilde{\mathcal{G}}[\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_1', \sigma_2'],$$
(3.7)

with

$$Q_1^p = \exp\left[\frac{i}{\pi} \sum_{k=0}^{2n_p-1} \sum_{j=k+1}^{2n_p} \Xi_j^p \Upsilon_k^p Q_1(t_j^p - t_k^p)\right],\tag{3.8}$$

$$Q_2^p = \exp\left[\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k=1}^{2n_p-1} \sum_{j=k+1}^{2n_p} \Xi_j^p \Xi_k^p Q_2(t_j^p - t_k^p)\right],\tag{3.9}$$

$$\mathcal{M}_1^p = \exp\left[\frac{i}{\pi} \sum_{k=0}^{2n_{\overline{p}}-1} \sum_{j:t_j^p > t_k^{\overline{p}}} \Xi_j^p \Upsilon_k^{\overline{p}} Q_1(t_j^p - t_k^{\overline{p}})\right], \qquad (3.10)$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{2}^{p} = \exp\left[\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k=1}^{2n_{\overline{p}}-1} \sum_{j:t_{j}^{p} > t_{k}^{\overline{p}}} \Xi_{j}^{p} \Xi_{k}^{\overline{p}} Q_{2}(t_{j}^{p} - t_{k}^{\overline{p}})\right].$$
(3.11)

In Eqs. (3.10) and (3.11),  $\bar{p} = 2$  if p = 1 and  $\bar{p} = 1$  if p = 2. Functions  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  are defined by Eqs. (2.28) and (2.29). Terms  $\mathcal{M}_1^p$  and  $\mathcal{M}_2^p$  account for retarded interactions between the two spins, mediated by the bath. Their expression in terms of blip and sojourn variables is very similar to the ones of  $Q_1^p$  and  $Q_2^p$  and the principle of their derivation is the same as in the case of one spin done in Chapter II Sec. I.1. The situation differs however slightly since the blip variables corresponding to one spin and the sojourn variable corresponding to the other one can be simultaneously both non-zero. A detailled derivation in this particular case is provided in Appendix E. The (renormalized) Ising interaction (in  $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}[\Sigma_1, \Sigma_2, \Sigma'_1, \Sigma'_2])$  can be expressed in a convenient way in this description, as we have

$$\Sigma_1(s)\Sigma_2(s) - \Sigma_1'(s)\Sigma_2'(s) = 2\left[\eta^1(s)\xi^2(s) + \eta^2(s)\xi^1(s)\right].$$
(3.12)

As for the one-spin case, we can proceed to a stochastic unravelling of the influence functional (see Chapter II Sec. I.3), and we have

$$\mathcal{F}_{n_1,n_2} = \overline{\prod_{i=1}^{2n_1} \exp\left[h(t_i^1)\Xi_j^1 + k(t_{i-1}^1)\Upsilon_{i-1}^1\right]} \prod_{j=1}^{2n_2} \exp\left[h(t_j^2)\Xi_j^2 + k(t_{j-1}^2)\Upsilon_{j-1}^2\right]} \tilde{\mathcal{G}}[\Sigma_1, \Sigma_2, \Sigma_1', \Sigma_2']$$
(3.13)

The fields h and k verify the correlations of Eqs. (2.30), (2.31), and (2.32). Eq. (3.6) together with Eq. (3.13) has now the form of a time ordered product, averaged over the noise variables.

The summation over the variables  $\{\Xi_j^p\}$  and  $\{\Upsilon_j^p\}'$  for  $p \in \{1,2\}$  can be incorporated by considering an effective Hamiltonian  $H_1(t)$  for the spin density matrix, acting on the space  $\mathcal{E}$ . It can be written as a sum of two terms  $H_1(t) = U_1 + V_1(t)$ . The (renormalized) Ising interaction is contained in the first term  $U_1$ , while the second term  $V_1(t)$  accounts for tunneling events.

#### I. EXTENSION OF THE SSE FRAMEWORK TO TWO SPINS

 $U_1$  is a diagonal matrix, whose elements are  $(U_1)_{i,i} = 2K_r(\eta_i^1\xi_i^2 + \eta_i^2\xi_i^1)$ , where  $\eta_i^p$  and  $\xi_i^p$  are the value of  $\eta^p$  and  $\xi^p$  for the state in the position *i* in the set  $\mathcal{E} = \{AA, AB, AC, AD, BA, BB, BC, BD, CA, CB, CC, CD, DA, DB, DC, DD\}$ . The sequence  $(U_1)_{i,i}$  gives explicitly (0, k, -k, 0, k, 0, 0, -k, -k, 0, 0, k, 0, -k, k, 0) with  $k = 2K_r$ .

The 16 by 16 matrix  $V_1(t)$  accounts for tunneling elements and has the following form,

$$V_{1}(t) = \frac{\Delta}{2} \begin{pmatrix} W & D_{B \to A} & D_{C \to A} & (0) \\ D_{A \to B} & W & (0) & D_{D \to B} \\ D_{A \to C} & (0) & W & D_{D \to C} \\ (0) & D_{B \to D} & D_{C \to D} & W \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.14)

Each term of this matrix corresponds to a transition from one state in  $\mathcal{E}$  to another, induced by one spin-flip. It is written in Eq. (3.14) in a block structure. Each block is a 4 by 4 matrix that can be given a physical interpretation. The diagonal matrices correspond to flips of the second spin, the first one left unchanged. As a result the matrix W(t) has the same structure as in the one-spin case,

$$W(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{-h+k} & -e^{h+k} & 0\\ e^{h-k} & 0 & 0 & -e^{h+k}\\ -e^{-h-k} & 0 & 0 & e^{-h+k}\\ 0 & -e^{-h-k} & e^{h-k} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.15)

All the elements of the 4 by 4 matrices on the diagonal running from the lower left to the upper right are zero, because the corresponding states are not coupled by one single spin-flip. The eight matrices  $D_{B\to A}$ ,  $D_{C\to A}$ ,  $D_{A\to B}$ ,  $D_{D\to B}$ ,  $D_{A\to C}$ ,  $D_{D\to C}$ ,  $D_{B\to D}$  and  $D_{C\to D}$  describe spin flips of the first spin (the precise transition corresponds to the subscript), the second one left unchanged. They read respectively  $e^{-h+k} \times I_4$ ,  $-e^{h+k} \times I_4$ ,  $e^{h-k} \times I_4$ ,  $-e^{h+k} \times I_4$ ,  $-e^{-h-k} \times I_4$ ,  $e^{-h-k} \times I_4$ ,  $-e^{-h-k} \times I_4$ ,  $e^{-h-k} \times I_4$ , and  $e^{h-k} \times I_4$  ( $I_4$  is the identity). Let us exemplify such transitions thanks to the path of Fig. C.1. The first transition at  $s_1 = t_1^2$  corresponds to the transition AA $\rightarrow$ AB. Its amplitude is given by the term of the first column and the second row of the top left matrix W. The next transition at  $s_2 = t_1^1$  corresponds to the transition AB $\rightarrow$ CB. Its amplitude is given by the term of the second column and the second row of the matrix  $D_{A\to C}$ .

Finally, the dynamics of the 16 dimensional spin reduced density matrix is governed by an effective SSE with Hamiltonian  $H_1$ :

$$\langle \uparrow_z, \uparrow_z | \rho_S(t) | \uparrow_z, \uparrow_z \rangle = \overline{\langle \Phi_f | \Phi(t) \rangle}, \tag{3.16}$$

$$i\partial_t |\Phi\rangle = H_1(t) |\Phi\rangle \tag{3.17}$$

with initial condition

Other initial and final conditions lead to a different choice for the vectors  $|\Phi_i\rangle$  and  $|\Phi_f\rangle$ , in analogy with the case of one spin. Simplifications also occur in the scaling regime, as shown in Appendix E.

## II Nonequilibrium dynamics and quantum phase transition in the dimer model

Next, we use the SSE approach to investigate the dissipative quantum phase transition for this dimer problem and address the non-equilibrium dynamics of the system both in the unpolarized and in the polarized phase. This problem is indeed wellknown to exhibit a dissipative quantum phase transition [79–81,153] where the bath entirely polarizes the two spins by analogy to a ferromagnetic phase. The transition line can be located thanks to the evolution of the entanglement entropy with respect to  $\alpha$  (see Fig. 5 of Ref. [79]) or to the evolution of the connected correlation function  $C = \langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle - \langle \sigma_1^z \rangle \langle \sigma_2^z \rangle$  (see Fig. 10 of Ref. [81]).

We define the triplet subspace spanned by the three states  $\{|T_-\rangle = |\downarrow_z,\downarrow_z\rangle, |T_0\rangle = 1/\sqrt{2} [|\uparrow_z,\downarrow_z\rangle + |\downarrow_z,\uparrow_z\rangle], |T_+\rangle = |\uparrow_z,\uparrow_z\rangle\}$ , while the singlet state is  $|S\rangle = 1/\sqrt{2} [|\uparrow_z,\downarrow_z\rangle - |\downarrow_z,\uparrow_z\rangle]$  and remains isolated in the dynamics if  $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2$ .

We consider that the system initially starts from the state  $|T_+\rangle$  at time  $t_0$ , when spin and bath are brought into contact. We show in Fig. 3.2 the time evolution of  $p_{|T_0\rangle}$ ,  $p_{|T_+\rangle}$  and  $p_{|T_-\rangle}$ , which are the occupancies of the states  $|T_0\rangle$ ,  $|T_+\rangle$  and  $|T_-\rangle$ .

The different panels correspond to different values of  $\alpha$  from  $\alpha = 0.01$  (top left) to  $\alpha = 0.14$  (bottom right). All these values correspond to the unpolarized phase in the range of parameters used (K = 0 and  $\omega_c = 100$ ).

We first note in Fig. 3.2 a progressive suppression of the Rabi oscillations between the two states  $|T_+\rangle$  and  $|T_-\rangle$  when increasing the parameter  $\alpha$ . This behavior is similar to the one observed in the case of the single spin-boson model, where the crossover from coherent oscillations to an incoherent dynamics occurs at  $\alpha_c/2$ . At high values of  $\alpha$ , the relaxation from the initial state  $|T_+\rangle$  becomes slower due to the strong ferromagnetic interaction, and it is numerically harder to investigate the dynamics in the zone  $\alpha > 0.1$ , due to the time scales involved (other initial states lead to an easier numerical investigation, allowing to determine accurately the equilibrium density matrix at long times). In the zone  $\alpha_c/2 < \alpha < \alpha_c$ , we find a monotonic relaxation towards the equilibrium. In this zone, for the case of one spin, conformal field theory has predicted that several timescales are involved in the dynamics, leading to a multi-exponential decay [154] (which has not been seen in NRG [39]). A bi-exponential decay was found in this case thanks to a multilayer multiconfiguration time-dependent Hartree method [122]. Other studies have predicted more complicated forms for the relaxation, without any pure exponential decay (see for example the results of Ref. [155] obtained with renormalization group methods).

We are then able to locate the phase transition from the divergence of the associated time scale. The transition line is shown on the center panel of Fig. 3.3, together



Figure 3.2: Dynamics of the dimer model in the unpolarized phase: the dashed yellow line represents  $p_{|T_+\rangle}$ , the full red line represents  $p_{|T_-\rangle}$  and the dotted green line represents  $p_{|T_0\rangle}$ . From the top left to the bottom right, we have  $\alpha = 0.01$ ,  $\alpha = 0.02$ ,  $\alpha = 0.04$ ,  $\alpha = 0.06$ ,  $\alpha = 0.08$ ,  $\alpha = 0.1$ ,  $\alpha = 0.12$  and ,  $\alpha = 0.14$ . The system starts in the state  $|T_+\rangle$  for all the plots. We have taken  $\omega_c/\Delta = 100$  and K = 0 for all plots.

with the previous results obtained with a time dependent Numerical Renormalization Group (TDNRG) method [79], or with a Quantum Monte-Carlo (QMC) method [81]. This plot corresponds to a vanishing direct Ising interaction K = 0, and different values of  $\omega_c$ . Here, for two spins and at small to intermediate times, we obtain results which are also consistent with a bi-exponential relaxation, as shown on the left panel of Fig. 3.3. The phase diagram of the system with respect to the parameter K is shown on the right panel. The full blue line shows the phase transition line between the polarized and the unpolarized phase, while the dotted red line shows the crossover line from coherent to incoherent Rabi oscillations in the dynamics [79].

Next, we show results concerning the dynamics in the polarized phase ( $\alpha > \alpha_c$ ), corresponding to a quantum quench across the critical line, from  $\alpha = 0$  to  $\alpha > \alpha_c$ . Some theoretical studies have focused on this question in spins [156–158] or bosonic systems [159–161]. For example, at K = 0 and  $\alpha = 0$ , the initial state of the system is given by  $|\psi\rangle = |-_x\rangle \otimes |-_x\rangle = 1/2(|T_+\rangle + |T_-\rangle) - 1/\sqrt{2}|T_0\rangle$ . The associated spin density matrix is


Figure 3.3: Left panel: evolution of  $\ln(p_{|T_+\rangle})$  at  $\alpha = 0.14$ , for  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.01$  (yellow line-top) and  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.05$  (blue line-bottom), and bi-exponential fit (dashed black line). Middle panel: Critical line with respect to  $\Delta/\omega_c$  at K = 0 (green dots and full green line) and comparison with the results obtained in Ref. [79] (TDNRG) (red triangles and red dashed line) and Ref. [81] (QMC) (blue squares and dotted blue line). Right panel: Critical line with respect to K for  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.01$  (blue points and full blue line). Above the line, the system relaxes to a polarized steady-state. The red dots and the dotted red line show the location of the crossover line from coherent to incoherent behaviour for the spin oscillations.

After a sudden change of the parameter  $\alpha$ , the system is in a nonequilibrium state. We compute the spin dynamics for different values of  $\alpha > \alpha_c$  and for different values of  $\Delta/\omega_c$ . We find numerically that the system evolves towards the final density matrix

corresponding to a statistical superposition of the states  $|T_+\rangle$  and  $|T_-\rangle$  (up to an error of around  $10^{-4}$ ). We find moreover that the spin dynamics is universal in the polarized phase, in the sense that it does not depend on  $\alpha$  and K. More precisely, we find that

$$p_{|+-\rangle}(t) = p_{|-+\rangle}(t) = p_0 \exp\left[-\frac{\Delta^2(t-t_0)}{\omega_c}\right],$$
 (3.21)

as shown in Fig. 3.4, for a quench from  $\alpha = 0$  to  $\alpha > \alpha_c$ .  $p_{|+-\rangle}(t) \ (p_{|-+\rangle}(t))$  is the probability to find the system in the state  $|\uparrow_z,\downarrow_z\rangle \ (|\downarrow_z,\uparrow_z\rangle)$  at time t, given by the



Figure 3.4: Universal dynamics of the dimer model in the polarized phase. The system starts in the nonequilibrium state described by the density matrix of Eq. (3.19), and relax towards a statistic superposition of  $|T_+\rangle$  and  $|T_-\rangle$ . The parameters are  $\alpha = 0.2$ ,  $\omega_c/\Delta = 100$  (red points);  $\alpha = 0.25$ ,  $\omega_c/\Delta = 50$  (right pointing green triangles);  $\alpha = 0.22$ ,  $\omega_c/\Delta = 80$  (left pointing blue triangles);  $\alpha = 0.3$ ,  $\omega_c/\Delta = 20$  (black squares). Taking  $K \neq 0$  gives the same exponential relaxation.

diagonal term of the density matrix  $[\rho_S]_{22}$  ( $[\rho_S]_{33}$ ). The strong bath-induced Ising interaction and the orthogonality between the polarized state seem to provoke a rapid evolution independent of the other external parameters.

We also remark that, in the unpolarized phase, the value of  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle_{eq}$  is non-zero due to the strong ferromagnetic interaction mediated by the bath. We compute this quantity as the limit of  $tr_B \left[ \rho_S(t) \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \right]$  at long times, and plot its evolution with respect to  $\alpha$  for different values of  $\omega_c$  in Fig. 3.5. At very small  $\Delta/\omega_c$  we have roughly  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle_{eq} = \alpha \omega_c / \sqrt{(\alpha \omega_c)^2 + \Delta_r^2}$ , which would be the equilibrium value of this quantity in a two-spins Ising model governed by the Hamiltonian

$$H_I = \frac{\Delta_r}{2} \left( \sigma_1^x + \sigma_2^x \right) - K_r \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z, \qquad (3.22)$$

where  $\Delta_r = \Delta (\Delta/\omega_c)^{\alpha/(1-\alpha)}$  is the renormalized tunneling element obtained by an adiabatic renormalization procedure.

There are notable deviations with respect to this toy-model, especially when  $\Delta/\omega_c$  becomes larger ( $\Delta/\omega_c \geq 0.02$ ). In this case, the adiabatic renormalization procedure is no longer valid, as the bath and spin degrees of freedom evolution time scales are not well separated. The assumption of fully polarized bath states associated with one given spin polarization no longer holds and we need to refine the analysis, for example by using a variational technique on the ground state wavefunction following the ideas of Refs. [56,80]. We write the Hamiltonian of the system in a displaced oscillator basis defined by the four states  $\{|B_{\uparrow\uparrow}\rangle \otimes |\uparrow_z,\uparrow_z\rangle, |B_0\rangle \otimes |\uparrow_z,\downarrow_z\rangle, |B_0\rangle \otimes |\downarrow_z,\uparrow_z\rangle, |B_{\downarrow\downarrow}\rangle \otimes |\downarrow_z,\downarrow_z\rangle\}$ , with

$$|B_{\uparrow\uparrow}\rangle = \prod_{k} \exp\left[-\frac{f_k}{\omega_k} \left(b_k^{\dagger} - b_k\right)\right] |B_0\rangle$$
(3.23)

$$|B_{\downarrow\downarrow}\rangle = \prod_{k} \exp\left[\frac{f_k}{\omega_k} \left(b_k^{\dagger} - b_k\right)\right] |B_0\rangle, \qquad (3.24)$$

where  $|B_0\rangle$  is the ground state of the bosonic bath taken in isolation at zero temperature.  $f_k$  are variational parameters with  $f_k \neq \lambda_k$  at a general level. With this ansatz we do not specify the amplitude with which a given mode is displaced *ab initio*, but these coefficients are found by minimizing the free energy of the total system. The displacement from the equilibrium position of a given oscillator may then depend on other parameters. Following Ref. [80], we find self-consistent equations for the bath-induced Ising interaction  $\tilde{K}_r$  and the renormalized tunneling element  $\tilde{\Delta}_r$ ,

$$\tilde{\Delta}_r = \Delta \exp\left[-\alpha \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{G(\omega)^2}{\omega} e^{-\omega/\omega_c}\right],\tag{3.25}$$

$$\tilde{K}_r = \alpha \int_0^\infty d\omega G(\omega) [2 - G(\omega)] e^{-\omega/\omega_c}, \qquad (3.26)$$

$$G(\omega) = \frac{\sqrt{\tilde{K}_r^2 + \tilde{\Delta}_r^2 + \tilde{K}_r}}{\sqrt{\tilde{K}_r^2 + \tilde{\Delta}_r^2} + \tilde{K}_r + \frac{\tilde{\Delta}_r^2}{\omega}}.$$
(3.27)

We plot the corresponding evolution of  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle_{eq} = \tilde{K}_r / \sqrt{(\tilde{K}_r)^2 + \tilde{\Delta}_r^2}$  with respect to  $\alpha$  for different values of  $\omega_c$  in Fig. 3.5. We find a good agreement with the exact results given by the SSE method as long as  $\Delta/\omega_c$  remains small  $(\Delta/\omega_c \leq 1)$ . We notably recover a change of the concavity of  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle_{eq}$  with respect to  $\alpha$ , as shown in the inset of Fig. 3.5 where we plot the evolution of the second derivative of  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle_{eq}$ for  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.2$ . This feature cannot be recovered by the adiabatic renormalization procedure, but we see that this effect is far more pronounced in the results of the SSE than in the variational treatment. The dynamical adjustment of both the bath and spin degrees of freedom can thus explain some features of the results obtained numerically, especially at small  $\Delta/\omega_c \leq 0.1$  but this variational approach fail at quantitatively describing the regime of strong coupling and the dissipative quantum phase transition.

## **III** Synchronization

Synchronization phenomena occur spontaneously in a wide range of physical systems [162]. Here we quantitatively describe driveless synchronization mechanisms between two spins 1/2 with different bare frequencies, which are coupled to a common bath of harmonic oscillators. A comparison between classical and quantum regimes for this kind of problems without dissipation was recently done in Ref. [163].



Figure 3.5: Equilibrium value of  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$  as a function of  $\alpha$  for  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.01$  (green circles),  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.05$  (yellow right-pointing triangles),  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.1$  (red left-pointing triangles) and  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.2$  (blue squares). We have K = 0. The lines correspond to the value predicted by a toy-model of two interacting spins with tunneling element  $\tilde{\Delta}_r$  and Ising interaction  $\tilde{K}_r$  obtained thanks to a variational procedure. Parameters are  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.01$  (full green line),  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.05$  (yellow dashed line),  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.1$  (red dotted line) and  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.2$  (blue mixed line). The inset shows the evolution of  $\partial_{\alpha}^2 \langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$  with  $\alpha$  for  $\Delta/\omega_c = 0.2$ . The sign of this quantity changes when increasing  $\alpha$ .

#### III.1 First mechanism

We first consider the dynamics of two interacting spins whose dynamics is governed by  $\mathcal{H}_{dimer}$  in Eq. (3.1), with different bare oscillation frequencies  $\Delta_1$  and  $\Delta_2$  (with  $\Delta_1 > \Delta_2 > 0$ ). We focus on the free dynamics of the dimer starting from the same initial state  $|\uparrow_z,\uparrow_z\rangle$ .

The bath-induced Ising interaction will tend to synchronize the oscillations of the two spins. We quantify this effect, thanks to spin-spin correlations in time and compare the case of direct versus bath-induced interaction. We denote by  $K_r$  the effective strength of the interaction between the spins. In the case of a coupling through the bath we identify  $K_r = \alpha \omega_c$  while we have  $K_r = K$  in the case of a direct Ising interaction. Some efforts were done to study this effect in Ref. [79].

Let us first consider the case of direct Ising interaction K. A quantitative description of this type of synchronization can be done by studying the time-evolution of  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$ . The system starts in the state  $|\uparrow_z,\uparrow_z\rangle$ , so that  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle(t_0) = 1$  at the initial time. We define the synchronized regime as the region in the parameters space for which  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$  stays positive at all times. We show in Fig 3.6 the synchronization phase diagram with respect to  $\Delta_2/\Delta_1$  and  $K_r/\Delta_1 = K/\Delta_1$ . In the region I (in white), the



Figure 3.6: Synchronization phase diagram in the case of direct Ising interaction  $K_r = K$ . Region I (in white) corresponds to the unsynchronized regime :  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$  vanishes periodically. The yellow star shows the point for which we compare direct and bath-induced interaction (see text). Region II (in blue) corresponds to the synchronized regime :  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle > 0$  at all times.

two spins are not synchronized and the correlation function  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$  changes sign periodically. In the other region (region II in blue in Fig. 3.6)  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$  always stays positive. For  $K_r/\Delta_1 > 1/2$  the Ising interaction dominates and the dynamics is synchronized for all values of  $\Delta_2$ . When  $\Delta_2$  approaches  $\Delta_1$ , the two spins have comparable oscillating frequencies and the synchronization is then easier. It necessitates a smaller value of  $K_r/\Delta_1$  for the two spins to synchronize.

The dissipative case, for which the interaction originates from the interaction with the bath, shows a similar phase diagram. There are however notable differences in the unsynchronized regime close to the transition line. In this region, the interaction with the bath leads to an effective synchronization after a short time unsynchronized dynamics. To exemplify this effect, we focus on the spin dynamics at  $K_r/\Delta_1 = 0.4$ and  $\Delta_2/\Delta_1 = 0.1$  in both cases. These parameters correspond to the yellow star in Fig. 3.6. The evolution of  $\langle \sigma_j^z \rangle$  and  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$  is shown in Fig. 3.7 in both cases. We remark that in the case of direct Ising coupling (panel a), there is no synchronization transition as  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$  changes sign periodically. By contrast, we remark that  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$ only vanishes a finite number of times (see panel b). After this short time behaviour, the system enters a synchronized regime for which  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$  no longer vanishes and tends to a non-zero equilibrium value corresponding to a polarized equilibrium state.

This synchronization effect is the sole consequence of the Ising-like interaction between spins mediated by the bosonic bath. In this respect, it could be understood qualitatively by a comparison of the dynamics to the one corresponding to two free spins coupled via an Ising interaction. Next, we present another synchronization



Figure 3.7: Panels a and b: time evolution of  $\langle \sigma_1^z \sigma_2^z \rangle$  for a direct Ising interaction interaction  $K_r = K$  (panel a) and for a bath-induced interaction  $K_r = \alpha \omega_c$  (panel b). Panels c and d: time evolution of  $\langle \sigma_1^z \rangle$  and  $\langle \sigma_2^z \rangle$  for a direct Ising-like interaction  $K_r = K$  (panel c) and a bath-induced interaction  $K_r = \alpha \omega_c$  (panel d). We have  $K_r/\Delta_1 = 0.4, \Delta_2/\Delta_1 = 0.1$  and  $\omega_c = 20\Delta_1$ .

mechanism induced by the presence of the bath, which cannot be interpreted as the effect of an effective interaction between the two spins.

#### III.2 Second mechanism

We consider a system of two spin 1/2 with different frequencies, whose relative motion is coupled to a common environment. We find that, under certain initial conditions, the joint dynamics of the two spins enters a *dissipationless* synchronized regime when the coupling to the environment is increased.

A synchronization regime was recently observed in Ref. [164] in the oscillatory dynamics of a mixture of bosonic and fermionic species. In this paper, the authors suggested that the appearance of synchronization was due to the coupling of the relative motion of the two clouds to a dissipative environment. Here, we build a toy model related to this problem by restricting the dynamics of each species to only two motional states. The resulting Hamiltonian is given by

$$H = \frac{\Delta_1}{2}\sigma_1^x + \frac{\Delta_2}{2}\sigma_2^x - K\sigma_1^z\sigma_2^z + \sum_k \left[ (\sigma_1^z - \sigma_2^z) \frac{\lambda_k}{2} (b_k + b_k^{\dagger}) + \omega_k b_k^{\dagger} b_k \right], \quad (3.28)$$

 $\Delta_1 \neq \Delta_2$  are the two bare frequencies of the two species. K denotes the interaction strength between the two spins. We assume that the relative motion of the two species is coupled to an external bath. As before, we consider the case of ohmic dissipation.

We should take into account a larger number of motional states to fully describe the system of Ref. [164]. But this simplified toy-model is sufficient to exhibit a synchronization effect, as shown below. This toy-model would rather a double well problem, which could also be implemented in a cold-atomic setups [75, 78].



Figure 3.8: Dynamics of  $\langle \sigma_1^z \rangle$  and  $\langle \sigma_2^z \rangle$  for different values of  $\alpha$ . From left to right and top to bottom, we have  $\alpha = 0.005$ ,  $\alpha = 0.01$ ,  $\alpha = 0.015$ ,  $\alpha = 0.02$ ,  $\alpha = 0.025$ ,  $\alpha = 0.03$ ,  $\alpha = 0.035$ ,  $\alpha = 0.05$  and  $\alpha = 0.06$ . We have  $\Delta_2/\Delta_1 = 1.1$ ,  $\omega_c = 20\Delta_1$ , T = 0 and K = 0.

Fig. 3.8 shows the dynamics of the two spins, with initial state  $|\uparrow_z,\uparrow_z\rangle$  for increasing strengths of the system-environment coupling (from left to right and top to bottom). At very weak coupling ( $\alpha < 0.02$ ), we observe an asynchronous decay of the two spin oscillations towards an equilibrium state with  $\langle \sigma_1^z \rangle = \langle \sigma_2^z \rangle = 0$ . Interestingly, we remark that the damping of the oscillations is temporarily smaller when the oscillators are in phase (see top left panel between  $\Delta t = 50$  and  $\Delta t = 80$ ), signaling the onset of synchronization. In this regime of very weak coupling, the life-time of the oscillations diminishes with  $\alpha$ . Then, above a certain coupling strength, we observe the appearance of long-lived synchronized oscillations of the two spins. In this regime, the two spins oscillate at the same frequency and these oscillations acquire an infinite life-time. We plot in Fig. 3.9 the evolution of the observed frequencies of the oscillations, obtained by Fourier analysis, with respect to the coupling strength  $\alpha$ .



Figure 3.9: Ratio  $r = \omega_1^{\text{obs}}/\omega_2^{\text{obs}}$  of the two observed oscillating frequencies with respect to  $\alpha$ . Same parameters as in Fig. 3.8. It seems that the frequency of the synchronized oscillations corresponds to the smallest frequency.

Other initial conditions do not lead to the same synchronized regime, signaling the presence of an attractor in the phase space.

One could wonder if Markovian dissipation could be at the origin of a similar effect. We provide now evidence that it is not the case for a thermal bath. We show in Fig. 3.10 the joint dynamics of the two clouds for the same protocol, at  $\alpha = 0.02$ , and with different values of the temperature.



Figure 3.10: Dynamics of  $\langle \sigma_1^z \rangle$  and  $\langle \sigma_2^z \rangle$  for different values of  $\beta$ . From left to right, we have  $\beta = 5$ ,  $\beta = 2.5$  and  $\beta = 1$ . We have  $\Delta_1/\Delta_2 = 1.1$ ,  $\omega_c = 20\Delta_1$ ,  $\alpha = 0.02$  and K = 0. We do not observe a synchronization of the oscillations.

We see that increasing dissipation (meaning lowering  $\beta$ ) only leads to a faster decay rate, without synchronization between the two spins. It seems then that the quantumness and coherence of the bath is important for such an effect to arise. Interestingly, the Ising interaction does not seem to be a key ingredient in this synchronization effect. A change in K modifies the critical coupling at which synchronization occurs, but does not modify qualitatively the collective behavior.

A more precise analytical investigation of bath effects would be necessary to understand the mechanism at the origin of this synchronization phenomenon. This preliminary numerical result constitutes however a strong hint that coupling two spins to the same quantum environment may have drastic effects on their joint dynamics. In particular, synchronization seems to appear at a rather low value of the coupling  $\alpha$ .

We studied in this chapter the dynamics of two spins coupled to a common ohmic environment. We investigated the dissipative quantum phase transition induced by the bath, as well as many-body synchronization effects. The dissipative transition is associated with a suppression of spin coherence, quantified by the vanishing of offdiagonal elements of the spin-reduced density matrix. One could then wonder how the bath modifies the intrinsic properties of the phase-space accessible for the spin, and in particular its topology.

# CHAPTER 4

## Dissipative topological transition

In this Chapter, we will study the effect of an ohmic environment on the topology of a spin 1/2. After a brief introduction on the topological and geometrical properties associated with a spin 1/2 and their importance for condensed matter systems, we will study the deformation of the Berry curvature induced by the presence of the environment by using a variational ansatz for the ground state. In this framework, we identify a divergence of the Berry curvature at  $\theta = \pi/2$  when  $\alpha = 1/2$ . Then, we investigate the transition with a non-equilibrium protocol where the spin is subject to a time-dependent drive. This dynamical protocol was introduced in Ref. [165] and allows to have access to the Berry curvature through a measure of the spin observables, because the non-adiabatic response of a slowly driven quantum system depends on the geometry of its instantaneous ground state. We describe quantitatively the features of the bath-induced transition with the SSE method. The so-called Toulouse point at  $\alpha = 1/2$  being exactly solvable, we recover analytically the trivial topology at this point and study the dynamical scaling of the Chern number at the transition within Keldysh formalism. We also study the evolution of the final Entanglement entropy of the system with  $\alpha$  and introduce an effective thermodynamical description of the transition, which appears then as a temperature inversion point.

## I Topology of a spin 1/2

Let us consider a spin-1/2 in a magnetic field, corresponding to the Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}_{TLS} = -\frac{1}{2}\vec{d}.\vec{\sigma},\tag{4.1}$$

where  $\vec{d} = (H \sin \theta \cos \phi, H \sin \theta \sin \phi, H_0 + H \cos \theta)^T$ . We show in Fig. 4.1 the orientation of the equilibrium Bloch vector for all the values of  $\theta \in [0, 2\pi[$  when  $\phi = 0$ . The behaviour of this vector changes depending on the sign of  $H_0 - H$ . When  $H_0 < H$ , we see that the angle between this vector and the vertical axis goes from 0 to  $2\pi$  when  $\theta$  goes from 0 to  $2\pi$ . By contrast, this angle goes from 0 to 0 when  $\theta$  goes from 0 to  $2\pi$  when  $H_0 > H$ .



Figure 4.1: The red circles are parametrized by  $(H \sin \theta, H_0 + H \cos \theta)$  with  $H \neq 0$ . We have  $H_0/H = 0$  (left),  $0 < H_0/H < 1$  (middle) and  $H_0/H > 1$  (right) and the black dot shows the position of the origin in each case. The arrows show the orientation of the Bloch vector for each value of  $\theta$ . The vertical component is given by  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle_{eq}$  while the horizontal component is given by  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle_{eq}$ .

For any  $2\pi$  periodic Hamiltonian in terms of a given variable  $\theta$ , the Bloch vector is the same for  $\theta = 0$  and  $\theta = 2\pi$  up to a phase factor. The way it winds when  $\theta$  varies from 0 to  $2\pi$  is characterized by a relative integer  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  (which counts the number of turns around the way). In our case characterized by Hamiltonian (4.1), one has n = 1for  $H_0 < H$  and n = 0 for  $H_0 > H$ .

#### I.1 Chern number and Berry curvature

A more rigorous characterization can be done with homotopy theory, as exposed in Ref. [166], by considering a group G of transformations between possible equilibrium Bloch vectors. In our case, a suitable group G would correspond to the two-dimensional rotation group SO(2), which is a continuous group with a well-defined topology. One can show in particular that to each loop in SO(2), is associated a relative integer essentially equivalent to the relative integer n that we introduced above<sup>1</sup>. The continuous path parametrized by  $\theta$  from  $\theta = 0$  to  $\theta = 2\pi$  defines a loop in SO(2), and the cases  $H_0/H < 1$  or  $H_0/H > 1$  correspond to a different value of n. Let us now make a link with the widespread notions of Berry curvature and Chern number.

The Berry curvature is a local quantity (in terms of the variables  $\theta$  and  $\phi$  introduced in Hamiltonian (4.1)) which characterizes the local geometry of a state upon infinitesimal variation of  $\theta$  and  $\phi$ . The Berry curvature  $\mathcal{F}_{\phi\theta}$  associated with a state  $|g\rangle$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{F}_{\phi\theta} = \partial_{\phi}\mathcal{A}_{\theta} - \partial_{\theta}\mathcal{A}_{\phi}, \qquad (4.2)$$

where  $\mathcal{A}_{\phi}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{\theta}$  are called Berry connections and defined by

$$\mathcal{A}_{\phi} = \langle g | i \partial_{\phi} | g \rangle, \tag{4.3}$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{\theta} = \langle g | i \partial_{\theta} | g \rangle. \tag{4.4}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Formally, the fundamental group of SO(2) is the additive group of integers  $\mathcal{Z}$ 

#### I. TOPOLOGY OF A SPIN 1/2

The Berry curvature is a gauge-independent quantity, which equals to  $\mathcal{F}_{\phi\theta} = 1/2 \sin \theta$ when we chose  $|g\rangle$  to be the ground state of Hamiltonian (4.1) for  $H_0 = 0$ . The Chern number C is an integer, which characterizes the global topology of the system, and it is related to the Berry curvature as

$$C = \int_0^{2\pi} d\phi \int_0^{\pi} d\theta \mathcal{F}_{\phi\theta}.$$
 (4.5)

In our precise case,  $\mathcal{F}_{\phi\theta}$  is independent of  $\phi$ . For  $H_0 = 0$ , we recover C = 1. By contrast for  $H_0 > H_1$ , we find C = 0. The Chern number matches exactly with the relative integer *n* introduced above to describe the evolution of the Bloch vector when  $\theta$  goes from 0 to  $2\pi$  at  $\phi = 0$ . We show explicitly in Appendix F.I that we have for Hamiltonian (4.1)

$$C = \frac{\langle \sigma^z(\theta=0) \rangle - \langle \sigma^z(\theta=\pi) \rangle}{2}.$$
(4.6)

### I.2 Relation with topological properties of condensed matter systems

We illustrated the notions of Berry curvature/connections and Chern number over this simple example of a single spin in a magnetic field. These definitions are however very general and non-trivial topological effects arise for any Hamiltonian with periodic properties in terms of a given variable. These notions play in particular a very important role in the investigation of electronic properties in crystalline solids, such as the integer quantum Hall effect [?, 167], as the periodicity of the cristalline potential leads to a periodic invariance of the Hamiltonian in terms of the reciprocal wave-vector. Let us for example consider a general simple model of non-interacting electrons on a lattice, where there is a gap between energy bands and the Fermi energy lies in one gap. Each energy band is characterized by a given Chern number upon variation of the reciprocal wave-vector. These topological invariants have a striking physical manifestation, as the Hall conductivity  $\sigma_{xy}$  of this so-called Chern insulator model is given by

$$\sigma_{xy} = \frac{e^2}{2\pi\hbar} \sum_{\alpha} C_{\alpha}, \qquad (4.7)$$

where  $C_{\alpha}$  denotes the Chern number of the band  $\alpha$ , and  $\alpha$  runs over the filled bands. This is the famous Thouless-Kohomoto-Nightingale-den Nijs (TKNN) formula [168] which can be shown by the application of Kubo formula. In this context, one may see Hamiltonian (4.1) as a single-particule Hamiltonian of the simplest class of Chern insulators with only two bands.

Recent experiments have focused on the realizations of topological phases with photons in artificial systems [129] together with developments in ultra-cold atoms.

While in nature this is achieved by a magnetic field coupled to charged particles, artificial gauge fields have been realized with ultracold atoms in optical lattices [169, 170] and photonic systems [171]. We may think of a topological phase of noninteracting particles as characterized by a bulk topological invariant which necessarily implies the existence of edge states protected against backscattering at the system boundary. The lure of optical lattices and photonic systems is that band topology, which underlies the characterization of quantum Hall-like phases, as well as edge state transport, can be probed. Moreover, a strong magnetic field at a suitably chosen filling in the presence of interactions leads to the fractional quantum Hall effect.

#### I.3 Coupling to an environment

An interesting question that emerges naturally concerns the effect of a quantum dissipative environment on the topology of the spin. To describe dissipation, we will work in this Chapter with Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_{TLS} + \mathcal{H}_{diss}$ , where

$$\mathcal{H}_{diss} = \sigma^z \sum_k \frac{\lambda_k}{2} (b_k + b_k^{\dagger}) + \sum_k \omega_k \left( b_k^{\dagger} b_k + \frac{1}{2} \right).$$
(4.8)

One can give a first answer by considering the two phases of the ohmic spinboson model. Above a critical coupling strength  $\alpha_c \sim 1$ , the spin is known to be in a localized phase associated with a loss of coherence [62,63], with vanishing off-diagonal elements of the spin-reduced density matrix. In such a phase, spin tunneling is forbidden and the spin is trapped in a polarized state along the z-axis. The possible equilibrium Bloch vectors in such a localized phase cannot be mapped one onto the other by continuous transformations of the Hamiltonian, thus corresponding to a trivial topology. We expect then a change of the system topology induced by the presence of the bath at large coupling. To understand better the effect of the bath, let us develop a variational approach in relation with the polaron ansatz introduced in Sec. II.2.a.

### II Shifted oscillators approach to the transition

In this Section, we explore the topological transition by using a variational ansatz for the ground state. At weak dissipation, one may indeed safely approximate the ground state  $|g\rangle$  of Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  for a given  $\theta$  in the "shifted oscillators" picture [56, 62, 63, 66, 172] (or polaron picture), by

$$|g\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{p^2 + q^2}} \left[ p e^{-i\phi} |\uparrow_z\rangle \otimes |\chi_{\uparrow}\rangle + q |\downarrow_z\rangle \otimes |\chi_{\downarrow}\rangle \right], \tag{4.9}$$

where states  $|\chi_{\uparrow}\rangle$  correspond to multi-mode coherent states. These states, as well as the real numbers p and q, are determined a *posteriori* by minimizing the energy of the system. By contrast to the ansatz introduced in Sec. II.2.a, here we do not fix p and q but determine them variationally. Due to the symmetry of the Hamiltonian, p and q do not depend on  $\phi.$ 

Coefficients p, q and states  $|\chi_{\uparrow\downarrow}\rangle = \exp\left[\sum_{k} f_{k}^{\uparrow\downarrow}(b_{k} - b_{k}^{\dagger})\right]|0\rangle$  are determined variationally by minimizing  $E = \langle g | \mathcal{H} | g \rangle$  with respect to p, q and the sets of real numbers  $\{f_{k}^{\uparrow}\}$  and  $\{f_{k}^{\downarrow}\}$ . It is also important to note that the displacements associated with different spin polarizations may differ in absolute value  $(f_{k}^{\uparrow} \neq f_{k}^{\downarrow})$  in general). Here  $|0\rangle$  denotes the vacuum with all oscillators in equilibrium. As the  $\phi$  dependency is solely contained in the phase factor of Eq. (4.9), we work at  $\phi = 0$ . We have,

$$E = \frac{1}{p^2 + q^2} \left[ \frac{H}{2} \cos \theta (p^2 - q^2) + Hpq \sin \theta e^{-\sum_k \frac{\left(f_k^{\uparrow} - f_k^{\downarrow}\right)^2}{2}} + \sum_k \lambda_k \left( p^2 f_k^{\uparrow} - q^2 f_k^{\downarrow} \right) \right]$$
(4.10)

$$+\sum_{k}\omega_{k}\left(p^{2}f_{k}^{\uparrow2}+q^{2}f_{k}^{\downarrow2}\right)\bigg].$$
(4.11)

Minimizing E with respect to  $f_k^{\uparrow}$  and  $f_k^{\downarrow}$  gives for all k,

$$p^{2}\lambda_{k} + 2p^{2}f_{k}^{\uparrow}\omega_{k} - pqH\delta\sin\theta(f_{k}^{\uparrow} - f_{k}^{\downarrow}) = 0$$

$$(4.12)$$

$$-q^2\lambda_k + 2q^2 f_k^{\uparrow}\omega_k + pqH\delta\sin\theta(f_k^{\uparrow} - f_k^{\downarrow}) = 0$$
(4.13)

where  $\delta = e^{-\sum_k \frac{\left(f_k^{\uparrow} - f_k^{\downarrow}\right)^2}{2}}$ . Minimizing *E* with respect to *p* or *q* gives the same equation, namely

$$H\delta\sin\theta\left[q^2 - p^2\right] + 2pq\left[H\cos\theta + \sum_k \lambda_k(f_k^{\uparrow} + f_k^{\downarrow}) + \sum_k \omega_k(f_k^{\uparrow 2} - f_k^{\downarrow 2})\right] = 0.$$
(4.14)

Solving self-consistently the set of equations determined by Eqs. (4.12–4.14) allows to compute p and q and their evolution with respect to  $\theta$  for different values of  $\alpha$ . This ansatz allows to reach convenient expressions for the Berry connections, as we have

$$\mathcal{A}_{\phi} = \langle g | i \partial_{\phi} | g \rangle = \frac{p^2}{p^2 + q^2}, \tag{4.15}$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{\theta} = \langle g | i \partial_{\theta} | g \rangle = 0. \tag{4.16}$$

One then easily compute the Berry curvature  $\mathcal{F}_{\phi\theta}$  according to Eq. (4.2), and we show its evolution with respect to  $\theta$  for different values of  $\alpha$  in Fig. 4.2. We see that the environment gradually deforms the manifold spanned by the ground state upon a variation of  $\theta$ . This corresponds to a Berry curvature which becomes more and more peaked around  $\theta = \pi/2$  as  $\alpha$  increases. At  $\alpha = 0.5$ , the Berry curvature diverges for  $\theta = \pi/2$  corresponding to a division of the ground state manifold into two separate parts, and signaling the topological transition. This divergence is related to the orthogonality between bath states associated with the different spin polarizations.



Figure 4.2: Evolution of the Berry curvature  $\mathcal{F}_{\phi\theta}$  with respect to  $\theta$  for  $\alpha = 0$  (black),  $\alpha = 0.1$  (yellow),  $\alpha = 0.2$  (blue),  $\alpha = 0.3$  (green),  $\alpha = 0.4$  (red) and  $\alpha = 0.5$  (magenta). We have  $H/\omega_c = 0.02$ .

Above  $\alpha = 0.5$ , this variational method does not give physical results. This first approximate equilibrium study suggests that the system undergoes a dissipative topological transition around  $\alpha = 1/2$ . Next, we study dynamically the transition.

## **III** Experimental protocol

Recent circuit-QED experiments [173, 174] have shown that it was possible to probe geometrical and topological properties of artificial spin 1/2 systems with a dynamical protocol. This protocol relies on the Adiabatic Rapid Passage (ARP) technique, widely used in the magnetic resonance community to invert the population of two-level systems [22].

It consists in devising Hamiltonian (4.1), where  $\theta(t) = v(t-t_0)$  grows linearly from  $\theta(t_0) = 0$  to  $\theta(t_f) = \pi$  and  $\phi$  is stationary, for a spin starting from the initial ground state  $|\uparrow_z\rangle$ . When v/H is small enough, the dynamics becomes nearly adiabatic. At  $H_0 = 0$  for example (case of the standard ARP protocol), the Bloch vector spirals around the field, following a characteristic cycloïd curve from north to south pole. For simplicity we take  $\phi = 0$  in the following. The dynamics is conveniently described in the rotating frame, using a rotation U(t) corresponding to a rotation of axis (0y) of angle vt. Defining  $|\psi'(t)\rangle = U(t)|\psi(t)\rangle$ , the Schrödinger equation gives,

$$i\partial_t \left[ U(t) | \psi(t) \rangle \right] = \mathcal{H}_{TLS}(t) | \psi(t) \rangle$$

$$i\partial_t | \psi'(t) \rangle = \underbrace{\left[ i\dot{U}U^{\dagger} + U\mathcal{H}_{TLS}U^{\dagger} \right]}_{H_{eff}} | \psi'(t) \rangle \qquad (4.17)$$

The dynamics of  $|\psi'(t)\rangle$  is governed in the rotating frame by  $H_{eff} = -H\sigma^z/2 - v\sigma^y/2$ .

Starting from  $|\psi'(t_0)\rangle = |\psi(t_0)\rangle = |\uparrow_z\rangle$ , we find that  $|\psi'(t)\rangle$  rotates around the rotation vector  $\vec{\Omega} = (H, 0, v)$ . We recover that the dynamics is static in the rotating frame when  $v/H \to 0$  (adiabatic limit). The non-adiabatic response is characterized by the angle of  $\vec{\Omega}$  with the z-axis, and we find in particular that it leads to a non-zero expectation value of  $\langle \sigma^y(t) \rangle$  whose amplitude is proportional to v.

The key point is that the non-adiabatic response of a slowly driven quantum system can be related to the geometry of its instantaneous groundstate, as shown in Ref. [165]. Measuring the non-adiabatic response provides then a way to probe the geometrical and topological properties the system. As shown in Refs. [165, 175], we have

$$H/2\sin\theta(t)\langle\sigma^y(t)\rangle = v\mathcal{F}_{\phi=0\theta(t)} + o(v/G),\tag{4.18}$$

where  $\mathcal{F}_{\theta\phi}$  stands for the Berry curvature of the isolated system and G denotes the energy difference between ground and excited states. This result can be shown in timedependent perturbation theory, as shown in Refs. [165, 175]. We explicitly provide this derivation in Appendix F.II. This can also be seen as an application of the timedependent version of the Hellmann-Feynman theorem [176].

$$\langle \partial_{\phi} \mathcal{H}_0 \rangle = i \partial_t \langle \psi | \partial_{\phi} | \psi \rangle \tag{4.19}$$

As  $\partial_t = v \partial_\theta$  and  $|\psi\rangle = |g_t\rangle + o(v)$ , where  $|g_t\rangle$  is the instantaneous ground state of Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_0$ , Eq. (4.19) estimated at  $\phi = 0$  gives immediately the result.

As an example, we show in Fig. 4.3 (left panel) the dynamics of  $\langle \sigma^{\nu}(t) \rangle$  for  $\nu \in \{x, y, z\}$  during a sweep from the north pole to the south pole with  $H_0 = 0$ . We see that



Figure 4.3: Left: Spin variables  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$  (black),  $\langle \sigma^x \rangle$  (yellow) and  $\langle \sigma^y \rangle$  (red) and their time-evolution during the sweep. We have  $H_0 = 0$ , H = 1 and v/H = 0.04. Right: Measured Chern number  $C^m$  with respect to  $H_0/H$  for v/H = 0.04.

 $\langle \sigma^y \rangle \neq 0$  during the protocol. From its measurement, we have access to

$$\mathcal{F}^{m}_{\phi\theta(t)} = \frac{H}{2v} \sin\theta(t) \langle \sigma^{y}(t) \rangle, \qquad (4.20)$$

where  $\mathcal{F}_{\phi\theta(t)}^{m}$  is the measured Berry curvature. From the Berry curvature of the ground state at parameters  $(\theta(t), \phi)$ , we can access the measured Chern number (note that  $\mathcal{F}_{\phi\theta}$  is independent of  $\phi$ ),

$$C_m = \int_{t_0}^{t_f} dt \frac{H}{2} \sin v t \langle \sigma^y(t) \rangle.$$
(4.21)

This technique was recently used in circuit QED experiments [173, 174], where measurements of the transverse spin components were achieved using  $\pi/2$  tomographic pulses. From the time integration of  $\langle \sigma^y(t) \rangle$ , the authors accessed an estimation for the Chern number  $C^m$  for each value of  $H_0$  and addressed quantitatively the Haldane topological transition occuring at  $H_0 = H$ . We show in Fig. 4.3 (right panel) the corresponding evolution of the measured Chern number  $C^m$  with respect to  $H_0/H$  for v/H = 0.04. We do not observe a clear jump of the measured Chern number  $C^m$  at the transition, but rather a continuous evolution. This feature is due to the fact that we can no longer use pertubation theory in the vicinity of  $H_0/H = 1$  (used to derive Eq. (4.18)). In this region, when  $\theta$  is close to  $\pi$ , the energy difference between ground and excited state is very small.

It may be noticed that one can reach an even more convenient expression for  $C^m$  using the Heisenberg equation of motion for  $\sigma^z$ ,  $\langle \dot{\sigma}^z(t) \rangle = -H \sin \theta(t) \langle \sigma^y(t) \rangle$ , to derive the dynamical generalization of Eq. (4.6),

$$C^{m} = \frac{\langle \sigma^{z}(t_{0}) \rangle - \langle \sigma^{z}(t_{f} = t_{0} + \pi/v) \rangle}{2} + o(v/G).$$
(4.22)

We recover easily that  $C^m = 1$  at first order in v/H, as we find from Eq. (4.17)

$$\langle \sigma^z(t_f = t_0 + \pi/v) \rangle = -\frac{1 + \left(\frac{v}{H}\right)^2 \cos\left(\frac{\sqrt{H^2 + v^2}}{v}\pi\right)}{1 + \left(\frac{v}{H}\right)^2}.$$
(4.23)

Equation (4.6) and (4.22) allow to understand that topology is robust to the environment at weak coupling and in the adiabatic regime  $v/H \to 0$ . In this regime, one may safely approximate the ground state  $|g\rangle$  of Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  by the "shifted-oscillators" ansatz, Eq. (4.9). For  $\theta = 0$ , one has p = 1 while q = 1 for  $\theta = \pi$ . From Eq. (4.22), we then deduce that  $C^m = 1$  at weak non-zero dissipation: the environment do not affect the topology of the spin, and the Chern number stays equal to one. This argument is quite general and could be generalized for other kinds of environments, such as non-ohmic spectral densities or fermionic baths. As long as the system-environment coupling is weak enough to write a wavefunction of the form of Eq. (4.9), the global topology of the spin is protected. It should be noted that an additional random dephasing noise on the variable  $\phi$  would not change the result as well, as long as  $\langle \phi \rangle$  remains a constant. A study of this exact problem was realized in Ref. [177], where the authors used a Bloch-Redfield pertubative approach to compute the spin dynamics. They notably confirmed that the ohmic environment does

not affect the measurement of the topological properties at low coupling. This result must be contrasted with the one obtained in Ref. [178], where the authors studied the effect of an ohmic bosonic bath on the Berry phase acquired by the spin for a path characterized by a variation of  $\phi$  at fixed  $\theta$ . They showed in this precise case that the environment affected the Berry phase, which is a local observable. Here, we will confirm that, despite having effects localy on the Berry curvature, the environment does not globally affect the topology of the spin at low coupling.

When the coupling strength gets larger, entanglement grows between spin and bath and a quantitative study is necessary. Below, we investigate numerically this high coupling region with a Stochastic Schrödinger Equation approach.

## IV Dissipative Spin dynamics and topology

#### IV.1 Results for spin dynamics

We show in Fig. 4.4 the evolution of the spin variables  $\langle \sigma^{\nu}(t) \rangle$  at  $H_0 = 0$  for v/H = 0.08 when one progressively increases the coupling to the environment.



Figure 4.4: Spin variables  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$  (black),  $\langle \sigma^x \rangle$  (yellow) and  $\langle \sigma^y \rangle$  (red) and their timeevolution during the sweep, with v/H = 0.08. From left to right and top to bottom, we take  $\alpha = 0.05$ ,  $\alpha = 0.15$ ,  $\alpha = 0.26$ ,  $\alpha = 0.3$ ,  $\alpha = 0.34$  and  $\alpha = 0.36$ . In the low coupling regime  $\alpha \ll 1$  we recover the two different frequencies for the dynamics v and  $\sqrt{H^2 + v^2}$ , as shown by the description in the rotating frame (Eq. (4.17) and discussion below).

At greater values of  $\alpha$ , the bath strongly affects the spin dynamics. Here are the main conclusions that we draw from Fig. 4.4:

• Below  $\alpha \simeq 0.15$ ,  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$  shows a complete oscilation from +1 to -1, leading to a measured Chern number  $C^m = 1$ . The continuous change from +1 to -1

becomes however sharper when one increases the coupling to the environment from  $\alpha = 0$  to  $\alpha \simeq 0.15$ , as can be seen from the first two top panels of Fig. (4.4).

- Above  $\alpha \simeq 0.2$  the bath progressively leads to decoherence: we remark that the length of the spin at the end of the protocol is no longer equal to 1. This is associated with a final value of  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$  greater than -1, and a Chern number  $0 < C^m < 1$ . Around  $\alpha \simeq 0.35$ , the bath completely destroys the spin coherence.
- Above this value, the bath ultimately leads to a final spin expectation value  $\langle \sigma^z(t_f = t_0 + \pi/v) \rangle > 0$  associated with a restoring of the coherence.

The measured Chern number  $C^m$  can be computed by looking at the non-adiabatic response of the spin  $\langle \sigma^y(t) \rangle$  (or equivalently from the final value of  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$ ), and we show its evolution with respect to  $\alpha$  for different velocities in Fig. 4.5, left panel. Increasing the coupling to the bath triggers a continuous transition from  $C^m = 1$  to  $C^m = 0$ .



Figure 4.5: Left: The main panel shows the evolution of the measured Chern number  $C^m$  with respect to  $\alpha$  for v/H = 0.08 (black), v/H = 0.06 (red), v/H = 0.04 (blue), and v/H = 0.02 (green). The inset zooms on the region around  $\alpha = 1/2$ , and the dashed lines represent predictions based on the mapping with a non-interacting resonant level valid at  $\alpha = 1/2$  (see Sec. V). Right : Evolution of  $C^m$  with respect to  $\alpha$  and  $H_0/H$  for v/H = 0.08.

Interestingly, this transition becomes sharper at low velocities. More precisely, we get  $C^m \to 0$  when  $\alpha \to 0.5$  for all velocities. The numerical behaviour suggests that the point  $\alpha = 0.5$  constitutes the asymptotical critical value when  $v/H \to 0$ . In this complete adiabatic limit,  $C^m$  would exhibit a jump from a  $C^m = 1$  phase to a  $C^m = 0$  phase. We also show in Fig. 4.5 the complete phase diagram with the evolution of  $C^m$  when both  $\alpha$  and  $H_0/H$  varies.

#### IV.2 Radiative cascade of photons and effective magnetic field

We give now a simple physical picture to account for the evolution of the spin observables in Fig. 4.4 at large spin-bath coupling. Driving the spin at velocity v leads to the emission of bosons of frequencies close to v, which in return affect the spin dynamics. From Eq. (4.8), we indeed see that the boson coherence  $h = \sum_k \lambda_k (b_k + b_k^{\dagger})$  acts on the spin as an effective field along the z-direction. At sufficiently high coupling, the quantitative number of bosons emitted induce a large negative value of this quantity h, which compensate the field along the z-direction and force the spin to point upwards at the end of the dynamical protocol.

To make the discussion more quantitative we study numerically the toy model

$$\mathcal{H}_{toy} = vb^{\dagger}b + \frac{\lambda}{2} \langle \sigma^z \rangle \left( b + b^{\dagger} \right), \qquad (4.24)$$

where we extract  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$  from the SSE results, and we take  $\lambda = \sqrt{2\alpha v}$ . We plot in Fig. 4.6 the absolute value of the boson-induced field felt by the spin at the end of the dynamical protocol  $\langle h \rangle = \lambda/2 \langle b + b^{\dagger} \rangle (t_f = t_0 + \pi/v)$  as a function of  $\alpha$ , for different values of the velocity. For a given velocity, the final value of the boson-induced field



Figure 4.6: Absolute value of the boson-induced field  $|\langle h \rangle|/H$  felt by the spin at the end of the dynamical protocol as a function of , for v/H = 0.08 (black), v/H = 0.06 (red), v/H = 0.04 (blue), v/H = 0.02 (green).

grows in modulus with  $\alpha$ . Above a certain coupling strength this field compensates H, which is responsible for the positive value of  $\langle \sigma^z(t_f = t_0 + \pi/v) \rangle > 0$ . From Fig. 4.6, we confirm that this simple toy-model gives a correct estimate for the coupling at which  $\langle \sigma^z(t_f = t_0 + \pi/v) \rangle$  changes sign (or equivalently, the coupling for which one gets  $C^m = 0.5$ ) for the velocities considered.

In this section, we showed that the contact of the spin with a many-body quantum environment destroys the spin topology at high coupling. We studied this topological transition within a dynamical framework, which could be readily implemented in modern quantum simulation platforms. We provided a basic dynamical interpretation of the transition in terms of a radiative cascade of bosons, whose feedback strongly affects the spin dynamics. By analogy to the dissipative transition, one can consider that the bath makes the system more "classical" at high coupling and destroys the topology of the quantum state. In particular, this finding does not seem restricted to our dynamical protocol but seems rather to have a link with equilibrium properties, as the effect subsists and becomes sharper when  $v/H \rightarrow 0$ . This fact, already suggested by the results of the "shifted oscillators" analysis, will be confirmed in the next Section where we will show that this topological transition is indeed well-defined thermodynamically. More specifically, we use the exact mapping between the ohmic spinboson model at  $\alpha = 1/2$  and Toulouse Hamiltonian [61, 63, 69, 179], describing an isolated electronic level uniformly coupled to a bath of spinless electrons. We will confirm that the point  $\alpha = 1/2$  indeed corresponds to a trivial topology and we will also study the scaling properties of  $C^m$  around  $\alpha = 1/2$  at non-zero velocities within Keldysh formalism.

## V Toulouse point and critical behaviour

Toulouse Hamiltonian reads

$$\mathcal{H}_T = \sum_k \epsilon_k c_k^{\dagger} c_k + \epsilon_d d^{\dagger} d + V \sum_k \left( c_k^{\dagger} d + d^{\dagger} c_k \right), \qquad (4.25)$$

where  $c_k$  denotes the annihilation operator of an electron with energy  $\epsilon_k$ . We assume a constant density of states over a bandwidth D, and d corresponds to the annihilation operator of the isolated electron of energy  $\epsilon_d$ . V quantifies the hybridization between the isolated level and the surrounding electrons. The equivalence between the two models in the limit  $H/\omega_c \ll 1$  can be shown by an explicit computation of the partition function [62, 180], or with bosonization [69]. One has the following correspondence,

$$(H\sin\theta) \equiv V\sqrt{\frac{D}{4\omega_c}}$$
  
(-H\cos\theta) \equiv \epsilon\_d. (4.26)

The two cutoffs can be related by  $D = 4\omega_c/\pi$  [66]. This model is exactly solvable, and we have at equilibrium [66,181],

$$\langle \sigma^z \rangle = \frac{2}{\pi} \tan^{-1} \frac{4\omega_c \cos\theta}{\pi H \sin^2 \theta} \tag{4.27}$$

$$\langle \sigma^x \rangle = -2 \left| \frac{H \sin \theta}{4\omega_c} \right| \left\{ 2 + \ln \left[ \left( \frac{\pi H \sin \theta}{4\omega_c} \right)^4 + \left( \frac{\pi H \cos \theta}{4\omega_c} \right)^2 \right] \right\}.$$
 (4.28)

When  $\theta$  varies from 0 to  $2\pi$ , the equilibrium Bloch vector describes a curve with trivial topology due to the symmetry  $\pi - \theta \leftrightarrow \pi + \theta$  of equations (4.27) and (4.28). This statement is true for all  $H/\omega_c$  and remains valid in the limit  $H/\omega_c \to 0$  where Toulouse Hamiltonian is equivalent to the ohmic spinboson model. This confirms that the point

#### V. TOULOUSE POINT AND CRITICAL BEHAVIOUR

 $\alpha = 1/2$  of the ohmic spinboson model corresponds to C = 0. In this limit  $H/\omega_c \to 0$ , one gets  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle = +1$  when  $\theta < \pi/2$  and  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle = -1$  when  $\theta > \pi/2$ .

For the dynamical protocol  $\theta(t) = v(t - t_0)$ , the quantity  $\langle \sigma^z(t) \rangle$  can be related to the occupation of the central level  $\langle d^{\dagger}d(t) \rangle$ . Such a quantity can be computed with Keldysh non-equilibrium techniques in an exact manner, following Ref. [182] where the authors investigated the time-dependent transport for Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_T$  in Eq. (4.25). From the equations of motion, we have

$$\partial_t \langle d^{\dagger} d \rangle = iV \sum_k \left[ \langle c_k^{\dagger} d \rangle - \langle d^{\dagger} c_k \rangle \right].$$
(4.29)

The computation of the right hand side of Eq. (4.29) can be performed exactly within Keldysh formalism, and we reach an expression similar to the one obtained by the authors of Ref. [182] for the lead currents (see Eq. (42) of this reference),

$$\partial_t \langle d^{\dagger} d \rangle = -\Gamma(t) \langle d^{\dagger} d \rangle - \int d\epsilon f(\epsilon) / \pi \int_{t_0}^t dt_1 \Gamma(t_1, t) \Im m \left\{ e^{-i\epsilon(t_1 - t)} G^r(t, t_1) \right\}.$$
(4.30)

In Eq. (4.30), f denotes the Fermi distribution and one has

$$\Gamma(t,s) = \frac{2\pi}{D} V(t) V(s), \tag{4.31}$$

$$G^{r}(t,s) = -i\theta(t-s)\exp\left[-i\int_{s}^{t}du\epsilon_{d}(u)\right]\exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\int_{s}^{t}du\Gamma(u)\right],$$
(4.32)

and we identified  $\Gamma(t) = \Gamma(t,t)$ . One can solve Eq. (4.30) and we recover that  $\langle d^{\dagger}d \rangle (t_f = t_0 + \pi/v) \rightarrow 1$  corresponding to  $C^m = 0$ , in the validity limit of the correspondance  $H/\omega_c \ll 1$ . Next we explore the region where  $u = (1/2 - \alpha) \ll 1$ . Deviations from the exact mapping point result in a additional term  $\mathcal{H}_t$  in  $\mathcal{H}_T$ , of the form [69]

$$\mathcal{H}_t = U \sum_{k,k'} \left( c_k^{\dagger} c_{k'} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \left( d^{\dagger} d - \frac{1}{2} \right).$$
(4.33)

In Eq. (4.33), one has  $U = \pi (1 - \sqrt{2\alpha}) = \pi u + o(u)$ . To go further, we assume that the main contribution of Eq. (4.33) comes from the terms with k = k' and we decouple the interaction in a mean-field manner. This results in a time-dependent shift of the chemical potential for the electrons depending on the level occupation  $\langle d^{\dagger}d \rangle(t)$ , which can be accounted for in the resolution of Eq. (4.30). We find numerically a linear behaviour in terms of u,  $C^m(u) = \beta(v)u$ , where  $\beta(v)$  is proportional to H/v. We show in fig. 4.5 the corresponding linear predictions, obtained with a one-parameter fit. This linear dependency can be interpreted in the light of the Fermi-liquid behaviour of the ohmic spinboson model, or its Kondo analogue [183]. In this description, the local susceptibility  $\chi = -\partial_{d_z} \langle \sigma^z \rangle$  is known to be constant with respect to  $d_z$ . As shown above, a deviation u > 0 from the point  $\alpha = 1/2$  may be seen as a shift of the electronic level energy by a factor proportional to u, or equivalently a shift of  $d_z$  in the spinboson description. This argument would confirm then a linear dependency of  $\langle \sigma^z(t_f = t_0 + \pi/v) \rangle$  with respect to u, and thus the scaling  $C^m(u) = \beta u$ . The form of  $\beta(v) \propto H/v$  bears similarities with the dependency of  $\chi \propto 1/T_K$  in the anisotropic Kondo model, which diverges at the antiferromagnetic-ferromagnetic transition  $\alpha = 1$ .

We confirmed in this Section that the point  $\alpha = 1/2$  corresponds to a trivial topology, and studied the scaling of  $C^m$  close to the transition point. It is instructive to study in more details the evolution of the entanglement between spin and bath when increasing  $\alpha$ .

## VI Entanglement entropy and effective thermodynamics

For completeness, we study the entanglement between spin and bath at the end of the dynamical protocol. To this end, we introduce the entanglement entropy [184]  $\mathcal{E} = -Tr \left[\rho_S \log_2 \rho_S\right]$ , where  $\rho_S$  is the spin-reduced density matrix.  $0 \leq \mathcal{E} \leq 1$  quantizes the degree of entanglement between the spin and its environment. For a pure state, spin and bath can be factorized and one has  $\mathcal{E} = 0$ . On the contrary, the case  $\mathcal{E} = 1$  corresponds to a maximally entangled state. We plot on the left panel of Fig. (4.7) the evolution of the final entanglement entropy (i.e. the entanglement entropy at the end of the dynamical protocol) with respect to  $\alpha$  for v/H = 0.08. We remark that the entanglement progressively grows between spin and bath to reach a maximal value of  $\mathcal{E} = 1$  at the coupling for which  $\langle \sigma^z(t_f = t_0 + \pi/v) \rangle = 0$ . This correspond to the point for which  $C^m = 0.5$  in Fig. 4.5, and when the boson-induced field exactly compensates the field H in the radiative cascade picture. As shown in Fig. 4.5, this coupling tends to 1/2 when one decreases the value of v/H.

Another interesting related quantity is the spin length  $S = (\langle \sigma^x \rangle^2 + \langle \sigma^y \rangle^2 + \langle \sigma^z \rangle^2)^{1/2}$ at the final time, which goes to zero when  $\mathcal{E}=1$ . One can also indeed interpret the spin reduced density matrix at the end of the protocol as the one of an isolated spin in thermal equilibrium, with effective Hamiltonian and temperature determined by  $\langle \sigma^x \rangle$ ,  $\langle \sigma^y \rangle$  and  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$  [185]. More precisely, we interpret the spin reduced density matrix as the one of a factorizable state  $\rho = \rho_S \otimes \rho_B$  where the spin is in thermal equilibrium with a bath at temperature  $T^*$ .

Treating the system within this analogy allows to define an effective temperature  $T^*$ , whose evolution with respect to  $\alpha$  is shown in Fig. 4.7. For  $\alpha > \alpha_c$ , we find negative temperatures, which is not surprising as the protocol leads to population invertion. Negative temperatures have notably been realized in localized spin systems [186, 187], and were recently measured experimentally for motional degrees of freedom in a cold atomic setup [188].

Interestingly, this effective temperature diverges at the transition and one has the leading behaviour  $T^*/H \propto (\alpha - \alpha_c)^{-1}$ , independently of v/H. This scaling behaviour is intimately related to the scaling of  $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$  (or  $C^m$ ) at the transition, see Section V.



Figure 4.7: Final entanglement entropy (Left panel), and final spin length (right panel) for v/H = 0.08. Inset: Effective temperature with respect to  $\alpha$ . We have  $H/\omega_c = 0.01$ .

This critical behaviour may be of interest for future experimental studies.

In this Chapter, we showed theoretically that a single spin 1/2 coupled to an ohmic bosonic environment undergo a topological transition at a spin-bath coupling  $\alpha = 1/2$ . We first provided a discussion of the transition in the "shifted oscillators" picture, and we found that the bath gradually deforms the spin ground state manifold. At  $\alpha = 1/2$ , the Berry curvature becomes infinite and this singularity signals the dissipative topological transition. Beyond the characteristic vanishing of the off-diagonal elements of the density matrix, decoherence is thus also responsible for global changes in the spin space topology.

Then, we investigated this transition in a dynamical protocol, by focusing on the non-adiabatic response of the slowly driven spin, which is known to be related to the geometric properties of the ground state [165]. The use of the SSE method enabled us to study quantitatively the progressive deformation of the system topology for various values of the drive. We complemented this findings by analytical and numerical argument close to the point  $\alpha = 1/2$ , where the ohmic spinboson model can be mapped onto the exactly solvable Toulouse Hamiltonian. Beyond its theoretical interest, an experimental evidence of this transition seems accessible in state-of-the-art experimental platforms.

As exposed in Chapter I, this model can be engineered in cold-atomic or circuit QED setups, which are great platforms for the exploration of many-body effects. In the next Chapter, we focus on recently developed hybrid platforms interfacing mesoscopic electronic physics with circuit QED elements.

CHAPTER 4. DISSIPATIVE TOPOLOGICAL TRANSITION

# CHAPTER 5

## Hybrid electron-photon systems

Recent years have seen the developments of experimental setups and theory proposals interfacing superconducting circuits with the quantized electronic levels of quantum dots [129, 189–212]. These hybrid platforms offer a new way to address interaction effects between photons and electrons on-chip, and typically involve an electronic nano-circuit, such as a single or double quantum dot (DQD) coupled to source/drain leads and to an electromagnetic resonator.

In a non-extended system like a quantum dot coupled to metallic leads, interactions play an important role. This can be understood physically as the charge tends to be localized on the nanostructure. The Coulomb interaction hinders the flow of charges through the nanostructure for a small quantum dot, as incoming electrons on the quantum dot do not have enough energy to change the charge on the dot. This results in the suppression of the conductance through the device, with the exception of the charge degeneracy points in which two different charge occupations on the dot become degenerate in energy, a phenomenon named Coulomb blockade. Taking into account the many-body interaction of the quantized dot levels with its surroundings is necessary to describe accurately the strong correlations induced by these charging effects [213].

Coupling these many-body electronic systems to microwave light provides then a new manner to probe many-body phenomena, or devise new nanotechnology devices. Experimental groundings have notably triggered substantial work linked to thermoelectrics [214–224], with possible applications for energy harvesting and cooling. The subject of quantum thermodynamics has then been rapidly growing in interest [225]. In Sec. I, we explore the possibility of rectification of electrical current from quantum vacuum fluctuations in the specific case of electrical transport through a quantum dot, and its use as a nano-heat engine, following our Ref. [212].

These hybrid systems are also of fundamental interest as platforms to explore exotic quantum impurity physics with light and matter [46]. In Sec. II we present evidence for exotic Kondo correlations in the microwave response of a DQD-cavity coupled to leads, a unique signature of many-body quantum impurity physics with light, following our Ref. [226].

## I Nanoengine from quantum vacuum fluctuations

We consider the system displayed on the left of Fig. 5.1. The left and right electronic leads contain electrons at the same temperature T, tunnel coupled to one another via a quantum dot, which is described with coupling capacitances  $C_L, C_R$ . The system is in the Coulomb blockade regime, with the lowest unoccupied quantum dot level at an energy  $E_d$  above the electrons chemical potential. Additionally, this system is part of an electrical circuit with finite impedances  $Z_L$  and  $Z_R$  connected to the system via the capacitances  $C_L^c$  and  $C_R^c$  respectively.

Naturally, no current is rectified when the system is put in state of overall zero temperature T = 0 and without electric bias: it is necessary to give some energy to the system for a current to flow. We consider the case where the electrons in the two leads are in thermal equilibrium, both at the same small temperature T. Some electrons are then thermally populated into the energy of the quantum dot level.



Figure 5.1: Quantum vacuum nano-engines with a quantum dot in the Coulomb blockade regime. Left: circuit. Right: pictorial representations of the tunneling processes at stake - the lateral parts correspond to the energy diagram of the electrons in the corresponding lead and the central part represents the energy levels of the quantum dot. The straight dotted arrows represent a tunneling event from left to right, associated with curvy arrows which correspond to photon emission.

Giving some energy to the system is however not sufficient to induce a current. We also need to break the spatial symmetry in order to favor one direction of tunneling events with respect to the other. This can be done by coupling the leads to zero temperature electrical circuits with different impedances  $Z_L$  and  $Z_R$  (or the same impedance but with different coupling capacitances  $C_L$  and  $C_R$ ). As seen in Sec. II.3 of Chapter I, the impedances can be modeled by a chain of LC oscillators, which when quantized, behave as a system of quantum harmonic oscillators, whose frequency  $\omega_i$  depends on the impedance and inductance of the chain. The vacuum energy of the chain is  $E_0 = (1/2) \sum_i \hbar \omega_i^{-1}$ , and leads to fluctuations of the charge (or voltage) on the

 $<sup>^1\</sup>mathrm{We}$  restore the  $\hbar$  in this section.

plate of the coupling capacitor to the quantum dot [227]. If the impedances coupled to the two leads are different, the fluctuations of the vacuum will break Left/Right symmetry, giving a preferred direction for the particles to flow - thus giving current rectification, without the application of a bias voltage across the system.

#### I.1 Analysis

We let  $c_k$  be a fermionic annihilation operator on the left lead of momentum k, similarly, d and  $c_q$  describe electrons on the dot, and the right lead. The system Hamiltonian is, up to a constant term and assuming spin-polarized electrons,

$$H = \sum_{k} (\epsilon_k + ev_L) c_k^{\dagger} c_k + \sum_{q} (\epsilon_q + ev_R) c_q^{\dagger} c_q + E_c d^{\dagger} d + H_{ph} + H_C, \qquad (5.1)$$

 $H_{ph}$  is the Hamiltonian of the environment in isolation and  $v_{L,R}$  are the quantum voltage induced by the presence of the Left/Right environments. We define the zero of energy as the Fermi level of the leads.  $E_c > 0$  is the charging energy of this level, which corresponds to the difference of energy when the dot is charged, versus uncharged [228, 229]. The external impedances are coupled to the electrical circuit through coupling capacitances, allowing then an efficient thermal isolation.

The tunneling terms are  $H_C = \sum_k t_{kd} (d^{\dagger}c_k + h.c.) + \sum_q (t_{dq}c_q^{\dagger}d + h.c.)$ . Here,  $t_{kd}$ is the tunneling matrix element onto the dot from the left lead with momentum k,  $t_{dq}$  is the tunneling matrix element from the dot to the right lead with momentum q.  $H_{ph} = \sum_{l \in \{L,R\}} \sum_n \hbar \omega_{n,l} \left( b_{n,l}^{\dagger} b_{n,l} + 1/2 \right)$  describes the environmental degrees of freedom. The voltages on the tunnel junctions are related to the bosonic degrees of freedom by  $v_l = \sum_n \lambda_{n,l} (b_{n,l}^{\dagger} + b_{n,l})$ . The effect of these quantum voltages on the tunnel junctions and coupling capacitors can be conveniently taken into account by a unitary transformation  $U = \exp(i\phi_L \sum_k c_k^{\dagger} c_k + i\phi_R \sum_q c_q^{\dagger} c_q)$ . This transformation  $H \to U^{-1}HU$  has the effect of eliminating the voltages on the bare system Hamiltonians and putting a phase on the tunneling elements,

$$t_{kd} \to t_{kd} \exp(i\phi_L), \tag{5.2}$$

$$t_{dq} \to t_{dq} \exp(-i\phi_R). \tag{5.3}$$

Here, we have introduced the phase  $\phi_l = (e/\hbar) \sum_n \lambda_{n,l} / \omega_{n,l} (b_{n,l} - b_{n,l}^{\dagger}) / i$  for  $l \in \{L, R\}$ .

We treat the problem within the so-called P(E) theory [85], assuming that tunneling on and off of the dot can be described with tunneling rates described within a golden rule picture in perturbation theory. This assumes that environments relax faster than the tunneling time scale rates. In this picture, we do not take into account the backaction of the electrons on the excitations of the impedances. The tunneling rates are thus controlled by the probability of the electrical circuit to either absorb or emit a photon. We recall that within a golden rule picture, the rate of transitions  $\Gamma_{i\to f}$  between an initial state  $|i\rangle$  and a final state  $|f\rangle$  is given by  $\Gamma_{i\to f} = 2\pi/h \times |\langle f|H|i\rangle|^2 \delta(E_f - E_i)$ , where *H* is the Hamiltonian describing the system and  $E_i$  and  $E_f$  are initial and final state energies.

We seek first to compute the tunneling rate from the left lead to the dot in the golden rule framework, and summing over all the possible final bath states. This tunneling rate  $T_{+,L}$  (the subscript L denotes the Left lead, and the index + refers to a positive direction chosen to be from left to right) is given by

$$T_{+,L} = \frac{2\pi}{h} \nu_L V_L \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\epsilon f(\epsilon) |t_L|^2 \sum_{|B\rangle} |\langle B|e^{i\phi_L}|0\rangle|^2 \delta(\epsilon + \mu/2 - E_d - E_{|B\rangle} + E_{|0\rangle}),$$
(5.4)

where  $\nu_L$  and  $V_L$  denotes density of state and volume of the lead L; state  $|B\rangle$  is an arbitrary one-excitation bath-state with energy  $E_{|B\rangle}$  and  $|0\rangle$  is the vacuum. We have included the possibility of a bias V ( $\mu = eV$ ) on the system. We use then the identity  $\delta(E) = 1/h \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp[iEt/\hbar]$  and reach the following expression

$$T_{+,L} = \frac{2\pi}{h} \nu_L V_L |t_L|^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\epsilon f(\epsilon) P_L(\epsilon + \mu/2 - E_d)$$
$$= \frac{2\pi}{h} \nu_L V_L |t_L|^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\epsilon f(\epsilon + E_d - \mu/2) P_L(\epsilon), \tag{5.5}$$

where the function  $P_L$  is defined by

- -

$$P_{L}(E) = (1/h) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt e^{iEt/\hbar} \underbrace{\sum_{|B\rangle} \langle B|e^{i\phi_{L}}|0\rangle e^{-i/\hbar [E_{|B\rangle} - E_{|0\rangle}]t} \langle 0|e^{-i\phi_{L}}|B\rangle}_{\langle e^{i\phi_{L}(t)}e^{-i\phi_{L}(0)}\rangle} = (1/h) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt e^{iEt/\hbar} e^{k_{L}(t)}.$$
(5.6)

In Eq. (5.6),  $k_L(t) = \langle (\phi_L(t) - \phi_L(0))\phi_L(0) \rangle$  is the lead correlation functions taken in isolation<sup>1</sup>. A similar type of calculation holds for the right lead, and for the negative direction (from right to left), and one generally gets  $T_{\pm,L} = T_{\pm,L}(E_d)$  with the  $T_{\pm,L}$  function defined as

$$T_{\pm,L}(\Omega) = T_{0,L} \int d\epsilon f(\epsilon \pm \Omega \mp \mu/2) P_L(\epsilon), \qquad (5.7)$$

$$T_{\pm,R}(\Omega) = T_{0,R} \int d\epsilon f(\epsilon \mp \Omega \mp \mu/2) P_R(\epsilon), \qquad (5.8)$$

where  $T_{0,l} = 2\pi/h|t_l|^2\nu_l V_l$ . From Eqs. (5.7) and (5.8), one remarks that the *P* functions can be interpreted as the probability of the electrical circuit to either absorb or emit a photon (see Ref. [85] for a detailed description).

Now that we have the expressions of the tunneling rates, we can compute the current flowing through the device for different kinds of environments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We could go from the first line of Eq. (5.6) to the second line because the bath is gaussian.

#### I.2 Rectified current

#### I.2.a Coupling to an ohmic environment

We first consider the case when the external impedances are ideal Ohmic resistor described by the frequency-independent impedance  $Z_l = R_l$ . The lead correlation function reads [85]

$$k_l(t) = \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\omega} 2Re\left[\frac{R_l}{R_q}\right] (e^{-i\omega t} - 1),$$
(5.9)

where  $R_l (= \sqrt{L_l/C_l^c})$  is the impedance of the transmission line coupled to the lead l (see also Chapter I Sec. II.3) and  $R_q = h/e^2$  is the resistance quantum. Let us define  $\alpha_l = R_q/R_l$  (we will mainly consider the regime  $\alpha_l \gg 1$ ). In this ohmic case, we have at long times [85]  $k_l(t) = -(2/\alpha_l)[\ln(\alpha_l E_c t/\pi\hbar) + i\pi/2 + \gamma_e]$ , where  $\gamma_e$  is the Euler constant.

This form of  $k_l$  gives a  $P_l(E)$  function which vanishes for negative energies and has a power-law divergence for small positive energies [85],

$$P_l(E) = \frac{e^{-\frac{2\gamma_e}{\alpha}}}{\Gamma(\frac{2}{\alpha})} \frac{1}{E} \left(\frac{\pi}{\alpha} \frac{E}{E_c}\right)^{\frac{2}{\alpha}}.$$
(5.10)

This from of  $P_l(E)$  enables us to calculate the tunneling rates  $T_{\pm,l}$ ,

$$\begin{split} T_{\pm,L}(\Omega) &= -T_{0,L} e^{-\frac{2\gamma_e}{\alpha_L}} \left(\frac{\pi k_B T}{\alpha_L E_c}\right)^{\frac{2}{\alpha_L}} \operatorname{Li}_{\frac{2}{\alpha_L}} \left(-e^{\frac{\pm \Omega \pm \mu/2}{k_B T}}\right) \\ T_{\pm,R}(\Omega) &= -T_{0,R} e^{-\frac{2\gamma_e}{\alpha_R}} \left(\frac{\pi k_B T}{\alpha_R E_c}\right)^{\frac{2}{\alpha_R}} \operatorname{Li}_{\frac{2}{\alpha_R}} \left(-e^{\frac{\pm \Omega \pm \mu/2}{k_B T}}\right), \end{split}$$

where  $\operatorname{Li}_{x}(z)$  is the Polylogarithm function.

**Non-resonant sequential tunneling** Let us first assume non-resonant sequential tunneling of electrons, as described in [230]. Physically, a whole process participating to the current corresponds in this case to two distinct and successive photo-assisted tunneling events. An incoming electron first hops from one lead onto the dot while emitting a photon. Later, this electron exits the dot to the other lead while emitting another photon. These two tunneling events are considered independently. The total current results then from the net inbalance of electrons going from left to right and from right to left. The steady state current is then given by [230],

$$I = e \ \frac{T_{+,L}(E_d)T_{+,R}(E_d) - T_{-,L}(E_d)T_{-,R}(E_d)}{T_{+,L}(E_d) + T_{+,R}(E_d) + T_{-,L}(E_d) + T_{-,R}(E_d)}.$$
(5.11)

We recover that I = 0 when the bare tunneling rates and the impedances are equal. In this case,  $T_{+,L}(E_d) = T_{-,R}(E_d)$  and  $T_{-,L}(E_d) = T_{+,R}(E_d)$ .



Figure 5.2: Rectified current with respect to  $E_d/k_BT$  at zero bias. The dashed blue and the full blue curves correspond respectively to the non-resonant and the resonant case of the setup displayed in Fig. 5.1(b). We have  $k_BT = 0.125E_c$ ,  $\alpha_L = 5$ ,  $\alpha_R = 30$ ,  $\Gamma_0 = 0.125E_c$ . We do not calculate the current at temperatures of the order or greater than the charging energy<sup>1</sup>. Inset: Evolution of the maximum value of the current  $I_M$ at the resonance with respect to  $E_c/k_BT$ .

**Resonant sequential tunneling** As the quantum dot is well isolated from the external environment, it might be relevant to address resonant transport processes through the device. The transmitted electron can indeed coherently bounce back and forth between the two barriers and interfere constructively before it exits, as illustrated in Fig. 5.3. This case permits Fabry-Perot type resonances between the two junctions forming the quantum dot [231].

In the case of a simple isolated double barrier, the transmission amplitude  $t^+$  from the left to the right side results from all the possible paths with a given number of reflections between the two barriers,

$$t^{+} = t_{L}t_{R} + t_{L}r_{R}r_{L}e^{i\theta}t_{R} + \dots + t_{L}(r_{R}r_{L}e^{i\theta})^{n}t_{R} + \dots$$
  
=  $\frac{t_{L}t_{R}}{1 - r_{R}r_{L}e^{i\theta}},$  (5.12)

where  $\theta$  is the phase acquired during one round trip between the two barriers (note that we have  $t^+ = t^-$ ). In our case, each tunneling event can be associated with the

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ Above this threshold, the description we made is no longer accurate as the other levels of the quantum dot must be taken into account.



Figure 5.3: Resonant tunneling process. An incoming electron tunnels onto the dot while emitting a photon. If the resulting energy is close to a resonant energy of the quantum dot, the electron can coherently bounce back and forth between the two barriers before exiting the dot.

emission of one photon. Let  $\epsilon_L$  be the initial energy of the electron, and  $\epsilon_R$  its energy at the end of the process. During the tunneling process, emissions of photons are possible in the left and in the right lead. Let  $\Omega$  be the energy of the electron after the first tunneling process and the eventual emission of photons in the left transmission line. We can write

$$t_L^+(\epsilon_L, \Omega) = t_L \times \sum_{|B\rangle} \langle B|e^{i\phi_L}|0_L\rangle \delta(\epsilon_L - \Omega - E_{|B\rangle})$$
(5.13)

$$t_R^+(\epsilon_R, \Omega) = t_R \times \sum_{|C\rangle} \langle C|e^{-i\phi_R}|0_R\rangle \delta(\epsilon_R + E_{|C\rangle} - \Omega).$$
(5.14)

Making use of Eq. (5.12), we get:

$$t^{+}(\epsilon_{L},\epsilon_{R},\Omega) = t_{L}^{+}(\epsilon_{L},\Omega)t_{R}^{+}(\epsilon_{R},\Omega) + t_{L}^{+}(\epsilon_{L},\Omega)r_{R}r_{L}e^{i\theta(\Omega)}t_{R}^{+}(\epsilon_{R},\Omega) + \dots$$
$$= \frac{t_{L}^{+}(\epsilon_{L},\Omega)t_{R}^{+}(\epsilon_{R},\Omega)}{1 - r_{R}r_{L}e^{i\theta(\Omega)}}.$$
(5.15)

The transmission probability  $\gamma^+(\epsilon_L, \epsilon_R)$  associated with this process is given by

$$\gamma^{+}(\epsilon_{L},\epsilon_{R}) = \int d\Omega \ t^{+}(\epsilon_{L},\epsilon_{R},\Omega) \left[t^{+}(\epsilon_{L},\epsilon_{R},\Omega)\right]^{*}$$
$$= \int d\Omega \ \frac{|t_{L}|^{2}|t_{R}|^{2}}{\left|1 - r_{R}r_{L}e^{i\theta(\Omega)}\right|^{2}} \times \left\{\sum_{|B\rangle} |\langle B|e^{i\phi_{L}}|0_{L}\rangle|^{2}\delta(\epsilon_{L} - \Omega - E_{|B\rangle})\right\}$$
$$\times \left\{\sum_{|C\rangle} |\langle C|e^{-i\phi_{R}}|0_{R}\rangle|^{2}\delta(\epsilon_{R} + E_{|C\rangle} - \Omega)\right\}.$$
(5.16)

The last two terms of Eq. (5.16) can be reexpressed thanks to P(E) theory (see above), and the denominator can be simplified by using the Lorentzian approximation

[231]. A similar expression holds for the negative direction. We integrate now over the lead electron energies, we get the following expressions for the total transmission probabilities  $\Gamma^{\pm}$ 

$$\Gamma^{+} = \int d\Omega \, \frac{T_{+,L}(\Omega)T_{+,R}(\Omega)}{\left(\frac{T_{0,L}+T_{0,R}}{2}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\Omega-E_{d}}{\hbar}\right)^{2}},\tag{5.17}$$

$$\Gamma^{-} = \int d\Omega \, \frac{T_{-,L}(\Omega)T_{-,R}(\Omega)}{\left(\frac{T_{0,L}+T_{0,R}}{2}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{\Omega-E_d}{\hbar}\right)^2}.$$
(5.18)

where  $T_{\pm,l}(\Omega)$  are given by Eqs. (5.7) and (5.8). In the following, we consider that the Left and Right junctions are identical. The total rectified current is  $I = (e/\hbar) (\Gamma^+ - \Gamma^-)$ . It corresponds to a resonant sequential tunneling associated with the emission of two photons.

Results are shown in Fig. 5.2. We notice that the rectified current is maximal at a dot energy of the order of the temperature. The value of this maximal current also depends on the charging energy of the dot. The inset shows then the evolution of the maximum value of the current with respect to  $E_c/k_BT$  (for  $E_c/k_BT > 2$ ). We notice that the current decreases with the charging energy, as expected from the power law evolution of P(E).

#### I.2.b Coupling to a resonator

Let us consider the case where the lead l is now coupled to a zero-temperature resonator of frequency  $\omega_l = 1/\sqrt{L_l C_l^c}$  (composed of an inductance  $L_l$  and a capacitance  $C_l^c$ ). We then have

$$k_l(t) = \frac{Z_l}{R_q} \left( e^{-i\omega_l t} - 1 \right).$$
 (5.19)

where  $Z_l = \sqrt{L_l/C_l^c}$ . This allows us to reach the following expression for  $P_l(E)$ ,

$$P_l(E) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{Z_l}{R_q}\right)^k e^{-\frac{Z_l}{R_q}} \delta(E - k\hbar\omega_l).$$
(5.20)

The left and right tunneling rates given by Eqs. (5.7) and (5.8) read

$$T_{\pm,L}(\Omega) = T_{0,L} \sum_{k} \frac{\left(\frac{Z_L}{R_q}\right)^k}{k!} e^{-\frac{Z_L}{R_q}} f(k\hbar\omega_L \pm \Omega)$$
(5.21)

$$T_{\pm,R}(\Omega) = T_{0,R} \sum_{k} \frac{\left(\frac{Z_R}{R_q}\right)^k}{k!} e^{-\frac{Z_R}{R_q}} f(k\hbar\omega_R \mp \Omega).$$
(5.22)



Figure 5.4: Rectified current with respect to the temperature, and the cavity frequency. We have  $\Gamma_{0,L} = \Gamma_{0,R} = \Gamma_0$ ,  $E_d/\Gamma_0 = 6$ ,  $Z_R/R_q = 0.5$ .

These rates take into account tunneling events with the emission of several photons, and the ratio  $Z_l/R_q$  determines the dominant processes occuring in the device. We will mainly consider small values of  $Z_l/R_q$  where one-photon processes are the most relevant.

The best situation corresponds to very asymmetric configurations, where one of the two cavities is suppressed. In this case, the coupling to a frequency-selective cavity leads to a rectified current substantially greater than in the case of two standard resistances in a highly asymmetric configuration. We have then photon-assisted tunneling and current rectification without any drive on the cavity, in contrast to Refs. [232–234]. We study the dependence of the rectified current with respect to the temperature and the cavity frequency in this highly asymmetric case, where only the right lead is coupled to a cavity. In this case, the current is simply given by

$$I = \frac{eZ_R}{\hbar R_q} \int d\Omega \frac{\Gamma_0^2}{\Gamma_0^2 + (\Omega - E_d)^2} \left[ f(\Omega) f(\hbar \omega_R - \Omega) - f(-\Omega) f(\hbar \omega_R + \Omega) \right].$$
(5.23)

The rectified current is written in Eq. (5.23) as a difference of two terms, which are products of two Fermi functions. At zero temperature both terms are zero (because one of the Fermi function is zero in both terms), and no tunneling events can occur. In the limit of high temperature, the flattening of the Fermi functions erase the asymmetry of the setup introduced by  $\omega_R$ , which also leads to a zero rectified current. There exists an optimal lead temperature between these two limits, for which current is maximal.

In Fig. 5.4 we plot the rectified current with respect to the temperature and to the cavity frequency. In this case of one-photon processes, we naturally find that the resonance occurs at a temperature T such that  $k_BT \simeq \hbar\omega_R$ . For greater values of  $Z_R/R_q$ , this resonance is shifted to a greater value of the temperature T, which can be estimated by  $k_BT \simeq k\hbar\omega_R$ , where k is the number of photons of the dominant process at this value of  $Z_R/R_q^{-1}$ .

The heat engines can be characterized thanks to two physical quantities which are the maximum power that can be generated, and the efficiency of the engine. Next, we consider briefly the different characteristics of the engine.

#### I.3 Heat engine characteristics

The generated power is given by the product  $I \times V$ . When I > 0 and V < 0, the device produces power: the generated current flows against a load potential. In Fig. 5.5 we plot the evolution of the resonant current with respect to an external bias field at different lead temperatures. We see that the increase of the temperature has two effects: it leads to a drop in the conductance, and to the appearance of the zero-voltage rectification current. We show the maximum power that can be generated in the inset of Fig. 5.5.



Figure 5.5: Rectified current with respect to an external bias at different lead temperatures, ranging linearly from the limit of zero temperature (full cyan curve) to  $k_B T/\Gamma_0 = 3$  (full red curve). We have taken the resonant case of the setup displayed in the Fig. 5.1 (and adjusted the value of  $E_d/k_B T$  at small bias). Inset: generated power with respect to the external bias. We have  $\alpha_L = 5$ ,  $\alpha_R = 30$  and  $\Gamma_0 = 0.125E_c$ .

We plot in Fig. 5.6 the maximum power as a function of temperature. In the single cavity case it exhibits a peak at a given temperature, while on the other hand the power generated by the circuit coupled to ohmic impedances is increasing with temperature. In all cases we must consider thermal energies which are smaller than

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ The photon number follow more precisely a discrete Poisson distribution. We would however need to take into account higher energy levels of the resonator for a more complete description.

the level spacing of the dot. Above this limit, our calculations no longer hold.



Figure 5.6: Maximal power  $P_M$  with respect to  $k_B T/\Gamma_0$ . The red curve with downpointing triangles and the blue curve with circles correspond respectively to the resonant and the non-resonant case of the setup displayed in Fig. 5.1. For these setups, we have  $E_c/\Gamma_0 = 20$ ,  $\alpha_L = 5$  and  $\alpha_R = 30$ , and  $E_d$  is adjusted to maximize the power. The green curve with squares corresponds to the case of one cavity, and  $\omega_R$  and  $E_d$ are adjusted to maximize the power.



Figure 5.7: Efficiency of the engines with respect to  $k_B T/\Gamma_0$ . We use the same color and symbol legend as in Fig. 5.6. Parameters are unchanged.

The efficiency is given by  $\eta = IV/(IV - J)$ , where -J is the heat expelled to the
cold environment, which is then given by the sum of all the energy carried by the emitted photons. The heat currents associated with the tunneling events are

$$J_{\pm,L}(\Omega) = \Gamma_{0,L} \int d\epsilon f(\epsilon \pm \Omega \mp \mu/2) P_L(\epsilon)\epsilon, \qquad (5.24)$$

$$J_{\pm,R}(\Omega) = \Gamma_{0,R} \int d\epsilon f(\epsilon \mp \Omega \mp \mu/2) P_R(\epsilon) \epsilon.$$
(5.25)

Defining  $J(\Omega) = J_{+,L}(\Omega) + J_{-,L}(\Omega) + J_{+,L}(\Omega) + J_{+,R}(\Omega)$ , the emitted heat current is simply given by  $J(E_d)$  in the case of non-resonant tunneling, while it is

$$J = \int d\Omega \ J(\Omega) \frac{\left(\frac{\Gamma_{0,L} + \Gamma_{0,R}}{2}\right)}{\left(\frac{\Gamma_{0,L} + \Gamma_{0,R}}{2}\right)^2 + (\Omega - E_d)^2}$$
(5.26)

in the case of resonant tunneling. We plot in Fig. 5.7 the efficiency of the Nano-engines with respect to  $k_B T/\Gamma_0$ . Interestingly, we remark that the efficiency of the setup displayed in Fig. 5.1 is similar for the non-resonant and the resonant case.

Another heat-engine setup is introduced in Appendix G.

#### I.4 Conclusion and discussion about higher order terms

We explored in this section coherent transport phenomena in a quantum dot device. We notably discussed resonant tunneling processes leading to current leakage out of the device.

When the dot levels are strongly coupled to the surrounding environment, highorder tunneling processes become relevant. One very interesting example of the importance of high-order tunneling terms comes from the realization of the Kondo model in such quantum dot devices, occuring when the quantum dot has an average occupation close to an odd number of electrons. In a regime of low temperatures, the effect of spin-flip processes occuring via intermediate states with double or zero occupancies, which are illustrated in Fig. 5.8, becomes important. One may formally derive the Kondo Hamiltonian from the standard Anderson Hamiltonian, and restricting the dynamics to the single occupied states. This link was achieved in Ref. [235] by J. R. Schrieffer and P. A. Wolff, with the help of a unitary transformation. The derivation starts from the standard Anderson Hamiltonian,

$$\mathcal{H}_A = \sum_{k\sigma} \epsilon_k c^{\dagger}_{k\sigma} c_{k\sigma} + \sum_{\sigma} \epsilon_d d^{\dagger}_{\sigma} d_{\sigma} + U n_{d\uparrow} n_{d\downarrow} + \sum_{k\sigma} t \left[ c^{\dagger}_{k\sigma} d_{\sigma} + d^{\dagger}_{\sigma} c_{k\sigma} \right].$$
(5.27)

The operator  $c_{k\sigma}$  annihilates an electron with spin  $\sigma$  in mode k, and the operator  $d_{\sigma}$  annihilates an electron on the dot with spin  $\sigma$ . The last term in the right-hand side



Figure 5.8: Spin flip scattering involving a quantum dot in light grey and one reservoir lead in blue. The top panels show processes with zero intermediate occupancy, while the bottom panels show processes with double intermediate occupancy.

of Eq. (5.27) describes the hybridization between the dot and the lead. We take a tunneling term t independent of k for simplicity. At sufficiently low temperatures, processes described in Fig. 5.8 become highly relevant. The idea developped in Ref. [235] to describe this effect is to seek an effective low-energy Hamiltonian derived from  $\mathcal{H}_A$  in the subspace of  $n_d = 1$ . This can be done with the help of a unitary transformation  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_A = e^U \mathcal{H}_A e^{-U}$ , for which the Hermitian operator A has a perturbative expansion in t. As processes in Fig. 5.8 involve two tunneling events, we build U so that  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_A$  do not contain terms in  $\mathcal{O}(t)$ . The leading processes would then be of order  $\mathcal{O}(t^2)$ , and describe the relevant processes. This criterion is satisfied by choosing [235],

$$U = \sum_{k\sigma} t \left[ \frac{1}{\epsilon_k - \epsilon_d} c^{\dagger}_{k\sigma} d_{\sigma} + \frac{U}{(\epsilon_d - \epsilon_k)(\epsilon_d + U - \epsilon_k)} d^{\dagger}_{\sigma} d_{\overline{\sigma}} c^{\dagger}_{k\sigma} d_{\sigma} \right] - h.c.$$
(5.28)

The effective Hamiltonian in the subspace  $n_d = 1$  at order  $\mathcal{O}(t^2)$  yields Kondo model,

$$\mathcal{H}_A|_{n_d=1} = \sum_{k\sigma} \epsilon_k c^{\dagger}_{k\sigma} c_{k\sigma} + J \sum_{kk'} \vec{s}_{k,k'} . \vec{S}, \qquad (5.29)$$

where  $\vec{S}$  is an effective spin operator for the impurity,  $S^z = d^{\dagger}_{\uparrow} d_{\uparrow} - d^{\dagger}_{\downarrow} d_{\downarrow}$ ,  $S_+ = d^{\dagger}_{\uparrow} d_{\downarrow}$ and  $S_- = d^{\dagger}_{\downarrow} d_{\uparrow}$ . The operators  $\vec{\sigma}_{k,k'}$  are conduction band spin operators  $\vec{s}_{k,k'} = \sum_{\sigma\sigma'} c^{\dagger}_{k\sigma} \vec{\sigma}_{\sigma\sigma'} c^{\dagger}_{k'\sigma'}$ , where  $\vec{\sigma} = (\sigma^x, \sigma^y, \sigma^z)^T$ . The coupling J is independent of k, k'if only the electrons close to the Fermi level participate to the effect and we have  $|\epsilon_k|, |\epsilon_{k'}| \ll |\epsilon_d|, |\epsilon_d + U|$ . The interaction term in Hamiltonian (5.29) is now SU(2) symmetric. The manifestation of the formation of the SU(2) Kondo resonance in quantum dots differs greatly from the effects in metals. At very low temperatures, the Kondo resonance develops in this case at the Fermi level, and the corresponding states in the resonance allow electrons to pass through freely when the dot is coupled to two leads. By contrast to the Kondo effect in dilute magnetic alloys, it leads in this precise case to an increase of the zero-bias conductance between the leads, which was observed experimentally in Refs. [236, 237].

Coupling several dots together may lead to more involved Kondo physics, as we will show below in the results of a recent collaboration.

## II Experimental evidence of SU(4) Kondo physics in a DQD device

We present here the result of a collaboration studying a Double Quantum Dot (DQD) coupled to a superconducting resonator. The device (shown in Fig. 5.9) is mounted in a dry dilution refrigerator, its base temperature is about 30 mK. Two DQDs, made of few-layer etched graphene, are coupled to the resonator through their sources [199], however, only one of them is used while the other is grounded all over the experiment. The DQD geometry is achieved by adjusting the gate voltages  $V_{LP}$  and  $V_{RP}$ . A vector network analyzer (VNA) is used to apply coherent microwave driving tone and measure the reflection signal  $S_{11}$  (see Fig. 5.9(c)). The reflection signal can be measured by its amplitude ( $A = |S_{11}|$ ) and phase ( $\phi = \arg(S_{11})$ ) components through the VNA.

#### II.1 SU(4) Kondo physics in a DQD device

The charge stability diagram of a DQD shows the equilibrium charge state of the two dots as a function of the gate voltages  $V_{LP}$  and  $V_{RP}$  which control the Left and Right dot energy levels. Such a diagram exhibits a typical hexagonal structure [238], as shown in Fig. 5.10. Inside each hexagon, the number of electrons in the dots is fixed and well-defined. At point D for example, the electronic configuration (N, M) corresponds to N electrons in the left dot and M electrons in the right dot. Along the grey lines (points A, B and C), two charge configurations are degenerate. Points B and C are equivalent and lie on a degeneracy line between states with the same number of electrons in one dot and a difference of one electron in the other dot.

In contrast, the point A corresponds to a charge degeneracy between two states (N-1, M) and (N, M-1) with the same total charge. It costs the same energy to have this extra electron on the left or on the right dot [238]. Other configurations on the DQD cost higher energy. The low-energy theory describing this situation can be built by introducing, in addition to the spin  $1/2 S^z$  of the electron delocalized on the DQD, the orbital pseudospin  $1/2 T^z$ , projecting on these two allowed states (see Fig.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The gate lever arms are  $\sim 10\%$ .



Figure 5.9: (a) Micrograph of the DQD gate structure. (b) Sample structure of a typical etched graphene DQD. The dc voltages used to control the charge numbers in the DQD are applied via left and right plunger (LP and RP) gates. A quantum point contact with a source  $(S_Q)$  and drain  $(D_Q)$  channel and a tuning gate (Q) is integrated near the DQD. (c) Circuit schematic of the hybrid device. The half-wavelength reflection line resonator is connected to DQD's left dot (LD) at one end of its two stripelines. The right dot (RD) is connected to the drain. A microwave signal is applied to the other end of the resonator, and the reflected signal is detected using a network analyzer.

5.11), which are further coupled by a finite tunneling term  $t'T^x$ . These four quantum states generate exotic Kondo physics when coupled to the two channels conduction electrons [239].

To describe the low-energy physics, we introduce a set of operators. The operators in  $\vec{S}$  correspond to the spin operators of the electron delocalized on the DQD; and the operators in  $\vec{\sigma}$  and  $\vec{\tau}$  act respectively on the spin space and orbital (lead) space of the electron operators. Operators  $P_{\pm} = (1 \pm 2T^z)/2$  are projectors on the DQD states (N, M - 1) and (N - 1, M), while operators  $p_{\pm} = (1 \pm 2\tau^z)/2$  are projectors related to right and left leads.

As a result of second-order tunneling processes (as described above in the SU(2) case with one lead), we reach the low energy Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}_1 = H_{kin} + H_{kondo} + H_{orbital} + H_{assist}$  [239]. Here,  $H_{kin}$  represents the kinetic energy in the two leads. Let us present the other terms in more detail. Second-order tunneling processes are classified through



Figure 5.10: Charge stability diagram of the DQD measured by dispersive readout using the resonator<sup>1</sup>.

• pure Kondo terms involving spin flips contained in  $H_{kondo}$ , with

$$H_{Kondo} = \frac{J}{2} P_{+} \vec{S}(\psi^{\dagger} \vec{\sigma} p_{+} \psi) + \frac{J}{2} P_{-} \vec{S}(\psi^{\dagger} \vec{\sigma} p_{-} \psi).$$
(5.30)

Here,  $\psi_{\sigma l} = \int_{-D}^{D} d\epsilon c_{\epsilon\sigma l}$ , where D > 0 is a cutoff in energy and  $c_{\epsilon_k \sigma l}$  is the annihilation operator of an electron with energy  $\epsilon$  with spin  $\sigma$  in lead  $l^2$ .

• orbital contributions changing the lead index from say l = L (Left) to l = R (Right) and flipping the charge state on the DQD contained in  $H_{orbital}$ , with

$$H_{orbital} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ V_z T^z (\psi^{\dagger} \tau^z \psi) + V_{\perp} \left[ T^+ (\psi^{\dagger} \tau^- \psi) + h.c. \right] \right\}.$$
 (5.31)

• assisted tunneling processes entangling the charge and spin  $H_{assist}$ , with

$$H_{assist} = Q_z T^z \vec{S} \psi^{\dagger} \tau^z \vec{\sigma} + Q_{\perp} \left( T^+ \vec{S} \psi^{\dagger} \tau^- \vec{\sigma} \psi + h.c. \right).$$
(5.32)

The couplings above can be written in terms of the tunneling rate to the right/left lead  $\Gamma_{\pm}$  and the charging energy  $E_c$  of the DQD respectively as [239]  $J = Q_z = (\Gamma_+ + \Gamma_-)/4E_c$ ,  $Q_{\perp} = V_{\perp} = \sqrt{\Gamma_+ \Gamma_-}/E_c$ .

The addition of the orbital pseudo-spin degree of freedom changes the symmetry of the problem compared to Hamiltonian (5.29). We have here a SU(4) symmetry for the low-energy interaction term. This new symmetry will impact the properties of the Kondo resonance.

 $<sup>^2 {\</sup>rm Formally},$  the operator c refers to a symmetric superposition of A and B sub-lattice electron operators in graphene

#### II. EXPERIMENTAL EVIDENCE OF SU(4) KONDO PHYSICS IN A DQD DEVICE113

As studied in Refs. [239–245], the system flows to a Kondo Fermi-liquid fixed point where the spectral function on the DQD can be modeled by an effective resonant level model, quite robust to (charge) noise effects [246]. In this description the spectral function of the DQD can be modeled by an effective resonant level model [241], associated with spinless fermionic operators d and  $d^{\dagger}$ . These operators d and  $d^{\dagger}$  are defined in correspondance with the processes involving the orbital operators  $T^-$  and  $T^+$  respectively. We stress that even though we describe the effective resonant level with spinless operators, the spin of the electrons is a highly relevant quantity: the joint effect of the orbital and spin degrees of freedom lead to a SU(4) Kondo resonance at  $\epsilon_0$  of the order of  $T_K$ , above the Fermi surface. The position of the resonance must be contrasted with the case of SU(2) Kondo effect, for which it is located at the Fermi level. This Fermi-liquid picture constitutes a phenomenological description which greatly simplifies the problem and proved to describe well the low-temperature physics [243].

Experiments have reported the occurrence of this emergent SU(4) symmetry at the low-energy fixed point [247–251].

In this strong coupling regime, the system can be described by a the spectral function of the form :

$$\rho(\omega) = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{\Gamma(V_{sd})}{(\hbar\omega - \epsilon_0)^2 + \Gamma(V_{sd})^2},\tag{5.33}$$

where the position of the resonance  $\epsilon_0$  is of the order of  $T_K$  [241, 245]. In this phenomenological description, the width  $\Gamma(V_{sd})$  for the pseudo-fermion d is known to be voltage dependent [252], due to decoherence effects.

#### II.2 Light-matter coupling and Input-Output theory

The DQD device is coupled on its left side to a resonator (see Fig. 5.9). The description of the coupling between the electronic degrees of freedom and the bosonic modes of the resonator requires some care, as described in Ref. [253]. A full analogy with the capacitive coupling described in circuit QED is not possible due to the presence of the orbital degree of freedom in this precise case. Assuming that the dots are much smaller than the wavelength of the resonator excitation, the interaction between microwave photons and the device can be approximated by a dipolar coupling [200,253,254], and the hybrid Hamiltonian reads  $\mathcal{H}_1 + \mathcal{H}_2$  with

$$\mathcal{H}_2 = \lambda (a + a^{\dagger})T^z + \omega_0 \left(a^{\dagger}a + \frac{1}{2}\right), \qquad (5.34)$$

where  $\lambda$  quantifies the strength of the light-matter coupling. Fig. (5.11) shows a pictorial representation of the setup at point A.

In order to probe this hybrid system, we can consider that the bosonic mode a is capacitively coupled to a very long transmission line, and the Hamiltonian reads



Figure 5.11: Schematic representation of the Kondo DQD device

$$\mathcal{H}_{total} = \sum_{k} \omega_k b_k^{\dagger} b_k + (a + a^{\dagger}) \sum_{k} \lambda_k (b_k + b_k^{\dagger}) + \mathcal{H}_1 + \mathcal{H}_2, \qquad (5.35)$$

where  $b_k$  describes photonic modes of the transmission lines. We follow Refs. [46,72,74] and derive Input-Output relations by writing the equation of motion of the operators  $b_k$ .

$$\dot{b}_k = -i\omega_k b_k - ig_k(a+a^{\dagger}). \tag{5.36}$$

We integrate this equation both forwards and backwards in time and reach

$$b_k(t) = e^{-i\omega_k(t-t_0)}b_k(t_0) - i\lambda_k \int_{t_0}^t d\tau e^{-i\omega_k(t-\tau)}(a+a^{\dagger})(\tau), \qquad (5.37)$$

$$b_k(t) = e^{-i\omega_k(t-t_1)}b_k(t_1) - i\lambda_k \int_t^{t_1} d\tau e^{-i\omega_k(t-\tau)}(a+a^{\dagger})(\tau), \qquad (5.38)$$

with  $t_0 < t < t_1$ . We now introduce the input and output voltages as,

$$V_{in}(t) = \sum_{k} \lambda_k \left[ e^{-i\omega_k(t-t_0)} b_k(t_0) + e^{i\omega_k(t-t_0)} b_k^{\dagger}(t_0) \right]$$
(5.39)

$$V_{out}(t) = \sum_{k} \lambda_k \left[ e^{-i\omega_k(t-t_1)} b_k(t_1) + e^{i\omega_k(t-t_1)} b_k^{\dagger}(t_0) \right].$$
(5.40)

Using Equations (5.37) and (5.38), one can relate the input and output fields, and we find that

$$V_{out}(t) = V_{in}(t) - 2\sum_{k} g_k^2 \int_{t_0}^{t_1} d\tau \sin \omega_k (t - \tau) (a + a^{\dagger})(\tau).$$
(5.41)

Introducing a susceptibility defined by  $\langle (a+a^{\dagger})(\tau) \rangle = \int_{t_0}^{\infty} \chi_{xx}(\tau-t') \langle V_{in}(t') \rangle$  we reach,

$$\langle V_{out}(t) \rangle = \int_{t_0}^{\infty} dt' \underbrace{\left[ \delta(t-t') - 2 \int_{t_0}^{t_1} d\tau L_1(t-\tau) \chi_{xx}(\tau-t') \right]}_{r(t-t')} \langle V_{in}(t') \rangle.$$
(5.42)

The expression above defines a reflection coefficient r(t - t'). Taking the particular case of  $t_0 \to -\infty$  and  $t_1 \to +\infty$  and after a change of variables  $\tau \to \tau - t'$ , we get

$$r(t - t') = \delta(t - t') - 2(L_1 * \chi_{xx})(t - t').$$
(5.43)

From the convolution theorem we recover [46, 72]

$$r(\omega) = 1 - 2iJ(\omega)\chi_{xx}(\omega). \tag{5.44}$$

The susceptibility  $\chi_{xx}$  defined above is the response of the photon coherence to an input signal  $V_{in}$ , which is also the quantity studied in the linear response regime by the standard Kubo formalism. Next, we present light measurements at point A and show how they relate to this SU(4) Kondo model. From Eq. (5.44), we indeed see that the reflection coefficient permits to probe light-matter interaction through  $\chi_{xx}(\omega)$ . Note that in the case of an open line, a factor -1 multiplies result (5.44).

### II.3 Experimental results at the charge degeneracy point A: Phase and Amplitude of Reflected Microwave Signal



Figure 5.12: Amplitude response A = |r| as a function of the driving frequency  $\omega$ , for various bias voltages (0, 0.5, 0.6, 0.7, 0.8, 1 mV) at point A. The red dashed line shows the fitted resonance frequency, shifted by the electron transport.

We can first characterize the effect of the DQD on the resonator at point A by measuring the amplitude response as a function of the driving frequency, for various bias voltages, as shown in Fig. 5.12. The coupling to the electronic system leads to a renormalization of the bare resonator frequency  $\omega_0$  to a voltage-dependent value  $\omega_0^*(V_{sd})$ , which can be seen in the amplitude response of the cavity (and associated with the red dashed line in Fig. 5.12) [46]. All light measurements will be carried out at this precise value of the driving frequency  $\omega = \omega_0^*(V_{sd})$ .

Measurements of the reflection coefficient are first carried out at a temperature of 30mK. We show in Fig. 5.13 the evolution of the phase  $\phi$  and amplitude A responses at the resonance frequency  $\omega_0^*(V_{\rm sd})$  with respect to bias voltage. A very robust phase of  $\pi$  is observed from bias voltage  $V_{\rm sd} \simeq 0$  to  $V_{\rm sd} \simeq \pm 0.4$  mV, where the phase drops to zero. The amplitude (in dB) shows also two pronounced dips around  $V_{\rm sd} \simeq \pm 0.4$ 



Figure 5.13: Experimental result for the the reflection coefficient  $r(\omega_0^*) = A(\omega_0^*)e^{i\phi(\omega_0^*)}$ at point the charge degeneracy point A. Phase  $\phi(\omega_0^*)$  (a) and Amplitude  $A(\omega_0^*)$  (b) and (c), as a function of the bias voltage; the zoom focuses on low-energy features. (c)-(d)-(e) Theory results based on the effective quantum impurity model (see text).

mV. We notice that these features in the experimental results can be associated with the charging energy  $E_c$ . Interestingly, we also notice that the low bias regime shows a (slightly asymmetric) dip structure in the amplitude response.

In the following, we interpret the measurements presented above in the light of the Fermi-liquid picture of the SU(4) Kondo effect. We use input-output theory [74, 255, 256] and show that this picture explains well the robust  $\pi$  phase as well as the shape of the amplitude measurements.

#### **II.4** Interpretation of the experimentals measurements

The input-output theory (see Refs. [46,72,74,255,256] and above) enables us to compute the reflection coefficient of the microwave signal. We follow Ref. [46] where the authors considered a similar microwave resonator coupled to an electronic system described by an Anderson-Holstein Hamiltonian with one central quantum dot. The reflection coefficient r at the driving frequency  $\omega$  and bias voltage  $V_{sd}$  takes the form :

$$r(\omega, V_{sd}) = -1 + 2iJ(\omega)\chi_{xx}(\omega, V_{sd}), \qquad (5.45)$$

The susceptibility  $\chi^R_{xx}$  for the photon is defined as [46]

$$\chi_{xx}(\omega) = \frac{\omega_0}{\omega^2 - \omega_0^2 - \omega_0 \Pi^R(\omega) + iJ(\omega)\omega_0},$$
(5.46)

where the photon self-energy  $\Pi^R = \Re e \Pi^R - i \Im m \Pi^R$  absorbs the light-matter coupling. In Eqs. (5.45) and (5.46),  $J(\omega)$  characterizes the photonic dissipation due to the coupling of the resonator to an external long transmission line. From Eq. (5.46), the renormalized cavity frequency is found to verify the self-consistent equation

$$\omega_0^* (V_{sd})^2 = \omega_0^2 + \omega_0 \Re e \Pi^R \left[ \omega_0^* (V_{sd}) \right].$$
(5.47)

At resonance  $\omega = \omega_0^*$ , we find for  $S_{11}$  at bias voltage  $V_{sd}$ ,

$$S_{11}[\omega_0^*(V_{sd})] = \frac{\kappa_i - \kappa_e}{\kappa_i + \kappa_e}, \qquad (5.48)$$

where  $\kappa_i = J(\omega_0^*(V_{sd}))$  and  $\kappa_e = \Im m \Pi^R(\omega_0^*(V_{sd}))$ .  $\kappa_i$  represents the dissipation from the photon system only, while  $\kappa_e$  characterizes the light-matter coupling. It is important to notice that in general  $\kappa_i$  and  $\kappa_e$  at  $\omega = \omega_0^*(V_{sd})$  both depend on the applied bias voltage  $V_{sd}$ .

In the absence of light-matter coupling ( $\kappa_e = 0$ ), we would have  $r(\omega_0^*(V_{sd})) = 1$ , in agreement with a phase of zero for an open line. A phase of  $\pi$  on the other hand characterizes a rather strong light-matter interaction ( $\kappa_e > \kappa_i$ ). The phase of  $\pi$  at low bias fields at point A is then in accordance with a creation of a bound state [129].

On the other hand, at large bias voltages, the current through the DQD is large and results in strong decoherence effects for the electronic excitations. As a consequence we expect the photonic dissipation through the electronic system,  $\kappa_e$ , to be shorter than the typical dissipation rate through the transmission line, resulting in  $\kappa_e < \kappa_i$ and a phase which is zero (or  $2\pi$ ). The main question that arises from this reasoning is the following: for which value of the bias voltage does this transition from  $\pi$  to 0 occur?

Following the description provided in the previous section, the system can be treated by analogy with the case of one single dot studied in Ref. [46], the only difference being that the position  $\epsilon_0$  and the width  $\Gamma(V_{sd})$  of the electronic level are determined by the SU(4) fixed point. We can compute the electron-induced photon lifetime,  $\Im m \Pi^R(\omega_0^*(V_{sd}))$ , and its evolution with bias voltage to answer the question about the phase of transmitted photons. Using a resonant level model for the electronic system at the charge degeneracy point A, then gives [46]:

$$\Im m \Pi^{R}(\omega_{0}^{*}) = \lambda^{2} f_{\Gamma}(\omega_{0}^{*}) \sum_{\alpha, a=\pm} \alpha \arctan\left(\frac{\mu_{a} - \epsilon_{0} + \alpha \hbar \omega_{0}^{*}}{\Gamma}\right) \\ + \lambda^{2} f_{\Gamma}(\omega_{0}^{*}) \sum_{\alpha, a=\pm} \frac{\Gamma}{\omega_{0}^{*}} \ln\left(\frac{(\mu_{a} - \epsilon_{0} + \alpha \hbar \omega_{0}^{*})^{2} + \Gamma^{2}}{(\mu_{a} - \epsilon_{0})^{2} + \Gamma^{2}}\right), \qquad (5.49)$$

where  $f_{\Gamma}(\omega_0^*) = \Gamma/(4\pi^2\Gamma^2 + \pi^2\hbar^2\omega_0^{*2})$ . In addition,  $\mu_a = aeV_{sd}/2$  are the chemical potentials associated with each lead, where formally a = +1 for left (L) lead and a = -1 for right (R) lead. From the (weak) light shift in Fig. 3 (given by the red dashed curve), we estimate a relatively small light-matter coupling  $\lambda/\omega_0 \sim 10^{-2}$  which justifies a perturbative calculation in  $\lambda$ . Formally, this form of  $\Im m\Pi^R(\omega_0^*)$  is obtained by considering the limit  $|t'|\lambda/\omega_0^* \ll \lambda$ .

We take a bias dependent width  $\Gamma(V_{sd})$  for the pseudo-fermion d [252] computed with perturbative approaches,

$$\Gamma = T_K \text{ for } eV_{sd} \ll T_K, \tag{5.50}$$

$$\Gamma \sim eV_{sd} / \ln^2(eV_{sd}/T_K) \text{ for } eV_{sd} \gg T_K.$$
(5.51)

At large bias voltages, the current produces dissipation and decoherence effects on the Kondo resonance. A polynomial interpolation is performed between small and large biases.



Figure 5.14: Evolution of  $\Gamma/T_K$  with respect to  $eV_{sd}/T_K$ . At low bias voltages, we have  $\Gamma/T_K \sim 1$ , while  $\Gamma \sim V_{sd}/[\ln(V_{sd}/T_K)]^2$  for large biases  $eV_{sd}/T_K \gg 1$  (full red line). This expression is valid asymptotically and for  $\Gamma < V_{sd}$  [252]. We use a polynomial (here degree 6) interpolation between these two limits (full magenta line). The vertical dotted blue line shows the value of the charging energy  $E_c$ .

Using this form of bias-dependent  $\Gamma$ , with a Kondo temperature  $T_K \simeq 550$  mK, seems to explain (almost quantitatively) the experimental observations in Figs. 5.13,

by evaluating the photon self-energy with this effective (Kondo) resonant level model. The validity of such a form of Kondo resonance (as a function of bias voltage) has also been justified in the context of other exotic Kondo fixed points [89].

As shown in Fig. 5.13, this analysis successfully corroborates the experimental results at point A if we take a Kondo temperature of the order of 550mK. For small bias voltages, the photon field is sensitive to the Kondo electronic level producing  $\kappa_e > \kappa_i$ and a phase of  $\pi$  in the microwave reflected signal. Interestingly, the decoherence effects on the Kondo resonance induced by the bias voltage enlarge the value of  $\Gamma$ for  $eV_{sd} \ge T_K$ . This is sufficient to maintain the  $\pi$  phase shift until large values of  $eV_{sd}$ . The low bias features in the amplitude signal can also be accounted for by our model. As can be seen in Fig. 5.14, ( $\Gamma(V_{sd}) - eV_{sd}$ ) (given by the space between the magenta line and the dashed black line) initially decreases until  $e|V_{sd}| \sim T_K$ . For  $e|V_{sd}| \ge T_K$ ,  $\kappa_e$  stays greater than  $\kappa_i$ , leading to a robust  $\pi$  phase in the reflected signal. At  $e|V_{sd}|/T_K \sim 10$ , the quantity  $\Gamma(V_{sd})$  becomes smaller than  $V_{sd}$ , leading to a drop of  $\kappa_e$  and a phase shift from  $\pi$  to 0. Above  $e|V_{sd}| \sim E_c$  (vertical dotted blue line) the model ceases to be valid as we should take into account other energy levels.

We argue that the experimental results in Figs. 5.13 are not compatible with a simple analysis of the electronic system (biased leads plus double quantum dots) based on a resonant level model as was done in Ref. [46]. Indeed in this picture the electronic lifetime would be essentially bias independent and set by the width of the resonance  $\Gamma$ . Experimental results would then suggest  $\Gamma \simeq E_c = 0.4$ meV. Such a large value of  $\Gamma$  seems unphysical (in the context of a DQD weakly coupled to graphene leads). Moreover, the electronic levels in the Coulomb diamond would not be well defined. This is also in contradiction with the presence of two distinct energy scales in the amplitude of the reflected microwave signal.

We remark that there exists a low bias anomaly concerning the phase response in Fig. 5.13, which is not present theoretically. From the input-output approach we expect that the phase remains fixed and equal to  $\pi$  at low bias. Near this point, the reflection coefficient is indeed found to be real and negative. The Fermi liquid corrections [243], which are not taken into account in the input-output approach, may affect the behavior in this region.

In the following we confirm our hypothesis with DC transport measurements.

#### II.5 DC electron transport

We present in Fig. 5.15 the transport data at points A and B, and the evolution of conductance with respect to temperature for point A. In the cooling procedure for point A, the effective electrical sample temperature is around 100mK whereas the sample environment temperature of the dilution refrigerator can reach lower temperatures. Therefore, the data do not evolve much for temperatures of the refrigerator below 100mK.



Figure 5.15: (a) Temperature evolution of the differential conductance at point A, showing two peaks at finite voltage  $V_{sd} \sim \pm 0.05 mV$  which smoothly disappear above a temperature of about 500mK. Curves are displaced from the base reference by a constant offset. For an SU(4) Kondo model, the zero-bias anomaly in the conductance does not occur at  $V_{sd} \rightarrow 0$ , but rather at voltages in relation with Kondo physics [241]. In addition, when  $V_{sd} \rightarrow 0$ , at low temperatures, one predicts  $G_0 = dI/dV(V_{sd} = 0) \sim (|t'|/T_K)^2 2e^2/h$  [239] which confirms that  $|t'| \sim 0.1 - 0.3T_K \ll T_K$ . Current (b) and differential conductance (c) at point B at T=30mK, showing no zero-bias anomaly.

At point A, these measurements show at low temperatures a very rich small-bias structure, well inside the charging energy bands, with two peaks at finite voltage  $V_{sd} \sim \pm 0.05$ mV and a zero bias dip corresponding to a finite small residual conductance. Upon heating these features smoothly disappear above a crossover temperature of about 500mK. The conductance across the DQD at small bias voltages essentially follows  $2e^2/hT_K\rho(\omega=e|V_{sd}|)(|t'|/T_K)^2$  [241]. The spectral function gives the density of states accessible for an incoming electron, the prefactor  $(|t'|/T_K)^2$  corresponds to the transition probability between the two dots. The presence of anomalies at  $V_{sd} \sim \pm 0.05mV$  are thus consistent with the form of the spectral function in Eq. (5.33), with  $\epsilon_0 \simeq T_K$  above the Fermi energy of the reservoir electron leads. By contrast, a purely spin Kondo effect would yield  $\epsilon_0 = 0$ , and transport properties would be very distinct. This also leads to a finite conductance at  $V_{sd} \rightarrow 0$ , as observed in Fig. 5.15. In the Kondo limit, one predicts a differential conductance  $G_0 = dI/dV(V_{sd} = 0) \sim (|t'|/T_K)^2 2e^2/h$  [239], which leads to the prediction  $t' \sim 0.1 - 0.3T_K$ . In addition, the SU(4) Kondo theory predicts that the conductance increases linearly with the bias voltage for  $V_{sd} \rightarrow 0$  [241], as found in the experiment. From the temperature analysis of the data, we confirm that the Kondo energy scale  $T_K$ , at which the zero-bias peaks in the differential conductance disappear is roughly around 550mK.

In contrast, the differential conductance at point B does not show such anomalies, as can be seen in the two lower panels of Fig. 5.15. At point B, the levels of the two dots are not degenerate : this energy splitting is the analog of an orbital magnetic field along the z direction, which suppresses the orbital Kondo effect. Fixing the number of electrons on one dot naturally diminishes the current at low bias voltages from left to right.

Next, we perform additional measurements at higher temperatures and analyze this effect of the Kondo features.

### II.6 Evolution of the microwave response with temperature



Figure 5.16: Temperature dependence of the microwave reflected signal amplitude at point A. Curves are displaced from the base reference by a constant offset. (We emphasize that in this cooling procedure, the effective electrical temperature of the sample is around 100mK whereas the dilution refrigerator temperature T can reach lower temperatures. The data do not change much on the figure for temperature Tsmaller than 100mK.)

For completeness, we show in Fig. 5.16 and 5.17 the temperature evolution of the amplitude and phase of the reflected signal. The cooling procedure here is the same as for Fig. 5.17(a).

From Fig. 5.17, one concludes that phase measurement allows to probe the Kondo temperature and approaches  $\pi$  for  $V_{sd} \to 0$  when  $T < T_K$ . A more precise modelling with both the bias voltage and the temperature remains an open question. The phase behavior in the regime  $eV \sim T_K$  is very sensitive to the precise modelisation of the



Figure 5.17: Evolution of the phase of the microwave reflected signal at point A. Curves are displaced from the base reference by a constant offset. The cooling procedure is similar to that used in Fig. 5.16 for the amplitude. Interestingly, one observes that the phase converges to  $\pi$  for  $T < T_K = 550mK$  for  $V_{sd} \rightarrow 0$  and that the phase evolution is sensitive to the Kondo temperature. In addition, experimentally, for intermediate temperatures (we remind that the effective electrical temperature of the sample is around 100mK in this cooling procedure), the phase smoothly drops to zero for  $e|V_{sd}| > T_K$ .

bias and temperature dependence of  $\Gamma$ , as also observed in the experiment of Ref. [191].

In this Section, we have provided evidence for the formation of a robust state of interacting light and matter at the charge degeneracy point in relation with Kondo physics. Note that we assumed above that the density of states in graphene is finite, meaning that the chemical potential does not lie at the charge neutrality point where the density of states vanishes. In this case the Kondo temperature would vanish, which does not seem in agreement with experimental results.

In this Chapter, we studied how hybrid systems coupling nanoscale electronic components with light could be useful both for the creation of thermoelectric devices and the investigation of many-body electronic effects.

## Conclusion and perspectives

We introduced Spin-boson models and highlighted their relevance to modern experimental platforms. Motivated by this perspective, we introduced a Stochastic Schrödinger Equation describing the dynamics of the spin-reduced the density matrix. This approach proved to give reliable results for the Rabi model and the ohmic spinboson model for one and two spins. We applied it in Chapters 3 and 4 to study non-trivial dynamical processes for an ohmic bath, that may be measurable soon in current state-of-the-art experiments. The dissipative quantum phase transition for two spins, and the dissipative topological transition correspond to moderate values of  $\alpha \simeq 0.2 - 0.5$ . Bath-induced synchronization could be observed more easily as a dissipative parameter of the order of  $\alpha \simeq 10^{-2}$  is sufficient.

Several interesting directions for the development of the SSE method are identified:

- Extension to the lattice. Coupling this approach to modern techniques able to deal with a large number of sites such as Matrix Product States/Operators techniques could be interesting. The exact treatment of the two spins may constitute the starting point of a "clustering" point of view in this direction ([257] and cluster extensions).
- Extension to problems with disordered interactions.
- Computation of two-points correlation functions with the SSE.
- Extension of the method to fermionic environments.

Being able to deal with the dynamical sign problem at a general level remains an open question, as the SSE method requires some care and optimization for each problem.

We also illustrated on a precise example how hybrid systems coupling electrons to microwave photons on-chip could be interesting to explore many-body phenomena in electronic systems and devise exotic transport devices. The development of these "mesoscopic" QED setups motivates theoretical work to describe interacting light and matter out-of-equilibrium. CHAPTER 5. HYBRID ELECTRON-PHOTON SYSTEMS

124

Appendices

# APPENDIX A

## Derivation of the Feynman Vernon influence functional

For the sake of clarity, we consider throughout this proof Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  with only one bosonic mode b of frequency  $\omega$ , coupled to the spin with strength  $\lambda$ . Let  $\{|u\rangle\}$ be the basis of coherent states of  $\epsilon_B$ , and  $\{|\sigma_k\rangle\} = \{|\uparrow_z\rangle, |\downarrow_z\rangle\}$  the canonical basis associated with the z-axis of  $\epsilon_S$ . We have

$$\langle \sigma_f | \rho_S(t) | \sigma_{f'} \rangle = \int d\mu(u) \langle u, \sigma_f | U(t, t_0) \rho(t_0) U^{\dagger}(t, t_0) | u, \sigma_{f'} \rangle, \tag{A.1}$$

where

$$d\mu(u) = \frac{1}{\pi} du_x du_y e^{-|u|^2},$$
 (A.2)

with  $u_x$  and  $u_y$  respectively the real and imaginary part of u. In Eq. (A.1), U is the unitary time-evolution operator of the whole system. Next, we insert a closure relation (rewriting of the identity operator in terms of basis projectors)

$$\mathbb{I} = \sum_{k} \int d\mu(v) |v, \sigma_k\rangle \langle v, \sigma_k|, \qquad (A.3)$$

both on the left and on the right of  $\rho(t_0)$ . This leads to

$$\langle \sigma_f | \rho_S(t) | \sigma_{f'} \rangle = \int d\mu(u) d\mu(v) d\mu(w) \sum_{k,k'} \left\{ \langle u, \sigma_f | U(t,t_0) | v, \sigma_k \rangle \langle v, \sigma_k | \rho(t_0) | w, \sigma_{k'} \rangle \times \langle w, \sigma_{k'} | U(t,t_0)^{\dagger} | u, \sigma_{f'} \rangle \right\}.$$
(A.4)

We use the factorising initial condition  $\rho(t_0) = \rho_B(t_0) \otimes \rho_S(t_0)$  and reach

$$\langle \sigma_f | \rho_S(t) | \sigma_{f'} \rangle = \sum_{k,k'} [\rho_S(t_0)]_{k,k'} J_{k,k',f,f'}, \tag{A.5}$$

$$J_{k,k',f,f'} = \int d\mu(u)d\mu(v)d\mu(w) \left\{ \underbrace{\langle v|\rho_B(t_0)|w\rangle}_{O} \underbrace{\langle u,\sigma_f|U(t,t_0)|v,\sigma_k\rangle}_{P} \underbrace{\langle w,\sigma_{k'}|U^{\dagger}(t,t_0)|u,\sigma_{f'}\rangle}_{Q} \right\}$$
(A.6)

The remaining of the proof can be decomposed into three steps. First, we adopt a standard path-integral approach to write the propagators P and Q which appear in Eq. (A.6). Then we access the bosonic trajectories thanks to the stationary phase method, which is exact as long as the Hamiltonian is quadratic. We finally integrate over the endpoints  $u, u^*, v, v^* w$ , and  $w^*$ .

## I Path integral representation of the propagators Pand Q

This consists in splitting the time interval  $t - t_0$  into N equal steps of size  $\epsilon = (t - t_0)/N$ , and inserting closure relations at each intermediate time. We shall eventually take the limit  $N \to \infty$ . Doing this trick of time-splitting allows to estimate the infinitesimal propagator at first order in  $\epsilon$ , as  $e^{\epsilon(A+B)} = e^{\epsilon A}e^{\epsilon B} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$  for A and B two arbitrary (non-commuting) operators. Taking then the limit  $N \to \infty$  provides an exact expression for the propagator in terms of path integrals. We use the canonical basis associated with the z axis for the spin and the basis of coherent states for the bosonic mode. We express  $P = \langle u, \sigma_f | U(t, t_0) | v, \sigma_k \rangle$  as

$$P = \int \left( \prod_{p=1}^{N-1} d\mu(\psi_p) \right) \sum_{\{k_p, 0 (A.7)$$

where  $\langle u, \sigma_f | = \langle \psi_N, \sigma_{k_N} |$  and  $|v, \sigma_k \rangle = |\psi_0, \sigma_{k_0} \rangle$ . One can reach a more convenient expression for the infinitesimal propagator,

$$\langle \psi_{p+1}, \sigma_{k_{p+1}} | e^{-i\epsilon H} | \psi_p, \sigma_{k_p} \rangle = \langle \psi_{p+1} | \psi_p \rangle X_{p+1,p}, \tag{A.8}$$

with

$$X_{p+1,p} = \left[\delta\left(\Sigma_{k_{p+1}} - \Sigma_{k_p}\right) - i\epsilon\delta\left(\Sigma_{k_{p+1}} - \overline{\Sigma_{k_p}}\right)\frac{\Delta}{2}\right]e^{-i\epsilon\left(\omega\psi_p^*\psi_{p-1} + \frac{\lambda}{2}\Sigma_{k_p}(\psi_p^* + \psi_{p-1})\right)} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2).$$
(A.9)

In Eq. (A.9),  $\delta$  is the Dirac Delta function,  $\Sigma_{k_p}$  is the eigenvalue of  $\sigma^z$  associated with the eigenvector  $|\sigma_{k_p}\rangle$ , and  $\overline{\Sigma_{k_p}}$  is the complementary of  $\Sigma_{k_p}$  in  $\{-1,1\}$ . *P* then reads,

$$P = \int \left(\prod_{p=1}^{N-1} \frac{d\psi_{p,x} d\psi_{p,y}}{\pi}\right) \sum_{\{k_p, 0 
(A.10)$$

with

We use the standard rewriting of the first term of the right-hand side of Eq. (A.10) to make the derivative of the field appear in the continuum limit  $N \to \infty^1$  and reach

$$P = \int \mathcal{D}[\Sigma] \mathcal{D}[\psi^*, \psi] A[\Sigma] \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}(|u|^2 + |v|^2) + S[\psi^*, \psi, \Sigma]\right\},$$
 (A.11)

with

$$S[\psi^{*},\psi,\Sigma] = \frac{1}{2} \left[\psi^{*}(t)\psi(t) + \psi^{*}(t_{0})\psi(t_{0})\right] \\ - \left[\int_{t_{0}}^{t} d\tau \frac{1}{2} \left[\dot{\psi}(\tau)\psi^{*}(\tau) - \dot{\psi}^{*}(\tau)\psi(\tau)\right] + i\left(\omega\psi^{*}(\tau)\psi(\tau) + \frac{\lambda}{2}\Sigma(\tau)(\psi^{*}(\tau) + \psi(\tau))\right)\right]$$
(A.12)

 $\mathcal{D}[\psi^*, \psi] = \lim_{N \to \infty} \left( \prod_{p=1}^{N-1} \frac{d\psi_{p,x} d\psi_{p,y}}{\pi} \right) \text{ denotes the integration measure over the path } \psi^*(\tau) \text{ and } \psi(\tau) \text{ with endpoints } \psi(t_0) = v \text{ and } \psi^*(t) = u^*. \ \mathcal{D}[\Sigma] \text{ is the integration measure over all constant-by-parts spin path taking value in } \{-1, +1\} \text{ with } n \text{ spin flips. The } j\text{-th spin flip happens at the } p_j\text{-th discrete time. Taking the continuum limit allows to reach a convenient integral expression}$ 

$$\int \mathcal{D}[\Sigma] A[\Sigma] = \lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{n=0}^{N} \sum_{p_n=0}^{N} \sum_{p_{n-1}=0}^{p_n-1} \dots \sum_{p_1=0}^{p_2-1} \left(i\frac{\Delta}{2}\right)^n \left(\frac{t-t_0}{N}\right)^n$$
$$= \underbrace{\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{t_0}^t dt_n \int_{t_0}^{t_n} dt_{n-1} \dots \int_{t_0}^{t_2} dt_1}_{\mathcal{D}[\Sigma]} \underbrace{\left(i\frac{\Delta}{2}\right)^n}_{A[\Sigma]}.$$
(A.13)

where  $t_j$  denotes the time of the *j*-th spin flip. The path  $\Sigma$  is constrained by its initial and final values which verify  $\sigma^z |\sigma_k\rangle = \Sigma(t_0) |\sigma_k\rangle$  and  $\sigma^z |\sigma_f\rangle = \Sigma(t) |\sigma_f\rangle$ . An integration by parts in Eq. (A.12) leads to

$$S\left[\psi^*,\psi,\Sigma\right] = \psi^*(t)\psi(t) - \int_{t_0}^t d\tau \mathcal{L}[\psi^*,\psi,\Sigma]$$
(A.14)

$$\mathcal{L}[\psi^*,\psi,\Sigma] = \dot{\psi}(\tau)\psi^*(\tau) + i\omega\psi^*(\tau)\psi(\tau) + i\frac{\lambda}{2}\Sigma(\tau)[\psi(\tau) + \psi^*(\tau)].$$
(A.15)

(A.16)

Equation (A.11) together with Eqs. (A.14) and (A.15) constitute our path integral expression for P. We use the same procedure for the determination of Q and reach,

$$Q = \int \mathcal{D}[\Sigma'] \mathcal{D}[\psi'^*, \psi'] A'[\Sigma'] \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}(|u|^2 + |w|^2) + S'[\psi'^*, \psi', \Sigma']\right\}, \quad (A.17)$$

$$S'[\psi'^*, \psi', \Sigma'] = \psi'^*(t_0)\psi'(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t d\tau \mathcal{L}[\psi'^*, \psi', \Sigma'],$$
(A.18)

$${}^{1}\sum_{p=1}^{N-1}|\psi_{p}|^{2}-\sum_{p=1}^{N}\psi_{p}^{*}\psi_{p-1}=-\frac{1}{2}(\psi_{N}^{*}\psi_{N-1}+\psi_{1}^{*}\psi_{0})-\frac{\epsilon}{2}\sum_{p=1}^{N-1}\left(\psi_{p}\frac{\psi_{p+1}^{*}-\psi_{p}^{*}}{\epsilon}-\psi_{p}^{*}\frac{\psi_{p}-\psi_{p-1}}{\epsilon}\right)$$

with the same functional for the Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}$ . We moreover have the standard expression for the equilibrium bath density matrix element at inverse temperature  $\beta$ ,

$$O = e^{-\frac{1}{2}(|v|^2 + |w|^2) + v^* w e^{-\beta\omega}}.$$
(A.19)

Altogether, inserting the derived expressions into Eq. (A.6) and inverting the order of integrals, we recover Eq. (2.19) with

$$F[\Sigma, \Sigma'] = \int \frac{du_x du_y}{\pi} \frac{dv_x dv_y}{\pi} \frac{dw_x dw_y}{\pi} \mathcal{D}[\psi^*, \psi, \psi'^*, \psi'] e^{-|u|^2 - |v|^2 - |w|^2} \times e^{S[\psi^*, \psi, \Sigma] + S'[\psi^{*'}, \psi', \Sigma'] + wv^* e^{-\beta\omega}}.$$
(A.20)

## **II** Stationary trajectories with Lagrange equations

As the Hamiltonian is quadratic in terms of bath operators, we can integrate out exactly the bosonic degrees of freedom in Eq. (A.20) by solving the equations of motions. We first determine the stationary fields  $\psi$  and  $\psi^*$ , which verify:

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{\psi}} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \psi},\tag{A.21}$$

$$\frac{d}{d\tau}\frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial\dot{\psi^*}} = \frac{\partial\mathcal{L}}{\partial\psi^*},\tag{A.22}$$

with boundary conditions  $\psi(t_0) = v$  and  $\psi^*(t) = u^*$ . We find

$$\psi^*(\tau) = u^* e^{i\omega(\tau-t)} - i\frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\tau}^t d\tau' \Sigma(\tau') e^{i\omega(\tau-\tau')}, \qquad (A.23)$$

$$\psi(\tau) = v e^{-i\omega(\tau - t_0)} - i\frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{t_0}^{\tau} d\tau' \Sigma(\tau') e^{-i\omega(\tau - \tau')}.$$
 (A.24)

 $\psi'$  and  $\psi'^*$  can be determined in an analog manner, by solving Eq. (A.21) and (A.22) with boundary conditions  $\psi'(t) = u$  and  $\psi'^*(t_0) = w^*$ :

$$\psi'^{*}(\tau) = w^{*} e^{i\omega(\tau - t_{0})} + i\frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{t_{0}}^{\tau} d\tau' \Sigma'(\tau') e^{i\omega(\tau - \tau')}, \qquad (A.25)$$

$$\psi'(\tau) = u e^{-i\omega(\tau-t)} + i\frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{\tau}^{t} d\tau' \Sigma(\tau') e^{-i\omega(\tau-\tau')}.$$
 (A.26)

Inserting these stationary paths into Eq. (A.20) leads to

$$F[\Sigma, \Sigma'] = \int \frac{du_x du_y}{\pi} \frac{dv_x dv_y}{\pi} \frac{dw_x dw_y}{\pi} e^{-|u|^2 - |v|^2 - |w|^2 + wv^* e^{-\beta\omega} + u^* v e^{-i\omega(t-t_0)} + w^* u e^{i\omega(t-t_0)}}$$

 $\times \exp\left[-iu^*A + ivB - iuC + iw^*D + E\right]$ (A.28)

with

$$A = \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{t_0}^t d\tau \Sigma(\tau) e^{-i\omega(\tau-\tau)}, \qquad B = \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{t_0}^t d\tau \Sigma(\tau) e^{-i\omega(\tau-t_0)}, \qquad (A.29)$$

$$C = \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{t_0}^t d\tau \Sigma'(\tau) e^{i\omega(t-\tau)}, \qquad \qquad D = \frac{\lambda}{2} \int_{t_0}^t d\tau \Sigma'(\tau) e^{i\omega(\tau-t_0)}, \qquad (A.30)$$

$$E = \left(\frac{\lambda}{2}\right)^2 \int_{t_0}^t d\tau \int_{\tau}^t d\tau' \Sigma'(\tau) \Sigma'(\tau') e^{i\omega(\tau-\tau')} - \left(\frac{\lambda}{2}\right)^2 \int_{t_0}^t d\tau \int_{t_0}^{\tau} d\tau' \Sigma(\tau) \Sigma(\tau') e^{-i\omega(\tau-\tau')}.$$
(A.31)

#### Gaussian integration over the endpoints

We are left with standard Gaussian integrals over the endpoints, that we perform successively. This procedure generates double integrals quadratic in terms of spin path variables. After some manipulations on integrals boundaries and symmetry considerations of the integrand, we reach

$$F[\Sigma, \Sigma'] = e^{\int_{t_0}^t ds \int_{t_0}^s ds' \left[ i\lambda^2 \sin \omega (s-s') \frac{\Sigma(s) - \Sigma'(s)}{2} \frac{\Sigma(s') + \Sigma'(s')}{2} \right]} \times e^{\int_{t_0}^t ds \int_{t_0}^s ds' \left[ -\lambda^2 \cos \omega (s-s') \left( 1 + 2\frac{e^{-\beta\omega}}{1 - e^{-\beta\omega}} \right) \frac{\Sigma(s) - \Sigma'(s)}{2} \frac{\Sigma(s') - \Sigma'(s')}{2} \right]}$$
(A.32)

Equation (A.32) corresponds to the desired result in the case of one mode. The generalization to an arbitrary number of environmental mode is straightforward as we are left with a product of independent integrals, and we recover Eq. (2.20) with Eq. (2.21). An alternate derivation can be done with algebraic considerations in the interaction picture [258], as shown in appendix B.

### 132APPENDIX A. DERIVATION OF THE FEYNMAN VERNON INFLUENCE FUNCTIONAL

# APPENDIX $\mathbf{B}$

## Alternate derivation of Feynman-Vernon influence functional

Here we derive the expression of the Feynman-Vernon influence functional (2.20), using the method of Ref. [258]. In order to simplify the derivation, we first consider that one single bosonic mode is coupled to the spin. Let us call  $H_S = \Delta/2\sigma^x$  the spin-part and  $H_B = \hbar\omega b^{\dagger} b + \frac{\lambda}{2}\sigma^z (b + b^{\dagger})$  the interaction part. Eq. (A.20) can be recast as

$$F[\Sigma, \Sigma'] = tr_B \left\{ \rho_B(t_0) U_B[\Sigma](t) U_B^{\dagger}[\Sigma'](t) \right\},$$
(B.1)

where  $U_B[\Sigma]$  being the time evolution operator related to  $H_B$ . In order to evaluate this functional we derive the expression of the bath evolution operator. To do so, we switch to the interaction picture (where  $V = \lambda/2(a+a^{\dagger})\sigma$  is the interaction term) and define  $\tilde{U}_B[\Sigma](t)$  the corresponding time evolution operator. We have :

$$i\hbar\partial_t \tilde{U}_B[\Sigma](t) = \tilde{V}(t)\tilde{U}_B[\Sigma](t) \tag{B.2}$$

Defining  $\hat{X} = \frac{b+b^{\dagger}}{\sqrt{2}}$ , and  $\hat{P} = \frac{b-b^{\dagger}}{i\sqrt{2}}$ , the commutation relations gives:

$$\begin{cases} e^{-i\omega b^{\dagger}bt} \hat{X} e^{i\omega b^{\dagger}bt} = \hat{X} + \omega t \ e^{-i\omega b^{\dagger}bt} \hat{P} e^{i\omega b^{\dagger}bt} \\ e^{-i\omega b^{\dagger}bt} \hat{P} e^{i\omega b^{\dagger}bt} = \hat{P} - \omega t \ e^{-i\omega b^{\dagger}bt} \hat{X} e^{i\omega b^{\dagger}bt} \end{cases}$$

which results in:

$$\tilde{V}(t) = \frac{\lambda}{2} \sigma^x(t) [(b+b^{\dagger}) \cos \omega t + \frac{b-b^{\dagger}}{i} \sin \omega t].$$
(B.3)

As the evolution operator  $\tilde{U}_B[\sigma](t)$  is unitary, we suppose that we can write it as  $e^{-i\alpha(t)} e^{-i\beta(t)(b+b^{\dagger})} e^{-i\gamma(t)\frac{(b-b^{\dagger})}{i}}$ . The Schrödinger equation gives us the expression of  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma$ :

$$\begin{cases} \beta(t) = \int_{t_0}^t ds \frac{\lambda}{2} \Sigma(s) \cos \omega s \\ \gamma(t) = \int_{t_0}^t ds \frac{\lambda}{2} \Sigma(s) \sin \omega s \\ \alpha(t) = -\int_{t_0}^t ds \int_0^s ds' \left(\frac{\lambda}{2}\right)^2 \Sigma(s) \Sigma(s') \cos \omega s' \sin \omega s \end{cases}$$

Then, we have :

$$F[\Sigma, \Sigma'] = e^{i\left[\alpha'(t) - \alpha(t)\right]} \int dX \langle X | \rho_B(0) \ e^{i\gamma'(t)\hat{P}} \ e^{i\beta'(t)\hat{X}} e^{-i\beta(t)\hat{X}} \ e^{-i\gamma(t)\hat{P}} | X \rangle, \quad (B.4)$$

where the states  $|X\rangle$  represent a complete set of position eigenstates. It simplifies into

$$F[\Sigma, \Sigma'] = e^{i\left[\alpha'(t) - \alpha(t)\right]} \int dX \langle X|\rho_B(0)|X + \gamma(t) - \gamma'(t)\rangle e^{i\left[\beta'(t) - \beta(t)\right][X + \gamma(t)]}.$$
 (B.5)

In order to evaluate the element  $\langle X|\rho_B(t_0)|X + \gamma(t) - \gamma'(t)\rangle$ , we assume a thermal equilibrium at inverse temperature  $\beta$  for the operator  $\rho_B(t_0)$ :

$$\langle X_1 | \rho_B(0) | X_2 \rangle = \frac{1}{Z} \left( \frac{1}{2\pi \sinh \beta \omega} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2 \sinh \beta \omega} \left[ \left( X_1^2 + X_2^2 \right) \cosh \beta \omega - 2X_1 X_2 \right]}.$$
 (B.6)

Using the properties of Gaussian integrals, as well as the identity  $\frac{\cosh\beta\omega-1}{\sinh\beta\omega} = \tanh\beta\omega/2$ , we get:

$$F[\Sigma, \Sigma'] = e^{i\left[\alpha'(t) - \alpha(t)\right] + i\left[\beta'(t) - \beta(t)\right]\left[\gamma(t) + \gamma'(t)\right]} e^{-\frac{1}{4}\coth\beta\omega/2\left[(\beta'(t) - \beta(t))^2 + (\gamma(t) - \gamma'(t))^2\right]}.$$
(B.7)

Hence re-inserting the expressions of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  and after trigonometric calculations and using the symmetry of the integrand we finally recover Eq. (2.20) of the main text, with  $L_1(t) = \pi \lambda^2 \sin \omega t$  and  $L_2(t) = \pi \lambda^2 \cos \omega t \coth \beta \omega/2$ . The generalization to an infinite number of modes is straightforward.

# APPENDIX C

## Blips and Sojourns decomposition

As Eq. (2.18) is linear with respect to the elements of the initial density matrix, we can compute the different contributions separately. We begin by considering the diagonal elements of the density matrix.

### I Diagonal elements of the spin density matrix

We first focus on the contributions stemming from the diagonal elements of the initial spin density matrix, encapsulated in  $J_{1,1,f,f}$  and  $J_{2,2,f,f}$ .

### I.1 Contributions $J_{k,k,f,f}$

In this case the double spin path starts and ends in the sojourn states A or D. One path of this type makes 2n transitions along the way at times  $t_i$ ,  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., 2n\}$  such that  $t_0 < t_1 < t_2 < ... < t_{2n}$ . We can write this spin path as  $\xi(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{2n} \Xi_j \theta(t - t_j)$  and  $\eta(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{2n} \Upsilon_j \theta(t - t_j)$  where the variables  $\Xi_i$  and  $\Upsilon_i$  take values in  $\{-1, 1\}$ .

Using the explicit representation of path summation introduced in Eq. (A.13),  $J_{k,k,f,f}$  is given by a series in the tunneling coupling  $\Delta^2$  [62, 63, 125]:

$$J_{k,k,f,f} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{i\Delta}{2}\right)^{2n} \int_{t_0}^t dt_{2n} \dots \int_{t_0}^{t_2} dt_1 \sum_{\{\Xi_j\},\{\Upsilon_j\}'} \mathcal{F}_n.$$
 (C.1)

The prime in  $\{\Upsilon_j\}'$  in Eq. (C.1) indicates that the initial and final sojourn states are fixed according to the initial and final conditions. The initial sojourn is A for  $J_{1,1,f,f}$  $(\Upsilon_0 = 1)$  and D for  $J_{2,2,f,f}$   $(\Upsilon_0 = -1)$ . The final sojourn is A if  $|\sigma_f\rangle = |\sigma_{f'}\rangle = |\uparrow_z\rangle$  $(\Upsilon_{2n} = 1)$  and D if  $|\sigma_f\rangle = |\sigma'_f\rangle = |\downarrow_z\rangle$   $(\Upsilon_{2n} = -1)$ .  $\mathcal{F}_n$  corresponds to the evaluation of  $\mathcal{F}[\Sigma, \Sigma']$  for a given path with 2n spin flips, introduced above. Given this path, we can evaluate Eq. (2.20). This leads to:

$$\mathcal{F}_{n} = \exp\left[\frac{i}{\pi} \sum_{k=0}^{2n-1} \sum_{j=k+1}^{2n} \Xi_{j} \Upsilon_{k} Q_{1}(t_{j} - t_{k})\right] \exp\left[\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k=1}^{2n-1} \sum_{j=k+1}^{2n} \Xi_{j} \Xi_{k} Q_{2}(t_{j} - t_{k})\right].$$
(C.2)

The functions  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  verify Eqs. (2.28) and (2.29)

### I.2 Contributions $J_{k,\bar{k},f,f}$

Contributions  $J_{1,2,f,f}$  and  $J_{2,1,f,f}$  coming from the off-diagonal elements of the initial spin density matrix can be computed in a similar manner after the rewriting of the spin path,

$$J_{k,\overline{k},f,f} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{i\Delta}{2}\right)^{2n-1} \int_{t_0}^t dt_{2n-1} \dots \int_{t_0}^{t_2} dt_1 \sum_{\{\Xi_j\}'} \sum_{\{\Upsilon_j\}'} \mathcal{F}'_n,$$
(C.3)

with

$$\mathcal{F}'_{n} = \exp\left[\frac{i}{\pi} \sum_{k=1}^{2n-2} \sum_{j=k+1}^{2n-1} \Xi_{j} \Upsilon_{k} Q_{1}(t_{j} - t_{k})\right] \exp\left[\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k=0}^{2n-2} \sum_{j=k+1}^{2n-1} \Xi_{j} \Xi_{k} Q_{2}(t_{j} - t_{k})\right].$$
(C.4)

Here the initial blip is B for  $J_{1,2,f,f}$  ( $\Xi_0 = 1$ ) and C for  $J_{2,1,f,f}$  ( $\Xi_0 = -1$ ), and the final sojourn value  $\Upsilon_{2n-1}$  depends on  $|\sigma_f\rangle = |\sigma_{f'}\rangle$ .

## II Off-diagonal elements of the spin density matrix

We compute an off-diagonal term of the density matrix in terms of a series expansion in  $\Delta$ , considering spin paths that end in a blip state with  $|\sigma_f\rangle \neq |\sigma_{f'}\rangle$ . The paths contributing to  $J_{k,k,f,f'}$  make now 2n-1 transitions. Here the initial sojourn state is fixed, as well as the final blip state. An example of such a path can be seen in Fig. C.1. All blips are coupled to all previous sojourns and blips as can be seen in Eq. (C.2). Paths considered in Sec. I.1 ended in a sojourn state, and the latest coupling period lasted from  $t_{2n-1}$  to  $t_{2n}$ . The situation is different here because paths end up in a blip state. The final coupling period then lasts from  $t_{2n-1}$  to the final time t. But providing that we formally set  $t_{2n} = t$  and  $\Xi_{2n} = -\sum_{j=1}^{2n-1} \Xi_j$ , we get

$$J_{k,k,f,f'} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(i\Delta)^{2n-1}}{2^{2n-1}} \int_{t_0}^t dt_{2n-1} \dots \int_{t_0}^{t_2} dt_1 \sum_{\{\Xi_j\}' \{\Upsilon_j\}'} \mathcal{F}'_n, \quad (C.5)$$

with  $\mathcal{F}_n$  given by Eq. (C.2).

A similar results holds for  $J_{k,\bar{k},f,f'}$  and Eq. (C.4) is still valid for  $\mathcal{F}'_n$ .



Figure C.1: Spin path-  $\eta(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{2n-1} \Upsilon_j \theta(t-t_j)$  in red;  $\xi(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{2n-1} \Xi_j \theta(t-t_j)$  in dashed blue. Here the spin path ends in the blip state B. The initial state is A.

APPENDIX C. BLIPS AND SOJOURNS DECOMPOSITION

138

# APPENDIX D

## Sampling of stochastic variables and convergence

## I Fourier series decomposition

For simplicity we take  $t_0 = 0$  and introduce the variable  $\tau = t/t_f$  where  $t_f$  is the final time of the experiment/simulation. Hence  $\tau \mapsto Q_2(\tau t_f)$  and  $\tau \mapsto Q_1(\tau t_f)\theta(\tau)$  are defined on [-1, 1]. We extend their definitions by making them 2-periodic functions and it is then possible to expand them in Fourier series. In particular, we have:

$$\frac{Q_2\left[(\tau_j - \tau_k)t_f\right]}{\pi} = \frac{g_0}{2} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{g_m}{2} \left[\phi_m(\tau_j)\phi_m^*(\tau_k) + h.c.\right],\tag{D.1}$$

$$\frac{Q_1[(\tau_j - \tau_k)t_f]}{\pi} \theta(\tau_j - \tau_k) = \frac{f_0}{2} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{f_m^s}{2} [\phi_m(\tau_j)\phi_m^*(\tau_k) + h.c.] + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{f_m^a}{2} [\phi_m(\tau_j)\phi_m^*(\tau_k) - h.c.], \quad (D.2)$$

where  $\phi_m : \tau \mapsto \exp(im\pi\tau)$ , and we have for m > 1,  $\left\{g_m = \int_{-1}^1 d\tau \frac{Q_2(\tau t_f)}{\pi} \cos m\pi\tau\right\}$ ,  $\left\{f_m^s = \int_{-1}^1 d\tau \frac{Q_1(\tau t_f)}{\pi} \theta(\tau) \cos m\pi\tau\right\}$ , and  $\left\{f_m^a = \int_{-1}^1 d\tau \frac{Q_1(\tau t_f)}{\pi} \theta(\tau) \sin m\pi\tau\right\}$ .  $g_0$  and  $f_0$  are the constant Fourier coefficients. Then we define h and k as

$$\begin{split} h(\tau t_f) &= \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \phi_m(\tau t_f) \Big[ \left(\frac{g_m}{4}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (s_{1,m} + is_{2,m}) + \left(\frac{f_m^s}{4}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (u_{1,m} + iu_{2,m}) + \left(\frac{f_m^a}{4}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (v_{1,m} + iv_{2,m}) \Big] \\ &+ \phi_m^*(\tau t_f) \Big[ \left(\frac{g_m}{4}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (s_{1,m} - is_{2,m}) + \left(\frac{f_m^s}{4}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (u_{3,m} + iu_{4,m}) + \left(\frac{f_m^a}{4}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (v_{3,m} + iv_{4,m}) \Big] \\ &\qquad (D.3) \end{split}$$

$$k(\tau t_f) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \phi_m(\tau t_f) \Big[ \left( \frac{f_m^s}{4} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (u_{1,m} + iu_{2,m}) + \left( \frac{f_m^a}{4} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (v_{1,m} + iv_{2,m}) \Big] \\ + \phi_m^*(\tau t_f) \Big[ \left( \frac{f_m^s}{4} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (u_{3,m} + iu_{4,m}) + \left( \frac{f_m^a}{4} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (v_{3,m} + iv_{4,m}) \Big],$$
(D.4)

where  $\{s_{i,m}\}$ ,  $\{u_{i,m}\}$  and  $\{v_{i,m}\}$  are standard normal variables. One can check that h and k verify the correlations given by Eqs. (2.30), (2.31) and (2.32).

In the numerics, we use Fast Fourier Transform in order to increase the speed of the numerical procedure. As a result, discretization in time and Fourier domain are linked: we use  $N = 2^p$  steps and increase progressively p until results remain unchanged. In Fig. D.1, we illustrate this procedure for the dynamics of  $p_{|T_+\rangle}(t)$  for the dimer problem (see Chapter 3) with initial condition  $|T_+\rangle$ , with  $\alpha = 0.02$ ,  $\omega_c = 100$ , K = 0, for p from 6 to 11. For N > 11, all the curves give the same result (superposed to the full black curve).



Figure D.1: Time evolution of  $p_{|T_+\rangle}(t)$  for the dimer being initially in the state  $|T_+\rangle$ , for p = 6 (dashed blue line), p = 7 (dotted green line), p = 8 (full yellow line), p = 9 (dotted red line), p = 10 (dashed purple line), and p = 11 (full black line). Parameters are  $\alpha = 0.02$ ,  $\omega_c = 100$ , and K = 0.

From Equations (D.4), we verify that  $\overline{k_j - k_{j-1}} = 0$  for all  $j \in [1, N]$  by construction, which ensures the trace conservation property of the SSE on average.

## II Definition of the stochastic fields in relation with autoregressive processes

Let us consider the discrete random process  $h_n$  satisfying

$$\overline{h_n h_m} = \frac{1}{\pi} Q_2(t_n - t_m), \tag{D.5}$$

for n, m > 0. Such a process is not Markovian, and correlations build up at each time step. We can build such a process by considering that  $h_n$  depends on all the  $h_m$  for  $0 \le m < n$ . We write

$$h_n = \sum_{p=1}^n \gamma_p^{(n)} h_{n-p} + \sigma_n \epsilon_n, \qquad (D.6)$$

where  $\epsilon$  is a standard random variable. Parameters  $\gamma_p^{(n)}$  and  $\sigma_n$  are determined according to Eq. (D.5), leading to the following set of equations

$$\sum_{p=1}^{n} \gamma_p^{(n)} Q_2(t_{n-p} - t_k) = Q_2(t_n - t_k), \ \forall k \in [1, n]$$
(D.7)

$$\sum_{p=1}^{n} \gamma_p^{(n)} Q_2(t_p) + \sigma_n^2 = Q(0).$$
 (D.8)

These equations are the equivalent of the standard Yule-Walker [259,260] equations for Autoregressive processes. Here the order of the process changes at each time step. This notably implies that  $\sigma_n$  depends on n: the variance of the additional random movement at time n decreases with n.

This sampling procedure gives comparable results.

## III Cutoffs and control parameters in the SSE framework

Discretization in time and fourier space are linked in the case of Fourier decomposition, because we use Fast Fourier Transform algorithm to optimize the sampling. The parameter p introduced in Sec. I is then the only control parameter in our framework.

In Time-Dependent Numerical Renormalization group for example, one introduces two control parameters. The first one is related to the time discretization, while another cut-off is used at each time step to restrict the dynamics to a given number of environmental states.

### 142APPENDIX D. SAMPLING OF STOCHASTIC VARIABLES AND CONVERGENCE

Interestingly, there are also two control parameters in the SSE when one uses autoregressive sampling. The first one is the time discretization, and the second one corresponds to the standard deviation of the first random variable (the one used to determine the first move at  $t_0$ ).

# APPENDIX E

# Additional developments on Blips and Sojourns re-writing

# I Expressions of $\mathcal{M}_1^p$ and $\mathcal{M}_2^p$

For  $\mathcal{Q}_1^p$  and  $\mathcal{Q}_2^p$ , the blip and sojourn variables cannot be simultaneously both nonzero. For  $\mathcal{M}_1^p$  and  $\mathcal{M}_2^p$ , the situation is different as the state of the first spin does not constrain the state of the second one. More explicitly, for  $\mathcal{M}_1^p$  for example, one of the spins may be in a blip state while the second one is in a sojourn state, as illustrated in Fig. E.1. In the following, we will compute the contribution of these particuliar blip-sojourn configurations.

The first case (left panel) yields,

$$\begin{split} -\frac{i}{\pi} \int_{t_{2j-1}^{p}}^{t_{2j}^{p}} ds \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{s} ds' \xi^{p}(s) \eta^{\overline{p}}(s') L_{1}(s-s') &= -\frac{i}{\pi} \Xi_{2j-1}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} \Big[ \int_{t_{2j-1}^{p}}^{t_{2k+1}^{\overline{p}}} ds \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{s} ds' L_{1}(s-s') \\ &+ \int_{t_{2k+1}^{\overline{p}}}^{t_{2j}^{p}} ds \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{t_{2k+1}^{\overline{p}}} ds' L_{1}(s-s') \Big] \\ &= \frac{i}{\pi} \Big[ \Xi_{2j-1}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} Q_{1}(t_{2j-1}^{p} - t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}) + \Xi_{2j}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} Q_{1}(t_{2j}^{p} - t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}) \\ &+ \Xi_{2j}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k+1}^{\overline{p}} Q_{1}(t_{2j}^{p} - t_{2k+1}^{\overline{p}}) \Big]. \end{split}$$
(E.1)

The second configuration gives,

$$-\frac{i}{\pi} \int_{t_{2j-1}^{p}}^{t_{2j}^{p}} ds \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{s} ds' \xi^{p}(s) \eta^{\overline{p}}(s') L_{1}(s-s') = -\frac{i}{\pi} \Xi_{2j-1}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} \left[ \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{t_{2j}^{p}} ds \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{s} ds' L_{1}(s-s') \right]$$
$$= \frac{i}{\pi} \left[ \Xi_{2j}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} Q_{1}(t_{2j}^{p} - t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}) \right]. \tag{E.2}$$
The third configuration gives,

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{i}{\pi} \int_{t_{2j-1}^{p}}^{t_{2j}^{p}} ds \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{s} ds' \xi^{p}(s) \eta^{\overline{p}}(s') L_{1}(s-s') &= -\frac{i}{\pi} \Xi_{2j-1}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} \Big[ \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{t_{2k+1}^{\overline{p}}} ds \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{s} ds' L_{1}(s-s') \\ &+ \int_{t_{2k+1}^{\overline{p}}}^{t_{2j}^{p}} ds \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{t_{2k+1}^{\overline{p}}} ds' L_{1}(s-s') \Big] \end{aligned} \tag{E.3}$$
$$\begin{aligned} &= \frac{i}{\pi} \left[ \Xi_{2j}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} Q_{1}(t_{2j}^{p} - t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}) + \Xi_{2j}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k+1}^{\overline{p}} Q_{2k}^{\overline{p}} Q_{2k}^{\overline{p}} + \Xi_{2k}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} Q_{2k}^{\overline{p}} + \Xi_{2k}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} + \Xi_{2k}^{p} + \Xi_{2k}^$$

The fourth configuration gives,

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{i}{\pi} \int_{t_{2j-1}^{p}}^{t_{2j}^{p}} ds \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{s} ds' \xi^{p}(s) \eta^{\overline{p}}(s') L_{1}(s-s') &= -\frac{i}{\pi} \Xi_{2j-1}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} \left[ \int_{t_{2j-1}^{p}}^{t_{2j}^{p}} ds \int_{t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}}^{s} ds' L_{1}(s-s') \right] \\ &= \frac{i}{\pi} \left[ \Xi_{2j-1}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} Q_{1}(t_{2j-1}^{p} - t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}) + \Xi_{2j}^{p} \Upsilon_{2k}^{\overline{p}} Q_{1}(t_{2j}^{p} - t_{2k}^{\overline{p}}) \right] \end{aligned} \tag{E.5}$$



Figure E.1: Coupling of a blip of the spin p with a simultaneous sojourn of the spin  $\overline{p}$ . There are four distinct configurations.

We finally recover the expression of Chapter 3.

## II Scaling regime

In the scaling regime  $\Delta/\omega_c \ll 1$ , it is possible to overcome the sign problem naturally arising in our method as shown in Ref. [125]. Simplifications occur in Eqs. (3.8) and (3.10) as we can consider that  $Q_1(t_j - t_k) = 2\pi\alpha \tan^{-1} [\omega_c(t_j - t_k)] \simeq \pi^2 \alpha$ . Then we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{2n_p-1} \sum_{j:t_j^q > t_k^p} \Xi_j^q \Upsilon_k^p Q_1(t_j^q - t_k^p) = i\pi\alpha \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{2n_q} \xi_j^q \eta_l^p \right],$$
(E.6)

for q = p or  $p = \overline{p}$ .  $\xi_j^q$  is the value of  $\xi^q(t)$  in the interval  $[t_j^q, t_{j+1}^q]$  and  $\eta_l^p$  is the value of  $\eta^p(t)$  in the interval  $[t_l^p, t_{l+1}^p]$ . The integer l is defined by  $t_l^p < t_j^q \le t_{l+1}^p$ . In the case of p = q, we just have l = j - 1.

### II. SCALING REGIME

This expression does not depend on intermediate times, but only on the path taken. As a result, there is no need to introduce the time-dependent field k. After having introduced the field h as in the main text, we finally recover Eqs. (3.16) and (3.17) of the main text, with

,

### 146APPENDIX E. ADDITIONAL DEVELOPMENTS ON BLIPS AND SOJOURNS RE-WRITING

# Appendix $\mathbf{F}$

### Non-adiabatic response and topology

## I Chern number and evolution of $\langle \sigma^z \rangle$ with $\theta$

One can first use the Poincaré-Hopf theorem to show that the Chern number is equal to the degree (introduced below) of the mapping  $(\theta, \phi) \rightarrow \vec{d}/|\vec{d}|$ , as used for example in Ref. [261]. The degree deg of a smooth map  $f: M \rightarrow N$  between two connected, oriented and closed *n*-dimensional manifolds M and N, is an integer defined by [262, 263]

$$deg = \sum_{x \in f^{-1}(y)} \operatorname{sign} \det \left( \mathcal{J} \right), \tag{F.1}$$

where  $\mathcal{J}$  is the Jacobian matrix of f and  $y \in N$  is a regular point with a finite number of preimages. deg is an integer which do not depend on the point y. In our precise case, we work with 2-dimensional manifolds, that fulfill the requirements of the above definition. When  $H_0 < H$ , any regular point y in N has only one pre-image. The sum in Eq. (F.1) reduces then to one term and we have in general  $deg = \pm 1$ . When  $H_0 > H$ , the situation is different as there are always two preimages of any regular point in N. A computation of the Jacobian for a particular choice of y shows that these two terms compensate and one gets deg = 0. We recover then Eq. (4.6), when we consider the limit  $y \to (0, 0, 1)$ .

## II Proof of Eq. (4.18) using time-dependent perturbation theory

Let us call  $|e_t\rangle$  and  $|g_t\rangle$  the excited and ground state of the system at time t, associated with the eigenenergies  $E_e(t)$  and  $E_g(t)$ . We project the wavefunction of the system at time t on this instantaneous basis,

$$|\psi(t)\rangle = a_g(t)|g_t\rangle + a_e(t)|e_t\rangle.$$
(F.2)

We first show that the non adiabatic response of the system will lead to a non-zero expectation value for  $\langle \sigma^y(t) \rangle$ . Then we compute  $a_e(t)$  and  $a_g(t)$ .

• Let us define  $A(\phi) = \langle \partial_{\phi} \mathcal{H}_0 \rangle$ . We have

$$A(\phi) = \langle \psi(t) | \partial_{\phi} \mathcal{H}_{0} | \psi(t) \rangle$$
  
=  $|a_{g}(t)|^{2} \underbrace{\langle g_{t} | \partial_{\phi} \mathcal{H}_{0} | g_{t} \rangle}_{=0} + |a_{e}(t)|^{2} \underbrace{\langle e_{t} | \partial_{\phi} \mathcal{H}_{0} | e_{t} \rangle}_{=0} + a_{g}(t) a_{e}^{*}(t) \langle e_{t} | \partial_{\phi} \mathcal{H}_{0} | g_{t} \rangle$   
+  $a_{g}^{*}(t) a_{e}(t) \langle g_{t} | \partial_{\phi} \mathcal{H}_{0} | e_{t} \rangle.$  (F.3)

Then

$$A(0) = \frac{H}{2}\sin\theta\langle\sigma^{y}\rangle = \left[a_{g}(t)a_{e}^{*}(t)\langle e_{t}|\partial_{\phi}\mathcal{H}_{0}|g_{t}\rangle + a_{g}^{*}(t)a_{e}(t)\langle g_{t}|\partial_{\phi}\mathcal{H}_{0}|e_{t}\rangle\right](\phi=0).$$
(F.4)

It is clear from Eq. (F.4) that  $\langle \sigma^y(t) \rangle$  is linked to the non-adiabatic response of the system.

• To find the time evolution of  $a_e(t)$  and  $a_g(t)$ , we use time dependent perturbation theory, following Refs. [165,175]. Inserting expression (F.2) into the Schrödinger equation and projecting on the state  $|e_t\rangle$ , we get:

$$i\dot{a_e}(t) + a_g(t)\langle e_t|\partial_t|g_t\rangle = a_e(t)E_e(t).$$
(F.5)

Next, we define  $\alpha_i(t) = a_i(t)e^{i\Theta_i(t)}$ , with  $\Theta_i(t) = \int_{t_0}^t E_i(\tau)d\tau$  for i = (g, e). At first order in v, we get [264],

$$\alpha_e(t) = i \int_{t_0}^t d\tau \langle e_\tau | \partial_\tau | g_\tau \rangle \exp\left[i \left(\Theta_e(\tau) - \Theta_g(\tau)\right)\right] + o(v).$$
(F.6)

Using integration rules on fast oscillating functions [175], we finally reach

$$a_e(t) = i \frac{\langle e_t | \partial_t | g_t \rangle}{E_e(t) - E_g(t)} + o(v) = -iv \frac{\langle e_t | \partial_\theta \mathcal{H}_0 | g_t \rangle}{\left[E_e(t) - E_g(t)\right]^2} + o(v).$$
(F.7)

Inserting the expression (F.7) into Eq. (F.4), we get:

$$\langle \psi(t) | \partial_{\phi} \mathcal{H}_{0} | \psi(t) \rangle = -iv \frac{\langle g_{t} | \partial_{\phi} \mathcal{H}_{0} | e_{t} \rangle \langle e_{t} | \partial_{\theta} \mathcal{H}_{0} | g_{t} \rangle - \langle g_{t} | \partial_{\theta} \mathcal{H}_{0} | e_{t} \rangle \langle e_{t} | \partial_{\phi} \mathcal{H}_{0} | g_{t} \rangle}{\left[ E_{e}(t) - E_{g}(t) \right]^{2}} + o(v)$$
(F.8)

We recognize on the right hand side of Eq. (F.8) the expression of the Berry curvature, and we find back Eq. (4.18). For  $H_0 = 0$ , we have  $\mathcal{F}^0_{\theta\phi} = 1/2\sin\theta$ .

148

# APPENDIX $\mathbf{G}$

### Other heat engine setup

As stated in the main text, no current is rectified when the system is put in state of overall zero temperature. Here, we consider the case when the conduction electrons are at zero temperature so that the charging energy of the quantum dot forbids electrons to tunnel onto it. However, if the quantum dot is capacitively coupled to an electrical environment via capacitance  $C_d$  with impedance  $Z_d$ , and temperature T, the electrons have a new way of gaining energy: photons from the hot impedance can be absorbed, allowing the electrons to tunnel onto the dot.



We present in Fig. G.1 the corresponding circuit and pictorial representation.

Figure G.1: The lateral parts correspond to the energy diagram of the electrons in the corresponding lead at zero temperature and the central part represents the energy levels of the quantum dot. The straight dotted arrows represent a tunneling event from left to right, associated with curvy arrows which correspond to photon emission/absorption. Photons from a hot impedance  $Z_d$  excite zero-temperature electrons tunneling onto the quantum dot. These electrons emit photons in the cold impedances to tunnel off of the quantum dot. The asymmetry in the quantum vacuum fluctuations from the zero temperature latteral impedances leads to rectified current.

In this case we find that  $E_c = e^2/2C_{\Sigma} - e\sum_j (C_j/C_{\Sigma})\delta V_j$ , where the sum is over L, R, d. Here  $C_{\Sigma} = C_L + C_R + C_d$  and  $\delta V_d$  corresponds to the voltage fluctuations linked to the central impedance d, which is only present in the case of Fig. 5.1(a). The effect of the fluctuating voltages can be taken into account by a unitary transformation  $U = \exp(i\phi_L \sum_k c_k^{\dagger} c_k + i\phi_R \sum_q c_q^{\dagger} c_q + i\phi_d d^{\dagger} d)$ , leading to

$$t_{kd} \to t_{kd} \exp(i\Phi_L), t_{dq} \to t_{dq} \exp(-i\Phi_R).$$
 (G.1)

Here, we have introduced the total phase  $\Phi_l = \phi_l - \phi_d$ , where  $\phi_l = (e/\hbar) \int_0^t dt' \delta V_l(t')$ for  $l \in \{L, R\}$ , and  $\phi_d = (e/\hbar) \sum_j (C_j/C_{\Sigma}) \int_0^t dt' \delta V_j(t')$  where the sum is over  $j \in \{L, R, d\}$ . The voltage fluctuations  $\delta V_j$  are linked to the environmental degrees of freedom whose dynamics is governed by  $H_{env}$ . Within P(E) theory, the probability of the electrical circuit  $l \in \{L, R\}$  to either absorb or emit a photon is still given by

$$P_l(E) = (1/h) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt e^{iEt/\hbar} e^{K_l(t)}, \qquad (G.2)$$

where  $K_l(t) = \langle (\Phi_l(t) - \Phi_l(0)) \Phi_l(0) \rangle.$ 

We have  $K_l = (\eta_{ll}^2 + \eta_{lm}^2)k_l + \eta_d^2k_d$  for (l,m) = (L,R), (R,L) where we have introduced the coupling constants to the environmental baths,  $\eta_{ll} = (C_m + C_d)/C_{\Sigma}, \eta_{lm} = C_m/C_{\Sigma}, \eta_d = C_d/C_{\Sigma}$  (m = R when l = L and vice versa).  $k_l(t)$  and  $k_d(t)$  are the lead and dot correlation functions taken in isolation  $k_j(t) = (\phi_j(t) - \phi_j(0))\phi_j(0)$  and they read

$$k_{l}(t) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\omega} 2Re\left[\frac{Z_{l}}{R_{q}}\right] (e^{-i\omega t} - 1),$$
  

$$k_{d}(t) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\omega} 2Re\left[\frac{Z_{d}}{R_{q}}\right] \left\{ \operatorname{coth}\left(\frac{\beta\hbar\omega}{2}\right) [\cos(\omega t) - 1] - i\sin(\omega t) \right\}, \quad (G.3)$$

where  $Z_l = \sqrt{L_l/C_l^c}$  is the impedance coupled to the lead l. For the sake of simplicity, we have specified the case for which both left and right leads have the same correlation function  $k_L(t) = k_R(t) = k_0(t)$  in isolation at zero temperature, and the asymmetry of the system comes from different values of  $C_L$ and  $C_R$ . This is one particular choice to break the Left/Right symmetry, which leads to the simple expression above for  $K_l$ . There are other ways to break this symmetry such as having different impedances  $Z_L$  and  $Z_R$ . The important point is that the capacitive coupling to the hot impedance now enters the  $P_l(E)$ functions for the tunneling electrons.

The effects of  $k_0(t)$  and  $k_d(t)$  are quite different and we will consider their effects independently. We consider for  $k_0(t)$  the case where the zero frequency external impedance of the T = 0 transmission lines  $Z = R = \sqrt{L/C^c}$  is small compared to the resistance quantum,  $R \ll R_q = h/e^2$ , and define the large  $\alpha = R_q/R \gg 1$  (where  $L = L_L = L_R$  and  $C^c = C_L^c = C_R^c$ ). In this case, we have for long time,  $k_0(t) = -(2/\alpha)[\ln(\alpha E_c t/\pi\hbar) + i\pi/2 + \gamma_e]$ , where  $\gamma_e$  is the Euler constant [85]. The isolated effect of this cold impedance would lead to a  $P_0(E) = (1/h) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \exp(iEt/\hbar) \exp[k_0(t)]$  function that vanishes for negative energies, and has a power-law divergence for small positive energies, as

150

in the main text. In contrast for the hot impedance, still in the small resistance limit, the correlation function becomes  $k_d(t) = -(ReZ_d/R_q)k_BTt/\hbar$  in the long time limit. The isolated effect of this cold impedance would lead to a normalized Lorentzian for  $P_d(E) = (1/\hbar) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \exp(iEt/\hbar) \exp[k_d(t)]$  of width  $\Delta = (ReZ_d/R_q)k_BT$  [85].

The combined  $P_l(E)$  functions from both effects is found by taking a convolution of the two  $P_0(E)$  and  $P_d(E)$  functions (convolution theorem), provided the coupling constants  $\eta_l$  to the various circuits are properly accounted for. This turns out to be straightforward because they can be absorbed into effective impedances  $\tilde{\alpha}_l = \alpha/(\eta_{ll}^2 + \eta_{lm}^2)$ , charging energies  $\tilde{E}_{c,l} = (\eta_{ll}^2 + \eta_{lm}^2)E_c$  and Lorentzian widths,  $\tilde{\Delta}_l = \Delta \eta_{d}^2$ , giving

$$P_l(E) = \frac{\pi^{2/\tilde{\alpha}_l} e^{-2\gamma_e/\tilde{\alpha}_l}}{\Gamma(2/\tilde{\alpha}_l) \sin(2\pi/\tilde{\alpha}_l)(\tilde{\alpha}_l \tilde{E}_{c,l})^{2/\tilde{\alpha}_l}} \operatorname{Im}(-i\tilde{\Delta}_l - E)^{\frac{2}{\tilde{\alpha}_l} - 1}.$$
 (G.4)

The Left/Right asymmetry is now solely contained in the effective parameters  $\tilde{\alpha}_L \neq \tilde{\alpha}_R$ . These  $P_l(E)$  functions permit us to calculate the tunneling rates  $T_{\pm,l}$  between the leads and the dot, from left to right (+) and right to left (-),

$$T_{\pm,L}(\Omega) = T_{0,L} \int d\epsilon f(\epsilon \pm \Omega \mp \mu/2) P_L(\epsilon), \qquad (G.5)$$

$$T_{\pm,R}(\Omega) = T_{0,R} \int d\epsilon f(\epsilon \mp \Omega \mp \mu/2) P_R(\epsilon).$$
 (G.6)

At zero temperature the Fermi distribution f becomes a step function and equations (5.7) and (5.8) have a simple interpretation: the electrons in the lead have no way to gain energy without absorbing a photon from the bosonic bath if  $\mu = 0$ . This is why the convolution with the hot impedance is important - it permits the P(E) function to have some probability in the negative energy range, so a photon can be absorbed from that bath. It may then be given back to a cold bath as it tunnels left or right, as can be seen in Fig. G.1. The asymmetry between the capacitances breaks the left-right symmetry. Equivalently we repeat that one may have taken the same value for  $C_L$  and  $C_R$  but with different impedances  $Z_L$  and  $Z_R$ . In this case, the level is dephased by a fluctuating phase  $\phi_d$ , so that we assume a sequential non-resonant tunneling case and the rectified current is given by [230],

$$I = e \ \frac{T_{+,L}(E_d)T_{+,R}(E_d) - T_{-,L}(E_d)T_{-,R}(E_d)}{T_{+,L}(E_d) + T_{+,R}(E_d) + T_{-,L}(E_d) + T_{-,R}(E_d)}.$$
 (G.7)

This effect leads to a weaker rectified current compared to the setup presented in the main text (it compares to the results obtained for the non resonant case). This is due to the fact that one cannot consider resonant sequential tunneling, because the interaction of the electron on the dot with the external hot environment prevents phase coherence.

For this setup, the efficiency reads  $\eta = IV/J_H$ , where  $J_H$  is the amount of heat received from the environment. We find a smaller efficiency in this case.

#### Résumé de la thèse

Cette thèse porte sur l'étude de propriétés dynamiques de modèles quantiques portés hors équilibre. Nous introduisons en particulier des modèles généraux de type spin-boson, qui décrivent par exemple l'interaction lumière-matière ou certains phénomènes de dissipation. Nous contribuons au développement d'une approche stochastique exacte permettant de décrire la dynamique hors équilibre du spin dans ces modèles. Dans ce contexte, l'effet de l'environnement bosonique est pris en compte par l'intermédiaire des degrés de liberté aléatoires supplémentaires, dont les corrélations temporelles dépendent des propriétés spectrales de l'environnement bosonique. Nous appliquons cette approche à l'étude de phénomènes à N-corps, comme par exemple la transition de phase dissipative induite par un environnement bosonique de type ohmique. Des phénomènes de synchronisation spontanée, et de transition de phase topologique sont aussi identifiés. Des progrès sont aussi réalisés dans l'étude de la dynamique dans les réseaux de systèmes lumière-matière couplés. Ces développements théoriques sont motivés par les progrès expérimentaux récents, qui permettent d'envisager une étude approfondie de ces phénomènes. Cela inclut notamment les systèmes d'atomes ultrafroids, d'ions piégés, et les plateformes d'électrodynamique en cavité et en circuit. Nous intéressons aussi à la physique des systèmes hybrides comprenant des dispositifs à points quantiques mésoscopiques couplés à un résonateur électromagnétique. L'avènement de ces systèmes permet des mesures de la formation d'états à N-corps de type Kondo grâce au résonateur; et d'envisager de dispositifs thermoélectriques.

Plus précisément, nous étudions les développements récents concernant la dynamique de systèmes quantiques hors de leur état d'équilibre et la physique de la lumière (micro-onde) dans des circuits supraconducteurs et analogues de Josephson, par analogie avec les systèmes de physique atomique. Nous introduisons notamment des modèles quantiques d'impuretés reliés à des systèmes dissipatifs et contrôlés. De nos jours, théoriciens et expérimentateurs accomplissent des efforts en vue de la caractérisation de ces systèmes quantiques hors équilibre. Nous montrons comment les systèmes de jonctions Josephson peuvent servir à implémenter l'équivalent de l'effet Kondo connu en physique des matériaux, avec des photons micro-onde dans des circuits supraconducteurs. L'effet Kondo peut notamment se caractériser par une fréquence lumineuse renormalisée et par un pic dans la transmission élastique Rayleigh d'un photon. Nous nous intéressons aussi à la physique des systèmes hybrides comprenant des dispositifs à points quantiques mésoscopiques couplés à un résonateur électromagnétique. Ensuite, nous discutons de façon détaillée des modèles de réseaux d'électrodynamique quantiques (Quantum Electro-Dynamics - QED) permettant de concevoir des modèles de réseaux de Jaynes-Cummings et de Rabi, via la présence de bits quantiques supraconducteurs dans les cavités supraconductrices. Ceci ouvre la voie à une nouvelle physique pour le problème à N-corps dans les systèmes lumineux hors équilibre, en relation avec la transition Mott-superfluide observée avec des atomes ultra-froids dans des réseaux optiques. Nous résumons aussi des prédictions théoriques récentes pour réaliser des phases topologiques avec de la lumière. Des champs de jauge synthétiques et des couplages spin-orbite ont été mis en oeuvre avec succès dans les matériaux quantiques et dans les systèmes d'atomes ultra-froids piégés dans des réseaux optiques - en utilisant des perturbations de Floquet périodiques dans le temps - ainsi que dans les systèmes de réseaux photoniques artificiels. Finalement, nous discutons l'effet Josephson lié aux modèles de Bose-Hubbard dans des géométries en échelle ainsi qu'à deux dimensions, produisant de la cohérence de phase et des courants Meissner. Le modèle de Bose-Hubbard est aussi lié au modèle de Jaynes-Cummings sur réseau. En présence de champs de jauge synthétiques, nous montrons que les courants Meissner subsistent dans une phase de Mott isolante.

4

## Bibliography

- I. I. Rabi. On the process of space quantization. *Phys. Rev.*, 49:324–328, Feb 1936.
- [2] I. I. Rabi. Space quantization in a gyrating magnetic field. *Phys. Rev.*, 51:652–654, Apr 1937.
- [3] C. Cohen-Tannoudji, J Dupont-Roc, and G. Grynberg. *Processus d'interaction* entre photons et atomes. EDP Sciences, 2000.
- [4] S. Haroche and J.-M. Raimond. Expolring the Quantum: Atoms, Cavities and Photons. Oxford University Press, Oxford; New York (2006), 2006.
- [5] J. M. Raimond, M. Brune, and S. Haroche. Manipulating quantum entanglement with atoms and photons in a cavity. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 73:565, 2001.
- [6] C. J. Hood, T. W. Lynn, A. C. Doherty, A. S. Parkins, and H. J. Kimble. The atom-cavity microscope: Single atoms bound in orbit by single photons. *Science*, 287:1447, 2000.
- [7] J. Keeling. Light-matter interactions and quantum optics. Course notes, 20XX.
- [8] Jaynes E. T. and F. W. Cummings. Comparison of quantum and semiclassical radiation theories with application to the beam maser. Proc. IEEE, 51, 1963.
- [9] J. Bardeen, L. N. Cooper, and J. R. Schrieffer. Theory of superconductivity. *Phys. Rev.*, 108:1175–1204, Dec 1957.
- [10] V. Bouchiat, D. Vion, P. Joyez, D. Esteve, and M. H. Devoret. Quantum coherence with a single cooper pair. *Physica Scripta T*, 76:165?V170, 1998.
- [11] A. Blais, R.-S Huang, A. Wallraff, S. M. Girvin, and R. J. Schoelkopf. Cavity quantum electrodynamics for superconducting electrical circuits: an architecture for quantum computation. *Phys. Rev. A*, 69:062320, 2004.
- [12] J. E. Mooij, T. P. Orlando, L. Levitov, L. Tian, C. H. Van der Wal, and S. Lloyd. Josephson persistent-current qubit. *Science*, 285:1036–1039, 1999.
- [13] J. M. Martinis, S. Nam, J. Aumentado, and C. Urbina. Rabi oscillations in a large josephson-junction qubit. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 89:117901, 2002.

- [14] M. H. Devoret. Quantum Fluctuations in Electrical Circuits. In S. Reynaud, E. Giacobino, and J. Zinn-Justin, editors, *Fluctuations Quantiques/Quantum Fluctuations*, page 351, 1997.
- [15] A. Fedorov, A. K. Feofanov, P. Macha, P. Forn-Díaz, C. J. P. M. Harmans, and J. E. Mooij. Strong coupling of a quantum oscillator to a flux qubit at its symmetry point. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 105:060503, Aug 2010.
- [16] C. Cohen-Tannoudji. Cargèse lectures in physics, volume 2. ed M Lévy (New York) 347-93, 1968.
- [17] S. Schweber. Ann. Phys. (N.Y.), 41:205, 1967.
- [18] E. K. Irish, J. Gea-Banacloche, I. Martin, and K. C. Schwab. Dynamics of a two-level system strongly coupled to a high-frequency quantum oscillator. *Phys. Rev. B*, 72:195410, Nov 2005.
- [19] R. Graham and M. Höhnerbach. Z. Phys. B, 57:233, 1984.
- [20] R. Graham and M. Höhnerbach. Acta Phys. Austriaca, 56:45, 1984.
- [21] R. Graham and M. Höhnerbach. Phys. Lett. A, 101:61, 1984.
- [22] G. Grynberg, A. Aspect, and C. Fabre. Introduction to quantum optics. Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [23] D. Braak. Integrability of the rabi model. Phys. Rev. Lett., 107:100401, Aug 2011.
- [24] A. Moroz. Ann. Phys., 338:319–340, 2013.
- [25] H. Zhong, Q. Xie, M. Batchelor, and C. Lee. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor., 46:415302, 2013.
- [26] Michael Tomka, Omar El Araby, Mikhail Pletyukhov, and Vladimir Gritsev. Exceptional and regular spectra of a generalized rabi model. *Phys. Rev. A*, 90:063839, Dec 2014.
- [27] F. A. Wolf, F. Vallone, G. Romero, M. Kollar, E. Solano, and D. Braak. Dynamical correlation functions and the quantum rabi model. *Phys. Rev. A*, 87:023835, Feb 2013.
- [28] R. H. Dicke. Coherence in spontaneous radiation processes. Phys. Rev., 93:99– 110, Jan 1954.
- [29] Murray T. Batchelor and Huan-Qiang Zhou. Integrability versus exact solvability in the quantum rabi and dicke models. *Phys. Rev. A*, 91:053808, May 2015.
- [30] Clive Emary and Tobias Brandes. Chaos and the quantum phase transition in the dicke model. *Phys. Rev. E*, 67:066203, Jun 2003.

- [31] Dimitris G. Angelakis, Marcelo Franca Santos, and Sougato Bose. Photonblockade-induced mott transitions and xy spin models in coupled cavity arrays. *Phys. Rev. A*, 76:031805, Sep 2007.
- [32] Michael J. Hartmann, Fernando G. S. L. Brandao, and Martin B. Plenio. Strongly interacting polaritons in coupled arrays of cavities. *Nat Phys*, 2(12):849–855, 12 2006.
- [33] Andrew A. Houck, Hakan E. Tureci, and Jens Koch. On-chip quantum simulation with superconducting circuits. Nat Phys, 8(4):292–299, 04 2012.
- [34] Andrew D. Greentree, Charles Tahan, Jared H. Cole, and Lloyd C. L. Hollenberg. Quantum phase transitions of light. *Nat Phys*, 2(12):856–861, 12 2006.
- [35] Jens Koch and Karyn Le Hur. Superfluid mott-insulator transition of light in the jaynes-cummings lattice. *Phys. Rev. A*, 80:023811, Aug 2009.
- [36] S. Schmidt and G. Blatter. Strong coupling theory for the jaynes-cummingshubbard model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 103:086403, Aug 2009.
- [37] S. Schmidt and G. Blatter. Excitations of strongly correlated lattice polaritons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 104:216402, May 2010.
- [38] Iacopo Carusotto and Cristiano Ciuti. Quantum fluids of light. Rev. Mod. Phys., 85:299–366, Feb 2013.
- [39] K. Le Hur. Understanding Quantum Phase Transitions, Quantum Phase Transitions in Spin-Boson Systems: Dissipation and Light phenomena. Lincoln D. Carr (Taylor and Francis, Boca Raton), 2010.
- [40] Markus Greiner, Olaf Mandel, Tilman Esslinger, Theodor W. Hansch, and Immanuel Bloch. Quantum phase transition from a superfluid to a mott insulator in a gas of ultracold atoms. *Nature*, 415(6867):39–44, 01 2002.
- [41] A. Tomadin and Rosario Fazio. Many-body phenomena in qed-cavity arrays. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B, 27(6):A130–A136, Jun 2010.
- [42] Immanuel Bloch, Jean Dalibard, and Wilhelm Zwerger. Many-body physics with ultracold gases. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 80:885–964, Jul 2008.
- [43] Immanuel Bloch, Jean Dalibard, and Sylvain Nascimbene. Quantum simulations with ultracold quantum gases. *Nat Phys*, 8(4):267–276, 04 2012.
- [44] M. Hafezi, P. Adhikari, and J. M. Taylor. Chemical potential for light by parametric coupling. *Phys. Rev. B*, 92:174305, Nov 2015.
- [45] A. A. Clerk, M. H. Devoret, S. M. Girvin, Florian Marquardt, and R. J. Schoelkopf. Introduction to quantum noise, measurement, and amplification. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 82:1155–1208, Apr 2010.
- [46] M. Schiró and K. Le Hur. Tunable hybrid quantum electrodynamics from nonlinear electron transport. Phys. Rev. B, 89:195127, 2014.

- [47] Lev S. Bishop, Eran Ginossar, and S. M. Girvin. Response of the strongly driven jaynes-cummings oscillator. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 105:100505, Sep 2010.
- [48] Lev S. Bishop, J. M. Chow, Jens Koch, A. A. Houck, M. H. Devoret, E. Thuneberg, S. M. Girvin, and R. J. Schoelkopf. Nonlinear response of the vacuum rabi resonance. *Nat Phys*, 5(2):105–109, 02 2009.
- [49] H. J. Carmichael. Statistical Methods in Quantum Optics 2: Non-classical Fields. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2007.
- [50] Gytis Kulaitis, Frank Krüger, Felix Nissen, and Jonathan Keeling. Disordered driven coupled cavity arrays: Nonequilibrium stochastic mean-field theory. *Phys. Rev. A*, 87:013840, Jan 2013.
- [51] M. Schiró, M. Bordyuh, B. Öztop, and H. E. Türeci. Erratum: Phase transition of light in cavity qed lattices [phys. rev. lett. 109, 053601 (2012)]. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 109:229901, Nov 2012.
- [52] M Schiró, M Bordyuh, B Öztop, and H E Türeci. Quantum phase transition of light in the rabijvhubbard model. *Journal of Physics B: Atomic, Molecular and Optical Physics*, 46(22):224021, 2013.
- [53] M. Schiró, C. Joshi, M. Bordyuh, R. Fazio, J. Keeling, and H. E. Türeci. Exotic attractors of the nonequilibrium rabi-hubbard model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 116:143603, Apr 2016.
- [54] A. O. Caldeira and A. J. Leggett. Ann. Phys. (N.Y.), 149:374, 1983.
- [55] G.-L. Ingold Bernhard Kramer G. Schön Wilhelm Zwerger T. Dittrich, P. Hänggi. Quantum transport and dissipation. Wiley-VCH, 1998.
- [56] Robert Silbey and Robert A. Harris. Variational calculation of the dynamics of a two level system interacting with a bath. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, 80(6):2615–2617, 1984.
- [57] Ralf Bulla, Ning-Hua Tong, and Matthias Vojta. Numerical renormalization group for bosonic systems and application to the sub-ohmic spin-boson model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 91:170601, Oct 2003.
- [58] Matthias Vojta. Impurity quantum phase transitions. *Philosophical Magazine*, 86(13-14):1807–1846, 2006.
- [59] Karyn Le Hur, Philippe Doucet-Beaupré, and Walter Hofstetter. Entanglement and criticality in quantum impurity systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 99:126801, Sep 2007.
- [60] J. M. Kosterlitz. Phase transitions in long-range ferromagnetic chains. Phys. Rev. Lett., 37:1577–1580, Dec 1976.
- [61] P. W. Anderson, G. Yuval, and D. R. Hamann. Phys. Rev. B, 1:4464, 1970.

- [62] A. J. Leggett, S. Chakravarty, A. T. Dorsey, M. P. A. Fisher, A. Garg, and W. Zwerger. Dynamics of the dissipative two-stat system. *Rev. Mod. Phys*, 59:1, 1987.
- [63] U. Weiss. Quantum Dissipative Systems, Fourth Edition. World Scientific, 2012.
- [64] W. J. de Haas, J. H. de Boer, and G. J. van den Berg. Physica, 1, 1115, 1934.
- [65] Jun Kondo. Resistance minimum in dilute magnetic alloys. Progress of Theoretical Physics, 32(1):37–49, 1964.
- [66] K. Le Hur. Entanglement entropy, decoherence, and quantum phase transition of a dissipative two-level system. Annals of Physics, 323:2208–2240, 2008.
- [67] Sudip Chakravarty. Quantum fluctuations in the tunneling between superconductors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 49:681–684, Aug 1982.
- [68] A. J. Bray and M. A. Moore. Influence of dissipation on quantum coherence. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 49:1545–1549, Nov 1982.
- [69] F. Guinea, V. Hakim, and A. Muramatsu. Bosonization of a two-level system with dissipation. *Phys. Rev. B*, 32:4410–4418, Oct 1985.
- [70] Pascal Cedraschi and Markus Büttiker. Quantum coherence of the ground state of a mesoscopic ring. Annals of Physics, 289(1):1 23, 2001.
- [71] Pascal Cedraschi, Vadim V. Ponomarenko, and Markus Büttiker. Zero-point fluctuations and the quenching of the persistent current in normal metal rings. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 84:346–349, Jan 2000.
- [72] K. Le Hur. Kondo resonance of a microwave photon. *Phys. Rev. B*, 85:140506 (R), 2012.
- [73] Moshe Goldstein, Michel H. Devoret, Manuel Houzet, and Leonid I. Glazman. Inelastic microwave photon scattering off a quantum impurity in a josephsonjunction array. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110:017002, Jan 2013.
- [74] A.A. Clerk, M.H. Devoret, S.M. Girvin, F. Marquardt, and R.J. Schoelkopf. Introduction to quantum noise, measurement and amplification. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 82:1155, 2010.
- [75] A. Recati, P. O. Fedichev, W. Zwerger, J. von Delft, and P. Zoller. Atomic quantum dots coupled to a reservoir of a superfluid bose-einstein condensate. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 94:040404, Feb 2005.
- [76] D. Jaksch, H.-J. Briegel, J. I. Cirac, C. W. Gardiner, and P. Zoller. Entanglement of atoms via cold controlled collisions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 82:1975–1978, Mar 1999.
- [77] O. Mandel, M. Greiner, A. Widera, T. Rom, T. W. Hänsch, and I. Bloch. Coherent transport of neutral atoms in spin-dependent optical lattice potentials. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 91:010407, Jul 2003.

- [78] P. P. Orth, I. Stanic, and K. Le Hur. Phys. Rev. A, 77:051601(R), 2008.
- [79] Peter P. Orth, David Roosen, Walter Hofstetter, and Karyn Le Hur. Dynamics, synchronization, and quantum phase transitions of two dissipative spins. *Phys. Rev. B*, 82:144423, Oct 2010.
- [80] Dara P. S. McCutcheon, Ahsan Nazir, Sougato Bose, and Andrew J. Fisher. Separation-dependent localization in a two-impurity spin-boson model. *Phys. Rev. B*, 81:235321, Jun 2010.
- [81] André Winter and Heiko Rieger. Quantum phase transition and correlations in the multi-spin-boson model. *Phys. Rev. B*, 90:224401, Dec 2014.
- [82] D. Porras, F. Marquardt, J. von Delft, and J. I. Cirac. Mesoscopic spin-boson models of trapped ions. *Phys. Rev. A*, 78:010101, Jul 2008.
- [83] Henok T. Mebrahtu, Ivan V. Borzenets, Dong E. Liu, Huaixiu Zheng, Yuriy V. Bomze, Alex I. Smirnov, Harold U. Baranger, and Gleb Finkelstein. Quantum phase transition in a resonant level coupled to interacting leads. *Nature*, 488(7409):61–64, 08 2012.
- [84] C. L. Kane and Matthew P. A. Fisher. Transmission through barriers and resonant tunneling in an interacting one-dimensional electron gas. *Phys. Rev. B*, 46:15233–15262, Dec 1992.
- [85] G.-L. Ingold and Y. V. Nazarov. Single Charge Tunneling, volume 294. Plenum Press (N.Y.), edited by H. Grabert and M. H. Devoret, NATO ASI Series B, 1992.
- [86] I. Safi and H. Saleur. One-channel conductor in an ohmic environment: Mapping to a tomonaga-luttinger liquid and full counting statistics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 93:126602, Sep 2004.
- [87] Karyn Le Hur and Mei-Rong Li. Unification of electromagnetic noise and luttinger liquid via a quantum dot. Phys. Rev. B, 72:073305, Aug 2005.
- [88] Mei-Rong Li, Karyn Le Hur, and Walter Hofstetter. Hidden caldeira-leggett dissipation in a bose-fermi kondo model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 95:086406, Aug 2005.
- [89] C.-H. Chung, K. Le Hur, M. Vojta, and P. Woelfle. Non-equilibrium transport at a dissipative quantum phase transition. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 102:216803, 2009.
- [90] F. D. Parmentier, A. Anthore, S. Jezouin, H. le Sueur, U. Gennser, A. Cavanna, D. Mailly, and F. Pierre. Strong back-action of a linear circuit on a single electronic quantum channel. *Nat Phys*, 7(12):935–938, 12 2011.
- [91] H. Dekker. Noninteracting-blip approximation for a two-level system coupled to a heat bath. *Phys. Rev. A*, 35:1436–1437, Feb 1987.
- [92] Francesco Petruccione Heinz-Peter Breuer. *The theory of open quantum systems*. Oxford University Press, 2002.

- [93] R. P. Feynman and F. L. Vernon. Ann. Phys. (N.Y.), 24:118, 1963.
- [94] Ulrich Weiss and Matthias Wollensak. Dynamics of the biased two-level system in metals. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 62:1663–1666, Apr 1989.
- [95] R. Gölich, M. Sassetti, and U. Weiss. Low-temperature properties of biased two-level systems: Effects of frequency-dependent damping. *EPL (Europhysics Letters)*, 10(6):507, 1989.
- [96] M. Winterstetter and Ulrich Weiss. Dynamical simulation of the driven spinboson system: the influence of interblip correlations. *Chem. Phys.*, 217:155, 1997.
- [97] F. Nesi, E. Paladino, M. Thorwart, and M. Grifoni. Spin-boson dynamics: A unified approach from weak to strong coupling. *EPL (Europhysics Letters)*, 80(4):40005, 2007.
- [98] J. T. Stockburger and C. H. Mac. J. Chem. Phys., 110:4983-4985, 1999.
- [99] J. T. Stockburger and H. Grabert. Phys. Rev. Lett., 88:170407, 2002.
- [100] J. T. Stockburger and H. Grabert. Chem. Phys., 296:159, 2004.
- [101] W. Koch, F. Großmann, J. T. Stockburger, and J. Ankerhold. Phys. Rev. Lett., 100:230402, 2008.
- [102] M. W. Y. Tu and W.-M. Zhang. Phys. Rev. B, 78:235311, 2008.
- [103] W.-M. Zhang, P.-Y. Lo, H.-N. Xiong, M. W.-Y. Tu, and F. Nori. Phys. Rev. Lett., 109:170402, 2012.
- [104] Reinhold Egger and C. H. Mak. Low-temperature dynamical simulation of spinboson systems. *Phys. Rev. B*, 50:15210–15220, Nov 1994.
- [105] Lothar Mühlbacher and Joachim Ankerhold. Path-integral monte carlo simulations for electronic dynamics on molecular chains. ii. transport across impurities. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, 122(18), 2005.
- [106] L. Mühlbacher, J. Ankerhold, and A. Komnik. Nonequilibrium dynamics of correlated electron transfer in molecular chains. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 95:220404, Nov 2005.
- [107] Denis Kast and Joachim Ankerhold. Persistence of coherent quantum dynamics at strong dissipation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110:010402, Jan 2013.
- [108] Dmitrii E. Makarov and Nancy Makri. Path integrals for dissipative systems by tensor multiplication. condensed phase quantum dynamics for arbitrarily long time. *Chemical Physics Letters*, 221(5):482 – 491, 1994.
- [109] P. Nalbach and M. Thorwart. Landau-zener transitions in a dissipative environment: Numerically exact results. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 103:220401, Nov 2009.

- [110] L. Diósi, N. Gisin, and W. T. Strunz. Non-markovian quantum state diffusion. *Phys. Rev. A*, 58:1699–1712, Sep 1998.
- [111] Jean Dalibard, Yvan Castin, and Klaus Mølmer. Wave-function approach to dissipative processes in quantum optics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 68:580–583, Feb 1992.
- [112] R. Dum, P. Zoller, and H. Ritsch. Monte carlo simulation of the atomic master equation for spontaneous emission. *Phys. Rev. A*, 45:4879–4887, Apr 1992.
- [113] Frithjof B. Anders and Avraham Schiller. Spin precession and real-time dynamics in the kondo model: Time-dependent numerical renormalization-group study. *Phys. Rev. B*, 74:245113, Dec 2006.
- [114] Ralf Bulla, Theo A. Costi, and Thomas Pruschke. Numerical renormalization group method for quantum impurity systems. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 80:395–450, Apr 2008.
- [115] Ralf Bulla, Hyun-Jung Lee, Ning-Hua Tong, and Matthias Vojta. Numerical renormalization group for quantum impurities in a bosonic bath. *Phys. Rev. B*, 71:045122, Jan 2005.
- [116] Peter Schmitteckert. Nonequilibrium electron transport using the density matrix renormalization group method. *Phys. Rev. B*, 70:121302, Sep 2004.
- [117] S. Florens, A. Freyn, D. Venturelli, and R. Narayanan. Dissipative spin dynamics near a quantum critical point: Numerical renormalization group and majorana diagrammatics. *Phys. Rev. B*, 84:155110, Oct 2011.
- [118] Markus Keil and Herbert Schoeller. Real-time renormalization-group analysis of the dynamics of the spin-boson model. *Phys. Rev. B*, 63:180302, Apr 2001.
- [119] Schoeller, H. A perturbative nonequilibrium renormalization group method for dissipative quantum mechanics. *Eur. Phys. J. Special Topics*, 168:179–266, 2009.
- [120] Mikhail Pletyukhov, Dirk Schuricht, and Herbert Schoeller. Relaxation versus decoherence: Spin and current dynamics in the anisotropic kondo model at finite bias and magnetic field. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 104:106801, Mar 2010.
- [121] S. Andergassen, M. Pletyukhov, D. Schuricht, H. Schoeller, and L. Borda. Renormalization group analysis of the interacting resonant-level model at finite bias: Generic analytic study of static properties and quench dynamics. *Phys. Rev. B*, 83:205103, May 2011.
- [122] Haobin Wang and Michael Thoss. From coherent motion to localization: dynamics of the spin-boson model at zero temperature. New Journal of Physics, 10(11):115005, 2008.
- [123] L. Henriet, Z. Ristivojevic, P. P. Orth, and K. Le Hur. Quantum dynamics of the driven and dissipative rabi model. *Phys. Rev. A*, 90:023820, 2014.
- [124] P. P. Orth, A. O. Imambekov, and K. Le Hur. Phys. Rev. A, 82:032118, 2010.

- [125] P. P. Orth, A. Imambekov, and Karyn Le Hur. Nonperturbative stochastic method for driven spin-boson model. *Phys. Rev. B*, 87:014305, 2013.
- [126] G. B. Lesovik, A. O. Lebedev, and A. O. Imambekov. JETP Lett., 75:474, 2002.
- [127] C. Cohen-Tannoudji. Cargèse lectures in physics, ed M. Lévy (New York), 2:347– 93, 1968.
- [128] M. Haeberlein, F. Deppe, A. Kurcz, J. Goetz, A. Baust, P. Eder, K. Fedorov, M. Fischer, E. P. Menzel, M. J. Schwarz, F. Wulschner, E. Xie, L. Zhong, E. Solano, A. Marx, J.-J. Garcia-Ripoll, and R. Gross. Spin-boson model with an engineered reservoir in circuit quantum electrodynamics. arXiv:1506.09114, 2015.
- [129] Karyn Le Hur, Loïc Henriet, Alexandru Petrescu, Kirill Plekhanov, Guillaume Roux, and Marco Schiró. Many-body quantum electrodynamics networks: Nonequilibrium condensed matter physics with light. *Comptes Rendus Physique*, 17(8):808 – 835, 2016.
- [130] V.M. Filyov and P.B. Wiegmann. A method for solving the kondo problem. *Physics Letters A*, 76(3):283 – 286, 1980.
- [131] Angela Kopp and Karyn Le Hur. Universal and measurable entanglement entropy in the spin-boson model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 98:220401, May 2007.
- [132] F. Lesage and H. Saleur. Boundary interaction changing operators and dynamical correlations in quantum impurity problems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 80:4370–4373, May 1998.
- [133] Reinhold Egger, Hermann Grabert, and Ulrich Weiss. Crossover from coherent to incoherent dynamics in damped quantum systems. *Phys. Rev. E*, 55:R3809– R3812, Apr 1997.
- [134] D. M. Kennes, O. Kashuba, M. Pletyukhov, H. Schoeller, and V. Meden. Oscillatory dynamics and non-markovian memory in dissipative quantum systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110:100405, Mar 2013.
- [135] D. M. Kennes, O. Kashuba, and V. Meden. Dynamical regimes of dissipative quantum systems. *Phys. Rev. B*, 88:241110, Dec 2013.
- [136] L. Landau. Physics of the Soviet Union, 2:46, 1932.
- [137] C. Zener. Proc. R. Soc. of London A, 137:696, 1932.
- [138] E. C. G. Stueckelberg. *Helvetica Physica Acta*, 5:369, 1932.
- [139] E. Majorana. Nuovo Cimento, 9:43, 1932.
- [140] M. Wubs, K. Saito, S. Kohler, P. Hanggi, and Y. Kayanuma. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 97:200404, 2006.

- [141] K. Saito, M. Wubs, S. Kohler, Y. Kayanuma, and P. Hanggi. Phys. Rev. B, 75:214308, 2008.
- [142] Igor Lesanovsky, Merlijn van Horssen, Măd ălin Guță, and Juan P. Garrahan. Characterization of dynamical phase transitions in quantum jump trajectories beyond the properties of the stationary state. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110:150401, Apr 2013.
- [143] J. Jin, A. Biella, O. Viyuela, L. Mazza, J. Keeling, R. Fazio, and D. Rossini. Cluster mean-field approach to the steady-state phase diagram of dissipative spin systems. ArXiv e-prints, February 2016.
- [144] Loïc Henriet and Karyn Le Hur. Quantum sweeps, synchronization, and kibblezurek physics in dissipative quantum spin systems. *Phys. Rev. B*, 93:064411, Feb 2016.
- [145] K. Sengupta, Stephen Powell, and Subir Sachdev. Quench dynamics across quantum critical points. *Phys. Rev. A*, 69:053616, May 2004.
- [146] J. Dziarmaga. Advances in Physics, 59:1063–1189, 2010.
- [147] L. Béguin, A. Vernier, R. Chicireanu, T. Lahaye, and A. Browaeys. Direct measurement of the van der waals interaction between two rydberg atoms. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110:263201, Jun 2013.
- [148] A Grankin, E Brion, E Bimbard, R Boddeda, I Usmani, A Ourjoumtsev, and P Grangier. Quantum statistics of light transmitted through an intracavity rydberg medium. *New Journal of Physics*, 16(4):043020, 2014.
- [149] T. W. B. Kibble. Phys. A, 9:1387, 1976.
- [150] W. H. Zurek. Nature (London), 317:505, 1985.
- [151] Bogdan Damski. The simplest quantum model supporting the kibble-zurek mechanism of topological defect production: Landau-zener transitions from a new perspective. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 95:035701, Jul 2005.
- [152] Adolfo del Campo and Wojciech H. Zurek. Universality of phase transition dynamics: Topological defects from symmetry breaking. *International Journal* of Modern Physics A, 29(08):1430018, 2014.
- [153] M. Garst, S. Kehrein, T. Pruschke, A. Rosch, and M. Vojta. Quantum phase transition of ising-coupled kondo impurities. *Phys. Rev. B*, 69:214413, Jun 2004.
- [154] F. Lesage and H. Saleur. Boundary interaction changing operators and dynamical correlations in quantum impurity problems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 80:4370–4373, May 1998.
- [155] O. Kashuba, D. M. Kennes, M. Pletyukhov, V. Meden, and H. Schoeller. Quench dynamics of a dissipative quantum system: A renormalization group study. *Phys. Rev. B*, 88:165133, Oct 2013.

- [156] Pasquale Calabrese, Fabian H. L. Essler, and Maurizio Fagotti. Quantum quench in the transverse-field ising chain. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 106:227203, Jun 2011.
- [157] Laura Foini, Leticia F Cugliandolo, and Andrea Gambassi. Dynamic correlations, fluctuation-dissipation relations, and effective temperatures after a quantum quench of the transverse field ising chain. *Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment*, 2012(09):P09011, 2012.
- [158] Adolfo del Campo and Wojciech H. Zurek. Universality of phase transition dynamics: Topological defects from symmetry breaking. *International Journal* of Modern Physics A, 29(08):1430018, 2014.
- [159] Jean-Sébastien Bernier, Dario Poletti, Peter Barmettler, Guillaume Roux, and Corinna Kollath. Slow quench dynamics of mott-insulating regions in a trapped bose gas. *Phys. Rev. A*, 85:033641, Mar 2012.
- [160] Bruno Sciolla and Giulio Biroli. Quantum quenches, dynamical transitions, and off-equilibrium quantum criticality. *Phys. Rev. B*, 88:201110, Nov 2013.
- [161] A. Rançon, Chen-Lung Hung, Cheng Chin, and K. Levin. Quench dynamics in bose-einstein condensates in the presence of a bath: Theory and experiment. *Phys. Rev. A*, 88:031601, Sep 2013.
- [162] A. S. Pikovsky, M. Rosenblum, and J. Kurth. Synchronization: A Universal Concept in Nonlinear Science. Cambridge University Press, New York, 2001.
- [163] Liu, Y., Piéchon, F., and Fuchs, J. N. Quantum loss of synchronization in the dynamics of two spins. *EPL*, 103(1):17007, 2013.
- [164] Marion Delehaye, Sébastien Laurent, Igor Ferrier-Barbut, Shuwei Jin, Frédéric Chevy, and Christophe Salomon. Critical velocity and dissipation of an ultracold bose-fermi counterflow. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 115:265303, Dec 2015.
- [165] A. Polkovnikov and V. Gritsev. Dynamical quantum hall effect in the parameter space. PNAS, 109:6457–6462, 2012.
- [166] N. D. Mermin. The topological theory of defects in ordered media. Rev. Mod. Phys., 51:591–648, Jul 1979.
- [167] D. J. Thouless, M. Kohmoto, M. P. Nightingale, and M. den Nijs. Quantized hall conductance in a two-dimensional periodic potential. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 49:405– 408, Aug 1982.
- [168] D. J. Thouless, M. Kohmoto, M. P. Nightingale, and M. den Nijs. Quantized hall conductance in a two-dimensional periodic potential. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 49:405– 408, Aug 1982.
- [169] Jean Dalibard, Fabrice Gerbier, Gediminas Juzeliūnas, and Patrik Öhberg. Colloquium : Artificial gauge potentials for neutral atoms. Rev. Mod. Phys., 83:1523–1543, Nov 2011.

- [170] N. Goldman, G. Juzeliūnas, Öhberg, and I. B. Spielman. Light-induced gauge fields for ultracold atoms. *Reports on Progress in Physics*, 77(12):126401, 2014.
- [171] Ling Lu, John D. Joannopoulos, and Marin Soljacic. Topological photonics. Nat Photon, 8(11):821–829, 11 2014.
- [172] Soumya Bera, Ahsan Nazir, Alex W. Chin, Harold U. Baranger, and Serge Florens. Generalized multipolaron expansion for the spin-boson model: Environmental entanglement and the biased two-state system. *Phys. Rev. B*, 90:075110, Aug 2014.
- [173] M. D. Schroer, M. H. Kolodrubetz, W. F. Kindel, M. Sandberg, J. Gao, M. R. Vissers, D. P. Pappas, A. Polkovnikov, and K. W. Lehnert. Measuring a topological transition in an artificial spin-1/2 system. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 113:0504021, 2014.
- [174] P. Roushan, C. Neill, Yu Chen, M. Kolodrubetz, C. Quintana, N. Leung, M. Fang, R. Barends, B. Campbell, Z. Chen, B. Chiaro, A. Dunsworth, E. Jeffrey, J. Kelly, A. Megrant, J. Mutus, P. J. J. O'Malley, D. Sank, A. Vainsencher, J. Wenner, T. White, A. Polkovnikov, A. N. Cleland, and J. M. Martinis. Observation of topological transitions in interacting quantum circuits. *Nature*, 515:241–244, 2014.
- [175] C. De Grandi and A. Polkovnikov. Adiabatic perturbation theory: From landauzener problem to quenching through a quantum critical point. *Lect Notes Phys*, 802:75–114, 2010.
- [176] E. F. Hayes and R. G. Parr. Time-dependent hellmann-feynman theorems. J. Chem. Phys., 43:1831, 1965.
- [177] Canran Xu, Amrit Poudel, and Maxim G. Vavilov. Nonadiabatic dynamics of a slowly driven dissipative two-level system. *Phys. Rev. A*, 89:052102, May 2014.
- [178] F. Guinea, V. Hakim, and A. Muramatsu. Bosonization of a two-level system with dissipation. *Phys. Rev. B*, 32:4410–4418, Oct 1985.
- [179] G. Toulouse. C. R. Acad. Sci., 268:1200, 1969.
- [180] U. Weiss. Quantum dissipative systems. World Scientific, Singapore, 2002.
- [181] Angela Kopp and Karyn Le Hur. Universal and measurable entanglement entropy in the spin-boson model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 98:220401, May 2007.
- [182] Antti-Pekka Jauho, Ned S. Wingreen, and Yigal Meir. Time-dependent transport in interacting and noninteracting resonant-tunneling systems. *Phys. Rev.* B, 50:5528–5544, Aug 1994.
- [183] P. Nozières. A fermi-liquid description of the kondo model at low temperatures. Journ. of Low Temperature Physics, 17:31, 1974.

- [184] Charles H. Bennett, David P. DiVincenzo, John A. Smolin, and William K. Wootters. Mixed-state entanglement and quantum error correction. *Phys. Rev.* A, 54:3824–3851, Nov 1996.
- [185] N. S. Williams, K. Le Hur, and A. N. Jordan. Effective thermodynamics of strongly coupled qubits. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical*, 44(38):385003, 2011.
- [186] A. S. Oja and O. V. Lounasmaa. Nuclear magnetic ordering in simple metals at positive and negative nanokelvin temperatures. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 69:1–136, Jan 1997.
- [187] Patrick Medley, David M. Weld, Hirokazu Miyake, David E. Pritchard, and Wolfgang Ketterle. Spin gradient demagnetization cooling of ultracold atoms. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 106:195301, May 2011.
- [188] S. Braun, J. P. Ronzheimer, M. Schreiber, S. S. Hodgman, T. Rom, I. Bloch, and U. Schneider. Negative absolute temperature for motional degrees of freedom. *Science*, 339(6115):52–55, 2013.
- [189] A. Dousse, L. Lanco, J. Suffczynski, E. Semenova, A. Miard, A. Lemaitre, I. Sagnes, C. Roblin, J. Bloch, and P. Senellart. Controlled light-matter coupling for a single quantum dot embedded in a pillar microcavity using far-field optical lithography. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 101:267404, 2008.
- [190] Z.-L. Xiang, S. Ashhab, J. Q. You, and F. Nori. Hybrid quantum circuits: Superconducting circuits interacting with other quantum systems. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 85:623, 2013.
- [191] M. R. Delbecq, V. Schmitt, F. D. Parmentier, N. Roch, J. J. Viennot, G. Fève, B. Huard, C. Mora, A. Cottet, and T. Kontos. Coupling a quantum dot, fermionic leads, and a microwave cavity on a chip. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 107:256804, 2011.
- [192] K. D. Petersson, L. W. McFaul, M. D Schroer, M. Jung, J. M. Taylor, A. H. Houck, and J. R. Petta. Circuit quantum electrodynamics with a spin qubit. *Nature*, 490:380, 2012.
- [193] T. Frey, P. J. Leek, M. Beck, A. Blais, T. Ihn, K. Ensslin, and A. Wallraff. Dipole coupling of a double quantum dot to a microwave resonator. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 108:046807, 2012.
- [194] T. Frey, P. J. Leek, M. Beck, J. Faist, A. Wallraff, K. Ensslin, T. Ihn, and M. Büttiker. Quantum dot admittance probed at microwave frequencies with an on-chip resonator. *Phys. Rev. B*, 86:115303, 2012.
- [195] H. Toida, T. Nakajima, and S. Komiyama. Vacuum rabi splitting in a semiconductor circuit qed system. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110:066802, 2013.

- [196] M.R. Delbecq, L.E. Bruhat, J.J. Viennot, S. Datta, A. Cottet, and T. Kontos. Photon-mediated interaction between distant quantum dot circuits. *Nat. Commun.*, 4:1400, 2013.
- [197] G.-W. Deng, D. Wei, J.R. Johansson, M.-L. Zhang, S.-X. Li, H.-O. Li, G. Cao, M. Xiao, T. Tu, G.-C. Guo, H.-W. Jiang, F. Nori, and G.-P. Guo. Charge number dependence of the dephasing rates of a graphene double quantum dot in a circuit qed architecture. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 115:126804, Sep 2015.
- [198] Y.-Y Liu, K. D. Petersson, J. Stehlik, J. M. Taylor, and J. R. Petta. Photon emission from a cavity-coupled double quantum dot. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 113:036801, 2014.
- [199] G.-W. Deng, D. Wei, S.-X. Li, J. R. Johansson, W.-C. Kong, H.-O. Li, G. Cao, M. Xiao, G.-C. Guo, F. Nori, H.-W. Jiang, and G.-P. Guo. Coupling two distant double quantum dots with a microwave resonator. *Nano Letters*, 15(10):6620– 6625, 2015.
- [200] L. Childress, A. Sorensen, and M. Lukin. Mesoscopic cavity quantum electrodynamics with quantum dots. *Phys. Rev. A*, 69:042302, 2004.
- [201] Z.-R. Lin, G.-P. Guo, T. Tu, F.-Y. Zhu, and G.-C. Guo. Generation of quantumdot cluster states with a superconducting transmission line resonator. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 101:230501, 2008.
- [202] C. Bergenfeldt, P. Samuelsson, B. Sothmann, C. Flindt, and M. Büttiker. Hybrid microwave cavity heat engine. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 112:076803, 2014.
- [203] J. J. Viennot, M. R. Delbecq, M. C. Dartiailh, A. Cottet, and T. Kontos. Out of equilibrium charge dynamics in a hybrid cqed architecture. *Phys. Rev. B*, 89:165404, 2014.
- [204] J. Basset, D.-D. Jarausch, A. Stockklauser, T. Frey, C. Reichl, W. Wegscheider, T. M. Ihn, K. Ensslin, and A. Wallraff. Single-electron double quantum dot dipole-coupled to a single photonic mode. *Phys. Rev. B*, 88:125312, 2013.
- [205] X. Hu, Y.-X. Liu, and F. Nori. Strong coupling of a spin qubit to a superconducting stripline cavity. *Phys. Rev. B*, 86:035314, 2012.
- [206] C. Bergenfeldt and P. Samuelsson. Nonlocal transport properties of nanoscale conductor microwave cavity systems. *Phys. Rev. B*, 87:195427, 2013.
- [207] N. Lambert, C. Flindt, and F. Nori. Photon-mediated electron transport in hybrid circuit-qed. EPL, 103:17005, 2013.
- [208] L. D. Contreras-Pulido, C. Emary, T. Brandes, and Ramon Aguado. Nonequilibrium correlations and entanglement in a semiconductor hybrid circuit-qed system. New J. Phys., 15:095008, 2013.

- [209] J. Basset, A. Stockklauser, D.-D. Jarausch, T. Frey, C. Reichl, W. Wegscheider, A. Wallraff, K. Ensslin, and T. Ihn. Evaluating charge noise acting on semiconductor quantum dots in the circuit quantum electrodynamics architecture. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 105:063105, 2014.
- [210] Y.-Y Liu, K. D. Petersson, J. Stehlik, J. M. Taylor, and J. R. Petta. Photon emission from a cavity-coupled double quantum dot. *Science*, 347:285, 2015.
- [211] A. Stockklauser, V. F. Maisi, J. Basset, K. Cujia, C. Reichl, W. Wegscheider, T. Ihn, A. Wallraff, and K. Ensslin. Microwave emission from hybridized states in a semiconductor charge qubit. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 115:046802, 2015.
- [212] L. Henriet, A. N. Jordan, and K. Le Hur. Electrical current from quantum vacuum fluctuations in nanoengines. *Phys. Rev. B*, 92:125306, Sep 2015.
- [213] H. Bruus and K. Flensberg. Many-body quantum theory in condensed matter physics: an introduction. Oxford University Press, 2004.
- [214] Rafael Sánchez and Markus Büttiker. Optimal energy quanta to current conversion. Phys. Rev. B, 83:085428, Feb 2011.
- [215] Björn Sothmann, Rafael Sánchez, Andrew N. Jordan, and Markus Büttiker. Rectification of thermal fluctuations in a chaotic cavity heat engine. *Phys. Rev.* B, 85:205301, May 2012.
- [216] Andrew N. Jordan, Björn Sothmann, Rafael Sánchez, and Markus Büttiker. Powerful and efficient energy harvester with resonant-tunneling quantum dots. *Phys. Rev. B*, 87:075312, Feb 2013.
- [217] B. Sothmann, R. Sánchez, and A. N. Jordan. Nanotechnology, 26:032001, 2015.
- [218] G. Benenti, G. Casati, T. Prosen, and K. Saito. arXiv:1311.4430, 2013.
- [219] Prasenjit Dutt and Karyn Le Hur. Strongly correlated thermoelectric transport beyond linear response. *Phys. Rev. B*, 88:235133, Dec 2013.
- [220] Jong Soo Lim, Rosa López, and David Sánchez. Dynamic thermoelectric and heat transport in mesoscopic capacitors. *Phys. Rev. B*, 88:201304, Nov 2013.
- [221] H. van Houten, L. W. Molenkamp, C. W. J. Beenakker, and C. T. Foxon. Semicond. Sci. and Techno., 7:B215, 1992.
- [222] R. Scheibner, H. Buhmann, D. Reuter, M. N. Kiselev, and L. W. Molenkamp. Thermopower of a kondo spin-correlated quantum dot. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 95:176602, Oct 2005.
- [223] Jean-Philippe Brantut, Charles Grenier, Jakob Meineke, David Stadler, Sebastian Krinner, Corinna Kollath, Tilman Esslinger, and Antoine Georges. A thermoelectric heat engine with ultracold atoms. *Science*, 342(6159):713–715, 2013.

- [224] B. Roche, P. Roulleau, T. Jullien, Y. Jompol, I. Farrer, D. A. Ritchie, and D. C. Glattli. Harvesting dissipated energy with a mesoscopic ratchet. *Nat Commun*, 6, 04 2015.
- [225] Jukka P. Pekola. Towards quantum thermodynamics in electronic circuits. Nat Phys, 11(2):118–123, 02 2015.
- [226] G.-W. Deng, L. Henriet, D. Wei, S.-X. Li, H.-O. Li, G. Cao, M. Xiao, G.-C. Guo, M. Schiro, K. Le Hur, and G.-P. Guo. A Quantum Electrodynamics Kondo Circuit with Orbital and Spin Entanglement. *ArXiv e-prints*, September 2015.
- [227] P. W. Milonni. The Quantum Vacuum: An Introduction to Quantum Electrodynamics. Academic Press, 1994.
- [228] W. G. van der Wiel, S. De Franceschi, J. M. Elzerman, T. Fujisawa, S. Tarucha, and L. P. Kouwenhoven. Electron transport through double quantum dots. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 75:1–22, Dec 2002.
- [229] M. H. Devoret. Quantum Fluctuations. Elsevier, edited by S. Reynaud, E. Giacobino, and J. Zinn-Justin, 1995.
- [230] Tomi Ruokola and Teemu Ojanen. Theory of single-electron heat engines coupled to electromagnetic environments. *Phys. Rev. B*, 86:035454, Jul 2012.
- [231] S. Datta. Electronic transport in mesoscopic systems. Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- [232] P. K. Tien and J. P. Gordon. Multiphoton process observed in the interaction of microwave fields with the tunneling between superconductor films. *Phys. Rev.*, 129:647–651, Jan 1963.
- [233] J. Tucker. IEEE J. Quantum Electron., 15:1234, 1979.
- [234] Morten Holm Pedersen and Markus Büttiker. Scattering theory of photonassisted electron transport. Phys. Rev. B, 58:12993–13006, Nov 1998.
- [235] J. R. Schrieffer and P. A. Wolff. Relation between the anderson and kondo hamiltonians. *Phys. Rev.*, 149:491–492, Sep 1966.
- [236] D. Goldhaber-Gordon, D. H. Shtrikman, D. Mahalu, D. Abusch-Magder, U. Meirav, and M. A. Kastneret. Kondo effect in a single-electron transistor. *Nature*, 391:156, 1998.
- [237] W. G. van der Wiel, S. De Franceschi, T. Fujisawa, J. M. Elzerman, S. Tarucha, and L. P. Kouwenhoven. The kondo effect in the unitary limit. *Science*, 289 5487:2105–2108, 2000.
- [238] W. G. van der Wiel, S. De Franceschi, J. M. Elzerman, T. Fujisawa, S. Tarucha, and L. P. Kouwenhoven. Electron transport through double quantum dots. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 75:1, 2002.

- [239] L. Borda, G. Zarand, W. Hofstetter, B.I. Halperin, and J. von Delft. Su(4) fermi liquid state and spin filtering in a double quantum dot system. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 90:026602, 2003.
- [240] K. Le Hur, P. Simon, and L. Borda. Maximized orbital and spin kondo effects in a single-electron transistor. *Phys. Rev. B*, 69:045326, 2004.
- [241] K. Le Hur, P. Simon, and D. Loss. Transport through a quantum dot with su(4) kondo entanglement. *Phys. Rev. B*, 75:035332, 2007.
- [242] R. Lopez, D. Sanchez, M. Lee, M.-S. Choi, P. Simon, and K. Le Hur. Probing spin and orbital kondo effects with a mesoscopic interferometer. *Phys. Rev. B*, 71:115312, 2005.
- [243] P. Nozières. A "fermi-liquid" description of the kondo problem at low temperatures. Journal of Low Temperature Physics, 17(1-2):31–42, 1974.
- [244] I. Affleck and A. Ludwig. Exact conformal-field-theory results on the multichannel kondo effect: Single-fermion green's function, self-energy, and resistivity. *Phys. Rev. B*, 48:7297, 1993.
- [245] C. Mora, P. Vitushinsky, X. Leyronas, A. A. Clerk, and K. Le Hur. Theory of non-equilibrium transport in the su(n) kondo regime. *Phys. Rev. B*, 80:155322, 2009.
- [246] M.-R. Li and K. Le Hur. Double-dot charge qubit and transport via dissipative cotunneling. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 93:176802, 2004.
- [247] A. J. Keller, S. Amasha, I. Weymann, C. P. Moca, I. G. Rau, J. A. Katine, Hadas Shtrikman, G. Zarand, and D. Goldhaber-Gordon. Observation of the su(4) kondo state in a double quantum dot. *Nature Phys.*, 10:145–150, 2014.
- [248] A. Makarovski, J. Liu, and G. Finkelstein. Evolution of su(4) transport regimes in carbon nanotube quantum dots. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 99:066801, 2007.
- [249] S. Sasaki, S. Amaha, N. Asakawa, M. Eto, and S. Tarucha. Enhanced kondo effect via tuned orbital degeneracy in a spin-1/2 artificial atom. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 93:017205, 2004.
- [250] T. Delattre, C. Feuillet-Palma, L.G. Herrmann, P. Morfin, J.-M. Berroir, G. Fève, B. Plaçais, D.C. Glattli, M.-S. Choi, C. Mora, and T. Kontos. Noisy kondo impurities. *Nature Physics*, 5:208, 2009.
- [251] P. Jarillo-Herrero, J. Kong, H. S.J. van der Zant, C. Dekker, L. P. Kouwenhoven, and S. De Franceschi. Orbital kondo effect in carbon nanotubes. *Nature*, 434:484, 2005.
- [252] A. Rosch, J. Kroha, and P. Wölfle. The kondo effect in quantum dots at high voltage: Universality and scaling. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 87:156802, 2001.

- [253] A. Cottet, T. Kontos, and B. Douçot. Electron-photon coupling in mesoscopic quantum electrodynamics. *Phys. Rev. B*, 91:205417, May 2015.
- [254] K. D. Petersson, L. W. McFaul, M. D. Schroer, M. Jung, J. M. Taylor, A. A. Houck, and J. R. Petta. Circuit quantum electrodynamics with a spin qubit. *Nature*, 490(7420):380–383, 10 2012.
- [255] C. W. Gardiner and M. J. Collett. Input and output in damped quantum systems: Quantum stochastic differential equations and the master equation. *Phys. Rev. A*, 31:3761, 1985.
- [256] M.-L. Zhang, G.-W. Deng, S.-X. Li, H.-O. Li, G. Cao, T. Tu, M. Xiao, G.-C. Guo, H.-W. Jiang, I. Siddiqi, and G.-P. Guo. Symmetric reflection line resonator and its quality factor modulation by a two-dimensional electron gas. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 104:083511, 2014.
- [257] Antoine Georges, Gabriel Kotliar, Werner Krauth, and Marcelo J. Rozenberg. Dynamical mean-field theory of strongly correlated fermion systems and the limit of infinite dimensions. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 68:13–125, Jan 1996.
- [258] T. Brandes. Chapter 7 of UMIST-Bradford Lectures on Background to Quantum Information Theory. 2004.
- [259] G. Udny Yule. On a method of investigating periodicities in disturbed series, with special reference to wolfer's sunspot numbers. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 226(636-646):267–298, 1927.
- [260] Gilbert Walker. On periodicity in series of related terms. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Ser. A, Vol. 131, pages 518–532, 1931.
- [261] Doru Sticlet, Frederic Piéchon, Jean-Noël Fuchs, Pavel Kalugin, and Pascal Simon. Geometrical engineering of a two-band chern insulator in two dimensions with arbitrary topological index. *Phys. Rev. B*, 85:165456, Apr 2012.
- [262] P. Milnor. Topology om a Differential Viewpoint. University Press of Virginia, 1965.
- [263] Novikov S. Dubrovin B., Fomenko A. Modern Geometry Methods and Applications: Part II: The Geometry and Topology of Manifolds. GTM093. Springer, 1985.
- [264] C. De Grandi and A. Polkovnikov. Adiabatic perturbation theory: From landauzener problem to quenching through a quantum critical point, lect. notes phys. 802:75 –114. 2010.



Titre: Dynamique hors équilibre de systèmes quantiques à N corps.

Mots clés: Dynamique, Hors équilibre, Systèmes ouverts

Résumé: Cette thèse porte sur l'étude de propriétés dynamiques de modèles quantiques portés hors équilibre. Nous introduisons en particulier des modèles généraux de type spinboson, qui décrivent par exemple l'interaction lumière-matière ou certains phénomènes de dissipation. Nous contribuons au développement d'une approche stochastique exacte permettant de décrire la dynamique hors équilibre du spin dans ces modèles. Dans ce contexte, l'effet de l'environnement bosonique est pris en compte par l'intermédiéaire des degrés de liberté aléatoires supplémentaires, dont les corrélations temporelles dépendent des propriétés spectrales de l'environnement bosonique. Nous appliquons cette approche à l'étude de phénomènes à N-corps, comme par exemple la transition de phase dissipative induite par un environnement bosonique de type ohmique. Des phénomènes de synchronisation spontanée, et de transition de phase topologique sont aussi identifiés. Des progrès sont aussi réalisés dans l'étude de la dynamique dans les réseaux de systèmes lumière-matière couplés. Ces développements théoriques sont motivés par les progrès expérimentaux récents, qui permettent d'envisager une étude approfondie de ces phénomènes. Cela inclut notamment les systèmes d'atomes ultra-froids, d'ions piégés, et les plateformes d'électrodynamique en cavité et en circuit. Nous intéressons aussi à la physique des systèmes hybrides comprenant des dispositifs à points quantiques mésoscopiques couplés à un résonateur électromagnétique. L'avènement de ces systèmes permet des mesures de la formation d'états à N-corps de type Kondo grâce au résonateur; et d'envisager de dispositifs thermoélectriques.

Title: Non-equilibrium dynamics of many body quantum systems.

Keywords: Dynamics, Out-of-equilibrium, Open systems

Abstract: This thesis deals with the study of dynamical properties of out-of-equilibrium quantum systems. We introduce in particular a general class of Spin-Boson models, which describe for example light-matter interaction or dissipative phenomena. We contribute to the development of a stochastic approach to describe the spin dynamics in these models. In this context, the effect of the bosonic environment is encapsulated into additional stochastic degrees of freedom whose time-correlations are determined by spectral properties of the bosonic environment. We use this approach to study many-body phenomena such as the dissipative quantum phase transition induced by an ohmic bosonic environment. Synchronization phenomena as well as dissipative topological transitions are identified. We also progress in the study of arrays of interacting light-matter systems. These theoretical developments follow recent experimental achievements, which could ensure a quantitative study of these phenomena. This notably includes ultra-cold atoms, trapped ions and cavity and circuit electrodynamics setups. We also investigate hybrid systems comprising electronic quantum dots coupled to electromagnetic resonators, which enable us to provide a spectroscopic analysis of many-body phenomena linked to the Kondo effect. We also introduce thermoelectric applications in these devices.